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Milestones

BiEE

1989 - 1999 The Early Years

In the early years, we established our core values, from which
our corporate culture would grow.

Competent People
Attracting the best people possible and having the best
system in place to help them reach their full potentials

Respect
Respecting the elderly residents the way we would to our
families

Elderly First
Putting the best interests of the elderly residents above all
else

Our first projects include previous Pine Care Centre,
previous Tsz Wan Shan Pine Care Elderly Home, previous
New Pine Care Centre, and Pinecrest Elderly Centre.
During this period, we also became one of the first RCHEs to
participate in the Hong Kong Government’s EBPS program.
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2000 - 2009 Setting the Foundation

The focus of our second decade was setting our foundation
for quality. This includes the establishment of our Quality
Assurance Monitoring Committee, obtaining the internation-
ally recognised ISO9001 accreditation, the in-house develop-
ment of Encompass, our nursing and operations software
system, the optimisation and standardisation of our operating
procedures, and the grooming of generation of management
personnel. Additionally, we had also established Pine Care
(Manning) Elderly Centre in Tsz Wan Shan and Pine Care
Hong Fai Elderly Centre in Sai Wan Ho during these years.
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2010 - 2019 The Coming of Age

Having put a solid operating model and the right people in place, the pace of our growth in our third decade has been much quicker
than the previous two decades. Our milestones include:

- The acquisition of two RCHEs, namely Pine Care (Po Tak)
Elderly Centre and previous Pine Care (Po Tak Branch)
Elderly Centre in Kwai Fong

- Obtaining the RACAS accreditation from the Hong Kong
Association of Gerontology

- The relocation of previous New Pine Care Centre to its
current location in Shun Lee Estate

- The establishment of Pine Care (Lee Foo) Elderly Centre in
Shun Lee Estate

- The relocation of previous Tsz Wan Shan Pine Care Elderly
Home to Pine Care (Tak Fung) Elderly Centre in Prince
Edward

- Becoming the first elderly care home operator to be listed on
the Main Board

- The relocation from previous Pine Care (Po Tak Branch)
Elderly Centre to Pine Care Chun King Elderly Centre in
Tsuen Wan

2010 - 2019 EFERRE

- The establishment of Pine Care Place, the upscale RCHE, in

Yuen Long

- The establishment of Patina Wellness, the first integrated

senior wellness hub, in Kowloon City

- The establishment of Pine Care Yada (Wuzhen) Elderly

Centre and Pine Care Yada (Wuzhen) Day Care Centre in
Zhejiang Province of Mainland China

- The establishment of Patina Bistro, the health-focused

restaurant, in Kowloon City

- The establishment of Patina Care and Patina Health Centre

in the second half of 2019 in Kowloon City

- The establishment of Pine Care Point, the specialist RCHE

for elderly with dementia, in the second half of 2019 in Shek
Kip Mei
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders,

This year marks the 30th anniversary of Pine Care Group. When | founded the
group back in 1989, the elderly care industry in Hong Kong was still in its
nascent stages. The founding team members and | had no idea where this
path would lead us, or whether this would even be a viable business. We did,
however, know deep in our hearts what kind of company we wanted to build.
We knew that in order to succeed, we must treat elderly care as more than a
business, but rather our true calling. Thus, we set out to build our first elderly
care home with a goal of setting a new benchmark for quality. Over the years,
though many aspects of the market have changed, we have remained true to
our core values. They include:

o Competent People: Attracting the best people possible and having the
best system in place to help them reach their full potentials

° Respect: Respecting the elderly residents the way we would to our
families

o Elderly First: Putting the best interests of the elderly residents above all
else

Looking back, | am thankful for all those who believed in our vision and the
many people who have helped us along the way. | am also thankful for the
enormous trust that our residents and their families have placed upon us.
Most importantly, | am thankful to every one of our current and former staff
members who have helped build this group piece by piece with their blood,

sweat and tears.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

As we enter our fourth decade, the values that have served us so well in the
past will continue to lead us into the future. Looking ahead, | am more
confident than ever that our future is bright. With a rapidly ageing population in
Hong Kong and China, the demand for quality elderly care services is set to
grow exponentially over the next 10 to 15 years. Together with a supportive
policy environment, we believe that the market is ripe with opportunities. We
also believe that with our vast experience and successful track record, strong
pipeline of next generation management personnel, widely respected brand,
and our expansion blueprint, we are perfectly positioned to capture these
opportunities.

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Pine Care Group Limited
(the “Company”), | am pleased to present this annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2019 (“FY2019”).

A YEAR IN REVIEW AND BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Our business has performed well and has delivered a year-on-year growth in
core EBITDA (Note) of approximately 19.9% to HK$32.1 million for FY2019
from HK$26.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 (“FY2018"), primarily
driven by average fee increase and improved occupancy rate.

Core Business

The overall market conditions remain largely unchanged from the previous
year. Demand for residential care services for the elderly continues to grow at
a healthy pace. The occupancy rate of our eight EA1 (Note) care and attention
homes has remained robust, averaging at approximately 94.2% for the year
ended 31 March 2019, compared to approximately 93.2% for the same period
last year.

We expect our core business to continue doing well in the coming year. The
Social Welfare Department recently announced the pricing adjustment for its
EBPS for 2019/2020, which ranges from an increase of 17.1% to 23.4% for
EA1 beds, representing the highest year-on-year increase in recent history.
This will go a long way in offsetting our rising operating cost and is expected
to have a significant positive impact on our bottom line.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

In recent months, there has been much discussion about the Government’s
possible upcoming revision on the Residential Care Homes (Elderly Persons)
Ordinance (Chapter 459 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Codes of Practice for
Residential Care Homes, which is expected to raise the minimum manpower
and floor area requirements for residential care home for the elderly (‘RCHE”).
A consultation committee established by the Social Welfare Department
recently completed its review and has submitted its proposal to the
Government. Among other recommendations, the committee suggests raising
the floor area per bed by 3 square meters. It is worth noting that the proposed
higher requirements do not directly affect us, as all of our facilities have already
surpassed it. On the other hand, we expect that the higher requirements will
force many of the smaller players out of business, driving industry
consolidation. The higher requirements will also likely trigger substantial fee
increases throughout the industry.

Note:

“Enhanced Bought Place Scheme” or “EBPS”: the scheme under which the Social
Welfare Department (the “SWD”) of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “Government”) has purchased residential care places (beds)
from private homes for the elderly since 1998, with a view to upgrading the service
standard of these homes through enhanced service requirements in terms of staffing and
space standards. This also helps to increase the supply of subsidised places so as to
reduce elderly’s waiting time for subsidised care and attention home places. Elderly
homes under the EBPS are split into two categories, namely EA1 and EA2, with different
space standards and staffing requirements.

“EA1”: one of the two categories under the EBPS. EA1 homes have higher requirements
in terms of staffing and per capita net floor area as compared to EA2 homes. As required
under the EBPS, the staffing requirement for an EA1 home with 40 places is 21.5,
calculated on the basis of eight working hours per staff per day, including relief staff, and
its per capita net floor area are 9.5 square metres.

“EBITDA” represents earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

“Core EBITDA” represents EBITDA before other income and gains.

As | have reported in previous annual reports, the industry-wide labor shortage
remains one of our biggest operational challenges. In the past year, we have
stepped up our efforts to attract and retain qualified staff in both frontline and
professional positions with measurable success. These include exploring new
recruitment channels such as social media, targeting underrepresented
demographic groups, and introducing staff referral incentives. To further
improve our competitiveness on the recruitment market, not only have we
offered more attractive compensation, but we have also strengthened our
training and management trainee programs which offer our ambitious staff
accelerated and structured career advancement opportunities.

08 Pine Care Group Limited Annual Report 2019

ITAAE A - BB AT BE BN IE e BB A B S 459
B R ZRED) k(L ZREB TR DETZ IR
o BEEReERE ((LEhka]) NREAFR
BHEEZRESEEMES - £ ERFBEXIZHE
AR BEeRMKEE - YERBFRRER - &
BHEZET  ZEERHRSSEBEMOEERER
M3FTK - EREINZ - AR MINAE RIE
HELBBERRE  WER RS ERNBHEIL T
SEETERM - Rz HFEGTYELEE A
RRFZ BN RIITRAERETS - WMHEBITERS -
IR TN S| B E T R A B A RIE G AN -

B aE -

[REBMEE ) EERRTHRERSN((BHFDL&ER
F((HEB/AF]) B 1998 F R UL EIMFLE 2 ZHE
BREREREM  ERRERTHAMEMRELENREE
fo RERERNRBKT - WTABMRRESENEL
DHEEREREANEEDEEREREBLARME - ZE
BB THRER AN SMAER - BIR—RAME 4R -
BTRHZEREEER &8 THHIEN -

[B—]: XBEMNFABTRERNZ — - B—RETERE
BTHPIMALEEFERNER A ERF-_RLERS °
BENRZEBEMAENER  —H40EBLNF —RELER
WMEBIZERAR215A NEREEEI(EEEHREI)SAH
TR/ VNS EERTE - MAAEEFERARISTEH K °

[EBITDA] FEHIBRFI S - Fi18 - T8 KB HERAF] -

[#2:0 EBITDA ] $5HRR E A 48 A R U 22 A ) EBITDA e

BUNMARACEBEERPARE - 2TENEHHE
RIKREZRANEERB 2 — - BE—F - HAMK
NERSI MBI R R EERLUNAERBT - I
BBARKER  BERRANDAEBRE(MERHE
8)  HHEARMTRHARMER - WEIABTHRE
REstE - RTE-TRSRMANBED SRS
B BT EREEABRF HOFHGE - Es
EEREREIFE > REOHENETREER
REERBANBEB RS -



Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

As we have recently launched several new projects, with several more projects
to be launched in the near term, we have also redoubled our marketing efforts.
Specifically, we have shifted a bigger emphasis from traditional channels to
digital marketing, building a bigger presence on social media with a
combination of content driven, group level brand building and project specific
promotions.

Another one of our operational focuses in the past year has been the
application of gerontechnology in our care homes, which is also a trend that
the Government is currently promoting. Last year, we launched a proprietary
mobile app on both Android and iOS that enables family members of our
residents to retrieve key information about the elderly conveniently, such as an
activities calendar, medication records and health reports. As the software is
developed in-house, we plan to continue to enhance the app and introduce
additional functionalities in a second phase. On the hardware front, we have
also deployed a number of smart devices in our facilities, including a thermal
sensitive motion sensor in the bathroom, sleep monitoring sensor, anti-
wandering sensor using facial recognition, and a smart watch featuring fall
detection, indoor and outdoor GPS location tracking, a panic button, and a
one-touch voice button that links directly to the nursing station.

Additionally, we have recently formed a new Service Development
Department, which is charged with exploring new ways that we can better
manage our residents’ mental health and social needs. An example of the
programs developed by the new department is Art Therapy which allows our
residents to express their emotions through visual art, dance and music, and
has proven to be especially effective for residents suffering from dementia and
those with speech impediments. Others include the Pine Care Academy, a
series of interest-based classes offered to the residents to encourage lifelong
learning, and the Silverage Dollar program, which encourages the residents to
participate in volunteer work.

Expansion Blueprint

Last year, | reported that our expansion strategy includes developing new
concepts to expand our customer base, serving a wider range of elderly, and
to widen the breadth of our service offerings. Our new projects in the short
term include: (i) Pine Care Place — upscale RCHE; (ii) Pine Care Point —
upscale RCHE specialising in dementia care; (i) Pine Care Yada — our first
project in Mainland China; and (iv) Patina Wellness — Integrated Senior
Wellness Hub, which includes service apartments for active seniors, a luxury
RCHE, a health focused restaurant, and a multidisciplinary clinic.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

| am pleased to report that we have made significant progress in executing our
business plan and bringing these concepts to reality. Both Pine Care Place
and the services apartments at Patina Wellness are now fully operational and
have achieved extremely positive feedback from our end users. Occupancy
rates for both projects are in the double digits and are gaining momentum and
we hope to achieve profitability in the near term. In the Mainland China, we are
also on track to localising our operational model and training up the local
team. Patina Bistro, our health focused restaurant at Patina Wellness, was
recently launched.

Scheduled to be opened later this year are (i) Pine Care Point — our first
upscale RCHE specialising in dementia care, (i) Patina Care — upscale RCHE
situated inside Patina Wellness; and (iii) Patina Health Centre —
multidisciplinary clinic inside Patina Wellness, featuring physiotherapy,
occupational therapy, and geriatrics medicine.

APPRECIATION

As always, | would like to thank our shareholders, staff members, customers,
bankers and business partners for their continued trust and support. We are
pleased with our execution of the expansion strategy, and we are excited by

the opportunities that lie ahead.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B WD T

BUSINESS REVIEW

Please refer to the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” for (i) a discussion
of the core business of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2019;
and (i) prospects of the core business and new projects of the Group.

An analysis of the revenue and operating segment information for the financial
year ended 31 March 2019 is set out in note 6 and note 5 to the financial
statements, respectively.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue was generated from (i) rendering elderly home care
services including the provision of residence, professional nursing and care
taking services, nutritional management, medical services, psychological and
social care, and individual care plans; and (ii) sale of elderly home related
goods and provision of health care services, in Hong Kong.

Total revenue delivered a year-on-year increase of approximately 9.4% to
HK$186.8 million in FY2019 from HK$170.7 million in FY2018. The increase
was mainly due to the combined effects of (i) the increase in average monthly
residential fee and improved occupancy rate of our eight EA1 care and
attention homes; and (i) commencement of operation of Pine Care Place since
June 2018.

Other income and gains

Other income and gains decreased by approximately 92.3% to HK$0.5 million
in FY2019 from HK$6.3 million in FY2018. Other income and gains in the prior
year amount mainly represented the gain on disposal of a subsidiary of
HK$5.9 million which was one-off in nature.

Amortisation

Amortisation represents amortisation charges for our intangible assets which
were recognised upon completion of acquisition of a subsidiary in April 2017.
Amortisation charge remained stable at HK$3.1 million in both FY2019 and
FY2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BEEEmE

Depreciation

Depreciation represents depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment which comprise land and buildings, leasehold improvements,
furniture, fixtures and other equipment. Depreciation increased by
approximately 46.0% to HK$12.0 million in FY2019 from HK$8.2 million in FY
2018. The increase was primarily attributable to the depreciation charges of
Pine Care Place.

Staff costs

Staff costs remained as the largest component of our operating expenses.
Our staff costs include wages, salaries, bonuses, retirement benefit costs, and
other allowances and benefits payable to all employees of the Group. Our
gross staff costs, before netting off with government grants of HK$9.6 million
in FY2019 and HK$11.5 million in FY2018, respectively for hiring specialised
professionals for our elderly residents with dementia or infirmary, increased by
approximately 5.1% to HK$99.4 million in FY2019 from HK$94.6 million in
FY2018, which represents approximately 53.2% of FY2019 revenue and
55.4% of FY2018 revenue respectively. The increase was primarily contributed
by a general salary increment during the year.

Property rental and related expenses

Our property rental and related expenses primarily represent rental payments
under operating leases, government rent and rates and management fees in
respect of our leased properties. Property rental and related expenses
increased by approximately 23.0% to HK$20.3 million in FY2019 from
HK$16.5 million in FY2018. The increase was primarily contributed by the
property rental and related expenses of Pine Care Place.

Food and beverage costs

Our food and beverage costs represent costs of all food ingredients and
beverages used for the provision of meals to our residents. The costs
remained stable at HK$8.5 million in FY2019 compared with HK$8.4 million in
FY2018.

Utility expenses

Our utility expenses represent costs of water and electricity for our care and
attention homes and office. The costs increased by approximately 5.2% to
HK$6.9 million in FY2019 from HK$6.6 million in FY2018. The increase in utility
expenses was mainly contributed by the commencement of operation of Pine
Care Place during the year.
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Supplies and consumables

Our supplies and consumables represent costs of medical consumable
materials used for our operation. The costs increased by approximately 12.7%
to HK$5.7 million in FY2019 from HK$5.1 million in FY2018. The increase in
supplies and consumables was mainly contributed by the commencement of
operation of Pine Care Place during the year.

Repair and maintenance

Our repair and maintenance expenses are incurred for initiatives for improving
facilities and daily repair and maintenance works in our care and attention
homes to ensure the quality and safety of the premises and facilities. The
expenses decreased by approximately 20.3% to HK$1.9 million in FY2019
from HK$2.3 million in FY2018. The decrease in expenses was primarily driven
by completion of certain initiatives for improving facilities of our care and
attention homes in the current year.

Other operating expenses

Our other operating expenses primarily consist of (i) medical and professional
fees incurred for engaging external visiting medical officers, dietitians and
pharmacists, and additional manpower of physiotherapists, care workers and
health workers through employment agencies; (i) insurance policies for all of
our care and attention homes; (iii) cleaning expenses for our care and attention
homes; (iv) legal and professional fees; (v) corporate expenses; and (vi) various
operating expenses.

The expenses remained stable at HK$21.5 million in FY2019 as compared
with HK$21.9 million in FY2018.

Finance costs

Our finance costs mainly represent interest expenses on bank loans. The
finance costs decreased by approximately 17.4% to HK$2.4 million in FY2019
from HK$2.9 million in FY2018. The decrease in finance costs was primarily
due to the combined effects of (i) repayment of bank loans of approximately
HK$18.7 million in FY2019; and (i) increased capitalised interest that was
directly attributable to the development of Pine Care Point.
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Income tax expense

Our income tax expense represents Hong Kong profits tax of 16.5% on
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong. The income tax expense
decreased by approximately 32.6% to HK$1.7 million in FY2019 from HK$2.5
million in FY2018. The decrease in income tax expense was primarily
attributable to the increased deferred tax credit arising from tax losses, partially
offset by an increase in current tax due to increased assessable profits.

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the
Company

As a result of the foregoing, profit for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company decreased by approximately 18.0% to HK$13.5 million in
FY2019 from HK$16.4 million in FY2018.

KEY FINANCIAL POSITION ITEMS

Property, plant and equipment

Our property, plant and equipment consist of land and buildings, leasehold
improvements, furniture, fixtures and other equipment, motor vehicles and
construction in progress. As at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, the
Group’s net property, plant and equipment amounted to HK$331.4 million and
HK$252.7 million respectively. The increase of HK$78.8 million in FY2019 was
primarily due to the combined effects of (i) the renovation works of Pine Care
Place, Pine Care Point and Pine Care Yada (Wuzhen) Elderly Centre which led
to an increase in construction in progress of HK$69.2 million, (i) acquisition of
a residential property in Kwun Tong and acquisition of a subsidiary which
holds two residential properties situated in Tsz Wan Shan and Kwun Tong,
amounting to HK$7.8 million and HK$13.3 million respectively, for staff
dormitory purposes; and (i) depreciation charges of HK$12.0 million for the
current year.

Prepaid land lease payments

Our prepaid land lease payments represent the unamortised land portion of
the property of Shop GIB, G/F, whole 1/F to 3/F, Main Town Plaza, 223-239
Nam Cheong Street, Kowloon where Pine Care Point is situated (“Nam
Cheong Property”) and a warehouse as at 31 March 2019.

Goodwill

Goodwill primarily represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

As at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, the Group carried goodwill of
HK$33.8 million in the consolidated statement of financial position, which
arose from the acquisition of controlling interests in companies principally
engaged in the provision of elderly home care services. No impairment was
noted based on the goodwill impairment assessment performed by our
management.
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Interest-bearing bank borrowings

As at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, our interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings mainly represented bank loans which consisted of mortgage loans
for financing mortgage payments for our care and attention home premises
and working capital loans for our working capital.

The effective interest rates pertaining to our bank loans ranged from 2.13% to
3.66% as at 31 March 2019 and from 1.49% to 2.35% as at 31 March 2018;
with the maturity up to year 2035 as at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018.
Despite an increasing trend of interest rates is expected in the foreseeable
future, we are confident in managing our finance costs through repayments of
the bank loans via our steady cash inflows generated from operations.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Our net assets amounted to HK$207.1 million and HK$208.1 million as at 31
March 2019 and 31 March 2018 respectively. The slight decrease in net
assets was primarily due to the combined effects of profitable operation for
FY2019 and payment of interim dividends in FY2019.

As at 31 March 2019, our cash and bank balances amounted to HK$50.9
million (as at 31 March 2018: HK$71.8 million) and were mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars; and our net current liabilities were HK$19.2 million (net
current assets as at 31 March 2018: HK$44.2 million). The current ratio, being
current assets over current liabilities, was approximately 0.75 time as at 31
March 2019 (as at 31 March 2018: 2.2 times).

As at 31 March 2019, our interest-bearing bank borrowings amounted to
HK$593.5 million (as at 31 March 2018: HK$531.6 million), among which
HK$56.4 million, HK$41.7 million, HK$134.2 million, and HK$361.2 million
were repayable within one year or on demand, in the second year, in the third
to fifth years (both years inclusive), and beyond five years respectively (as at 31
March 2018: HK$18.3 million, HK$23.9 million, HK$109.1 million, and
HK$380.3 million respectively). As at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, all
of our interest-bearing bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and the majority of our interest-bearing bank borrowings were secured
by the land and buildings and prepaid land lease payments of the Group.
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Gearing ratio is measured by the net debt (representing interest-bearing bank
borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents) over total assets (representing
current assets and non-current assets). As at 31 March 2019, our gearing
ratio was 64% (as at 31 March 2018: 59%). The increase was primarily due to
the increased borrowing for the renovation works of Pine Care Place, Pine
Care Point and Pine Care Yada (Wuzhen) Elderly Centre.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Company during
FY2019. The capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares and other
reserves.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The capital expenditure during the year was primarily related to (i) the
renovation works of Pine Care Place, Pine Care Point and Pine Care Yada
(Wuzhen) Elderly Centre and (ii) acquisition of three staff dormitories. In
FY2019, the Group incurred capital expenditure in an aggregate amount of
HK$77.9 million (FY2018: HK$455.8 million).

RISK MANAGEMENT

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk principally relates to the Group’s
bank loans which are based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate or the
best lending rate. The Group mitigates the risk by monitoring closely the
movements in interest rates and reviewing its banking facilities regularly. The
Group has not used any interest rate swap to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk.

As at 31 March 2019, if the interest rates on borrowings had been 25 basis
points higher/lower, which was considered reasonably possible by the
management, with all other variables held constant, the profit after tax for the
year would decrease/increase by HK$0.5 million (FY2018: HK$1.1 million) as a
result of higher/lower interest expenses on bank borrowings.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity and
flexibility of funding through the use of bank loans. In addition, banking facilities
have been put in place for contingency purposes.
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Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit are subject to
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an on-going basis.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets comprising cash and bank
balances arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
that equals to the carrying amounts of these instruments. There is no
significant concentration of credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial
assets.

Foreign currency risk
The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk, and hence the
Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any material off-balance sheet
arrangements.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures undertaken by the Group during the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS
As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any significant investments held.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had capital commitments of nil (as at 31
March 2018: HK$1.2 million) and HK$4.6 million (as at 31 March 2018:
HK$11.7 million), for (i) the renovation of Pine Care Place and Pine Care Yada
(Wuzhen) Elderly Centre; and (i) investment in a joint venture, respectively,
which will be funded through the internal resources of the Group. Save for the
above, the Group had no other capital commitment as at 31 March 2019.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, land and buildings and construction in progress with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$208.3 million (as at 31 March 2018:
HK$190.7 million), prepaid land lease payments of HK$376.7 million (as at 31
March 2018: HK$372.5 million) and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss with carrying amount of HK$3.1 million (as at 31 March 2018: HK$3.0
million) were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.
Save for the above, the Group had no other pledges of assets as at 31 March
2019.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a total of 425 full-time and part-time
employees (as at 31 March 2018: 430 employees). Our staff costs (excluding
government grants) were HK$99.4 million in FY2019 (FY2018: HK$94.6

million).

The Group ensures that the pay levels of its employees are competitive, and
employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis, together with
reference to the profitability of the Group, prevailing remuneration benchmarks
in the industry, and market conditions, within the general framework of the
Group’s remuneration system.

In addition, the Group also adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) for the purpose of motivating eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group and to attract and retain or
otherwise maintain an on-going business relationship with such eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term
growth of the Group. Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include,
but are not limited to, the directors, including independent non-executive
directors, of the Group, full-time or part-time employees of the Group, and
advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, and such other persons who in
the sole opinion of the directors will contribute or have contributed to the
Group. The Share Option Scheme was conditionally adopted on 23 January
2017. No share option has been granted or agreed to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

The remuneration of the directors is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee
and approved by the Board, according to the relevant directors’ experience,
responsibility, workload, the time devoted to the Group, the Group’s operating
results and comparable market statistics.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yim Ting Kwok

Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, aged 69, is one of the co-founders of the Group. He
was appointed as a director of the Company on 18 August 2015 and was
designated as the Chairman of the Board and an executive director of the
Company on 7 September 2016. He is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yim is also a director of the Hong Kong
subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for formulating business
strategies, managing the business operations of the Group and overseeing the
general performance of the Group.

Mr. Yim co-founded the Group in 1989 with Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, a non-
executive director and a controlling shareholder of the Company, through the
establishment of the first care and attention home. He has over 30 years of
experience in the RCHE industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Yim has also held the
following positions of responsibilities in the following organisations, which are
relevant to the business of the Group: the industry consultant of The Elderly
Services Association of Hong Kong since 2009, and the Review Board
Member of Hong Kong Association of Gerontology Management Review
Board since 2013. In May 2018, he was awarded a fellowship from the Social
Enterprise Research Academy for his driving and fulfillment of corporate social
responsibility and contribution to society.

Apart from his experience in the RCHE industry, Mr. Yim also had over 31
years of experience in education and had been founders, principals and
supervisors of a number of schools in Hong Kong. Currently, he is one of the
school managers of Cherish English School & Kindergarten and the supervisor
of James Anglo-Chinese Kindergarten, both of which are founded by him. Mr.
Yim has been serving as the chairman of Sunway Association Limited, a
charitable institution of Hong Kong, since May 2000; and a director of each of
Pine Active Care Limited, Silverage Pine Care Limited and Silverage Pillar
Limited (controlling shareholders of the Company). He is the spouse of Ms.
Cho Wing Yin (a controlling shareholder of the Company), and the father of Mr.
Yim Billy Pui Kei (the chief executive officer of the Group, an executive director
and a controlling shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin
(head of operations of the Group, an executive director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company).
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Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei

Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei, aged 41, the chief executive officer of the Group, was
appointed as a director of the Company on 18 August 2015 and was
designated as an executive director of the Company on 7 September 2016.
He is also a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He
joined the Group in May 2009 as a director. Mr. Billy Yim is a director of the
Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for formulating
business strategies, managing the business operations of the Group and
overseeing the general performance of the Group.

Mr. Billy Yim obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in Engineering in
Industrial and Operations Engineering from The University of Michigan in the
U.S. in April 2000, a degree of Master of Science in Electronic Commerce
from Carnegie Mellon University in the U.S. in May 2003, and a degree of
Master of Business Administration from INSEAD (Fontainebleau (France) &
Singapore) in December 2007. He was a member of the executive committee
of The Elderly Services Association of Hong Kong from 2009 to 2013, and has
currently been serving as the Vice-Chairman of the Association of Bought
Place Elderly Services since February 2018.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Billy Yim worked for United Airlines Inc. in
Chicago, the U.S., from August 2000 to February 2002, with his last position
being business analyst, Research and Development. He also worked at Best
e-Solutions Limited in Hong Kong from November 2003 to July 2005, with his
last position being assistant vice president, business development, and HSBC
Private Bank (Suisse) SA in Hong Kong from March 2008 to February 2009,
with his last position being assistant vice president. Mr. Billy Yim is a director
of Silverage Pine Care Limited (a controlling shareholder of the Company), a
son of Mr. Yim Ting Kwok (an executive director, the Chairman of the Board
and a controlling shareholder of the Company) and Ms. Cho Wing Yin (a
controlling shareholder of the Company), and a brother of Mr. Yim Edwin Pui
Hin (head of operations of the Group, an executive director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company).
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

EERSAEEERER

Mr. Chan Yip Keung

Mr. Chan Yip Keung, aged 36, has been appointed as the chief financial
officer of the Group since April 2015. He was appointed as a director of the
Company on 30 April 2016 and was designated as an executive director of
the Company on 7 September 2016. Mr. Chan is responsible for corporate
governance, accounting and finance matters, business and operation analysis,
and cost control measures of the Group.

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
(Professional Accountancy) from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 2005 and a degree of Master of Corporate Governance from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in September 2017. He has been a member
and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
January 2009 and March 2018 respectively; and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries since December 2017.

He worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers from September 2005 to November
2011 with his last position being manager, assurance, institutional group. Prior
to joining the Group, from November 2011 to April 2015, Mr. Chan was the
finance manager of Mapletree Hong Kong Management Limited under
Temasek of Singapore, specialised in real estate investment trusts sector.

Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin

Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin, aged 31, the head of operations of the Group, was
appointed as a director of the Company on 18 August 2015 and was
designated as an executive director of the Company on 7 September 2016.
He joined the Group in June 2011 as an operation manager. Mr. Edwin Yim is
a director of the Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible
for overseeing the daily operations of the Group’s care and attention homes.

Mr. Edwin Yim has over seven years of experience in the residential care home
for the elderly industry in Hong Kong. Apart from being responsible for the
day-to-day management of the Group’s care and attention homes, he is
responsible for overseeing the development, deployment and maintenance of
the Group’s in-house operational software, accreditation of the Group’s care
and attention homes, management and standardisation of documents and
operating procedures, internal audits on the operations of the Group’s care
and attention homes, and compliance with regulatory requirements. Mr. Edwin
Yim graduated from The University of Manchester in the United Kingdom with
a degree of Bachelor of Science in Computer Science with Business and
Management in July 2011. Mr. Edwin Yim is a director of Silverage Pine Care
Limited (a controlling shareholder of the Company), a son of Mr. Yim Ting
Kwok (an executive director, the Chairman of the Board and a controlling
shareholder of the Company) and Ms. Cho Wing Yin (a controlling shareholder
of the Company), and a brother of Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei (the chief executive
officer of the Group, an executive director and a controlling shareholder of the
Company).
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

EERSAEEERER

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex

Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, aged 73, one of the co-founders of the Group, was
appointed as a director of the Company on 18 August 2015 and was
designated as a non-executive director of the Company on 7 September
2016. Mr. Ng is also a director of the Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Company.
He is responsible for providing advice on the business strategies of the Group.

Mr. Ng co-founded the Group in 1989 with Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, an executive
director, the Chairman of the Board and a controlling shareholder of the
Company, through the establishment of the first care and attention home. He
has over 29 years of experience in the RCHE industry in Hong Kong.

Apart from his experience in the RCHE industry, Mr. Ng also had about 31
years of experience in education and had been the principal of a secondary
school in Hong Kong from 1978 to 1993. Mr. Ng completed a two-year part-
time course of in-service training for teachers and was granted the status of
qualified teacher (ICTT Certificate) by the Education Department of Hong Kong
in November 1970. In August 1980, he obtained a Diploma of Management
for Executive Development from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Ng
is a director of each of Pine Active Care Limited, Silverage Pine Care Limited
and Silverage Pillar Limited (controlling shareholders of the Company).

Mr. Ng has been serving as the vice chairman of Sunway Association Limited,
a charitable institution of Hong Kong, since May 2000; a director at school
boards of educational institutions of Chan’s Group including Chan’s Creative
School since July 2001, Chan Shu Kui Memorial School and Chan’s Creative
School (H.K. Island) since July 2004; a honorable director of Hong Kong
Institute of Christian Counselors since March 2017; and the honorable
president of Hong Kong Federation of Senior Citizen Industries since April
2018.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

EERSAEEERER

Mr. Lam Yat Hon

Mr. Lam Yat Hon, aged 59, was appointed as a director of the Company on
18 August 2015 and was designated as a non-executive director of the
Company on 7 September 2016. Mr. Lam joined the Group as a director of
Besting Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, in September 1998. Mr. Lam is also a director of the Hong Kong
subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for providing advice on the
business strategies of the Group.

Since 1994, Mr. Lam has been a shareholder and a director of Aplica Pacific
Limited, a company principally engaging in the business of trading of
household products and electrical appliances and investment holding, which
established Aplica Japan KK in Osaka, Japan in 2017 engaging in direct
sourcing with Japan manufacturers and its E-Business platform in 2018. Mr.
Lam is responsible for the day-to-day business operations of Aplica Pacific
Limited. He has been a fellow member of Canadian Chartered Institute of
Business Administration since January 2019. Mr. Lam is a director of Silverage
Pine Care Limited (a controlling shareholder of the Company).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wong Ping San John

Dr. Wong Ping San John, aged 73, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 23 January 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.

Dr. Wong graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a degree of
Bachelor of Medicine and a degree of Bachelor of Surgery (MB BS (HK)) in
October 1971, and obtained a degree of Master of Philosophy from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1994. Dr. Wong is a medical
practitioner with full registration with the Medical Council of Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

EERSAEEERER

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 23 January 2017. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Mr. Liu has been practising as a certified public accountant in Hong Kong with
more than 27 years of experience. Mr. Liu graduated from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy in
November 1997, and obtained a degree of Master of Business Administration
from University of Lincoln in the United Kingdom in November 2002. He is a
fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
a fellow member of the Institute of Financial Accountants, the United Kingdom
and a fellow member of the Institute of Public Accountants, Melbourne,
Australia. Mr. Liu is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong, a Registered Financial Planner and a fellow member of the
Society of Registered Financial Planners.

Mr. Liu currently acts as an independent non-executive director of China
National Culture Group Limited (stock code: 745) and Polytec Asset Holdings
Limited (stock code: 208), the securities of both companies are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He also acts as an independent non-
executive director of abc Multiactive Limited (stock code: 8131), the securities
of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. In April 2019, Mr. Liu has
been appointed as an independent non-executive director of ATIF Holdings
Limited, the securities of which are listed on the Nasdag Stock Market of the
United States. Mr. Liu was an independent non-executive director of Evershine
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8022) from May 2014 to December
2016, the securities of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

EERSAEEERER

Dr. Liu Yuk Shing

Dr. Liu Yuk Shing, aged 50, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 23 January 2017. He is also a member of each of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

Dr. Liu obtained a Higher Diploma in Structural Engineering and a degree of
Bachelor of Engineering in Civil Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1990
and November 1994, respectively. He also obtained a degree of Master of
Science in Engineering from The University of Hong Kong in December 1998,
and a degree of Doctor of Business Administration from Tarlac State University
in the Philippines in December 2013 through distance learning.

Dr. Liu is a professional engineer and has over 27 years of experience in civil,
structural and geotechnical consultancy, as well as project management for
civil and building projects. He is currently a Registered Structural Engineer and
a Registered Inspector, and has the capacity to carry out statutory duties in
Hong Kong under the Buildings Ordinance (Chapter 123 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). Dr. Liu holds various professional qualifications and memberships in
various professional organisations: Fellow of The Geological Society of
London, Chartered Association of Building Engineers, The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers, Hong Kong Institute of Steel Construction, Hong Kong
Concrete Institute, and The Society of Operations Engineers; and Member of
The Institution of Structural Engineers, London, The Welding Institute, England,
The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators, and The Institution of Civil Engineers;
and a senior member of The Chinese Mechanical Engineering Society. He is
also a Chartered Engineer of Engineering Council, and a Chartered
Environmentalist of Society for the Environment.

Dr. Liu has been working in the construction industry and delivered various
residential, industrial and commercial developments in public and private
sectors under his supervision. Dr. Liu also serves as a committee member and
the chairman of various government and institutional bodies.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles

EERSAEEERER

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chu Lai King, aged 66, is the head of human resources of the Group.
She joined the Group in July 1989 as home manager. Ms. Chu is responsible
for recruitment and human resources matters of the Group.

Ms. Chu obtained a Diploma in Gerontology from School of Professional and
Continuing Education of The University of Hong Kong in August 2005.

Ms. Yam Hau Kam, aged 52, is one of the nursing directors of the Group.
She joined the Group in February 1990 as an enrolled nurse. Ms. Yam is
responsible for the quality control of the elderly care services provided by the
Group.

Ms. Yam has been a registered nurse since June 2006. Prior to joining the
Group, she worked for United Christian Hospital from February 1989 to
October 1989. She obtained a Higher Diploma in Nursing from The Open
University of Hong Kong in June 2006 and completed the Assessors Training
Course (2015) 1st Class organised by the Hong Kong Association of
Gerontology in November 2015 under the Residential Aged Care Accreditation
Scheme.

Ms. Pun Shuk Kan Pisa, aged 54, is one of the nursing directors of the
Group. She joined the Group in January 1998 as an enrolled nurse. Ms. Pun is
responsible for the quality control of the elderly care services provided by the
Group. Since September 2017, Ms. Pun has been responsible for the
development and management of Mainland China business of the Group.

Ms. Pun has been a registered nurse since June 2006. Prior to joining the
Group, she worked for Sik Sik Yuen Elderly Service from June 1993 to August
1997. She obtained a Higher Diploma in Nursing from The Open University of
Hong Kong in June 2006 and completed the Assessors Training Course (2015)
1st Class organised by the Hong Kong Association of Gerontology in
November 2015 under the Residential Aged Care Accreditation Scheme.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance in
maintaining its corporate transparency and accountability. The Board sets
appropriate policies and implements corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group’s business.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The Board considers that during the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company
has complied with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code. Key
corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised below.

A THE BOARD

A1. Responsibilities and Delegation

The Board is responsible for the leadership, control and
management of the Company and oversees the Group’s
business, strategic decision and performances in the attainment
of the objectives of ensuring effective functioning and growth of
the Group and enhancing value to investors. All the directors
carry out their duties in good faith, take decisions objectively and
act in the interests of the Company and its shareholders at all
times.

The Board has power to make its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

All directors have timely access to all relevant information as well
as the advice and services of the Company Secretary and senior
management, with a view to ensuring compliance with Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any director
may request for independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request made to the Board.
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A2.

The senior management is delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks
are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by the
above-mentioned officers. The Board has the full support of the
senior management to discharge its responsibilities.

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2019, the composition of the Board is as follows:

Non-executive directors

FHUTES

Executive directors

BITES

A2.

EXRCRARENAREREREE
MERERERNENRBE - ERIK
WITHRBB R TIEEERMEREN - £
SR ERITLERERRZA - 1
BEAEE=GHE - SAEEERS
XREEGRETHERE -

EEIMAEK
MN2019E3 A31 8 - @ mAaRK M
T

Independent non-executive directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Yim Ting Kwok (Chairman)
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei
(Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Yip Keung
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin

Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex
Mr. Lam Yat Hon

BERLE (&) REEELE
BOmELLE (TTBAEE) MIRERLE
BREEB AL
BOMEF 554

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board has met
the requirements of the Listing Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of having a
minimum of three independent non-executive directors
(representing at least one-third of the Board) with at least one of
them possessing appropriate professional qualifications and
accounting and related financial management expertise.
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A3.

The members of the Board have skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of the
Group. Each executive director is responsible for different
business and functional division of the Group in accordance with
his expertise. The non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) bring different business and financial
expertise, experiences and independent judgement to the Board
and they are invited to serve on the Board committees of the
Company. Through participation in Board meetings, and taking
the lead in managing issues involving potential conflicts of
interests, the independent non-executive directors have made
contributions to the effective direction of the Company and
provided adequate checks and balances to safeguard the
interests of both the Group and the shareholders.

The biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
relationships between Board members, if any, are set out under
the section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profiles”
in this annual report.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive director of his independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive directors to be
independent in light of the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Company supports the division of responsibility between the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer in order to
ensure a balance of power and authority and preserve a
balanced judgement of views. Currently, Mr. Yim Ting Kwok
takes up the role of the Chairman of the Board and is responsible
for the management of the Board and ensuring that all major and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely and
constructive manner; whereas Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei is the Chief
Executive Officer, who takes care of the day-to-day management
of the Group’s business and implementing the Group’s strategic
plans and business goals.
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A4,

Ab.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term.
Each director is engaged for a term of 3 years. The appointment
may be terminated by either party by not less than 3 months’
written notice.

The procedures and process of appointment and removal of
directors are laid down in the Company’s Articles of Association
(the “Articles”). According to the Articles, one-third of the
directors for the time being (if their number is not a multiple of
three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting (the
“AGM”) provided that every director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. The retiring directors
shall be eligible for re-election at the relevant AGM. In addition,
any new director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the first general meeting of shareholders
after his/her appointment, and any director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following AGM. The director appointed by the
Board as aforesaid shall be eligible for re-election at the relevant
general meeting.

Training and Continuing Development for
Directors

Each newly appointed director shall receive formal induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that
he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

The existing directors are continually updated with legal and
regulatory developments, and the business and market changes
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing
briefings and professional development for directors are arranged
whenever necessary. In addition, reading materials on new or
changes to salient laws and regulations applicable to the Group
are provided to directors from time to time for their studying and
reference.
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The directors of the Company are required to submit to the RABEFERNSHREERARERE
Company details of the training they received in each financial RHEESHIEIE NS RA T #
year for the Company’s maintenance of proper training records BEEREE Y05 - RIEAAR B
of the directors. According to the training records currently B REIIRCEE - RARIEEREZR
maintained by the Company, during the year ended 31 March 2019F3ASIHELFEEEBTHEE
2019, the directors of the Company have complied with the code SASTRISFRIME X EBEABSIE - 2N
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on participation in continuous BEEEIWAT -

professional training as follows:

Type of training
EIEE
Reading materials

Attending seminars/ provided by
conferences and/ the Company or

Name of director or forums external parties

HEMHE BIEBRADQTR

EEHE BER RwE  INPEBRANTE

Executive directors: HITESE -

Mr. Yim Ting Kwok (Chairman) BEBELE (FE) v 4

Ms. Cho Wing Yin (ete2 kP At ) v v

Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei BOME ST 4 4

(Chief Executive Officer) (7TECAB%)

Mr. Chan Yip Keung PBREESR ST A& 4 v

Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin EOE v 4

Non-executive directors: HHITESE

Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex REEEE 4 4

Mr. Ma Wing Wah tete2 TSk EE S A (2) v v

Mr. Lam Yat Hon MWRZE R A 4 v

Independent non-executive directors: B IEHITEE -

Dr. Wong Ping San John =P LA v v

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang BESE 4 v

Dr. Liu Yuk Shing BREKELT 4 v

Mr. Liu Walter Joseph e 2E 1B () v/ v

Notes: Bt &

1) These seminars/conferences/materials are related to regulatory (1) ZERHG Bk MR EREE
development/updates, directors’ duties, corporate governance or BR/BH - BEEE  0ETAN
other relevant topics. HitbfERAERE -

© Ms. Cho Wing Yin, Mr. Ma Wing Wah and Mr. Liu Walter Joseph ©) H2018F 12 A7HR » Bkt »
resigned as directors of the Company with effect from 7 December BKELEERBBEEEEREREAA

2018.

AEE-
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A6.

Meetings A6. &
The Board schedules regular Board meetings in advance to give EEeEATHEHESe R UL T
directors the opportunity to participate actively, either in person EEHE R 5B BT AR R & AN
or through electronic means of communication which enable EBHNE B AER2E - RS
them to communicate with each other simultaneously and TEHEWATHESeeZZEHeSR
instantaneously. Directors are consulted for their views regarding HEENER  ZRERNTeLETE
inclusion of specific matters in the agenda for regular Board EHHEBKRER -NAZTERN e
meetings and the draft agenda is circulated to directors for their HIEFEEeeR BHEBRESSY
comments. Special Board meetings are convened as and when = L EENENEeRSRES
needed. All directors are properly briefed on issues to be BEEH ZEEFTCgs ERE
discussed at Board meetings. These Board meetings, together % IRERTMNEEeeR AEEE
with the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees rEEeZE8eRBIERBITELR
meetings, provide effective means for the Board and Board HER L -
Committees to perform their work and discharge their duties.
During the year ended 31 March 2019, 5 Board meetings, 3 HE2019F3A31BIEFE XA A
Audit Committee meetings, 2 Remuneration Committee BITEREETEYH SRNBEREES
meetings, 2 Nomination Committee meetings and the 2018 AGM R 2RFMEEEEE 2RE
were held. Details of individual directors’ attendance at these ZEeeH  UK2018FRRAFK
meetings are set out in the following table: 2o ZELEMNENESHFEFBER
T
2018
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Directors Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting
BREEE FHEEE REZES® 2018 £ R
S EZg8E ] f ] f ] BAFEAE
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Yim Ting Kwok BUE B 5/5 = - 2/2 11
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei BB L 5/5 iy 2/2 X 1/1
Mr. Chan Yip Keung BREE AT AE 5/5 - - - 11
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin BUmE £ 5/5 - - - 11
Ms. Cho Wing Yin Mo & 3k &7 4 (it 4/4 = - - 1/1
Non-executive directors:  FEH7TEE -
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex REEEAE 5/5 - - - 11
Mr. Lam Yat Hon MIRE & 5/5 - - - 11
Mr. Ma Wing Wah Mele2) 55 5j¢ & 5 A (i2) 4/4 - - - 11
Independent BV IEHT
non-executive directors: ~ EFE :
Dr. Wong Ping San John =¥ ILE4 5/5 3/3 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Liu Kwong Sang BEERE 5/5 3/3 - - 11
Dr. Liu Yuk Shing M3 &R i+ Hite) 5/5 3/3 - 2/2 1/1
Mr. Liu Walter Joseph Note 4 2z {& 5 A4 (i) 1/4 1/3 1/2 = =
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Notes:

Ms. Cho Wing Yin has resigned as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 7 December 2018. Prior to her
resignation, 4 Board meetings and the 2018 AGM were held during
the year ended 31 March 2019.

Mr. Ma Wing Wah has resigned as a non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 7 December 2018. Prior to his
resignation, 4 Board meetings and the 2018 AGM were held during
the year ended 31 March 2019.

Dr. Liu Yuk Shing was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 7
December 2018. Subsequent to his appointment as the member
of the Remuneration Committee, no Remuneration Committee
meeting was held during the year ended 31 March 2019.

Mr. Liu Walter Joseph has resigned as an independent non-
executive director and a member of each of the Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 7
December 2018. Prior to his resignation, 4 Board meetings, 3
Audit Committee meetings, 2 Remuneration Committee meetings
and the 2018 AGM were held during the year ended 31 March
2019.

EokI 2+ 2 82018 12 A7 B #E
BEARARIITES - RIEEHTER
HZE2019F3A31 AL FE BE1T4
REEEEHR0IBERITAF A
BEoxkFERAED B2018FE12A7HE
BAEARARERITES - RBET
% BE2019F3A31ALFEEY
BIT4RERTE R L2018 FRTE
FRE -

BERELEB2018FE12 A7H
BZEAARRFHEEEKE - 1
BEZTATMEESKER HE
201943 A3 HIEFEWRALEIT
FHEEEEE -

2EERED B2018FE 12 A7THE
BHERRRABUIERITEFTUARER
ZESRFMHEBEKE - RIEEHT
% BE2019F3A31ALEEY
BITAREEEEHE SRBERZE
BEE 2AFMEEEeEEK2018
FREBAFRE ©

201953k NEEEEEERAT 33



Corporate Governance Report
=B AWmE

i

A7.

A8.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding the directors’ dealings in the Company’s
securities. Specific enquiries have been made to all the directors
and all directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”), governing securities transactions by employees who
are likely to possess inside information of the Company and/or its
securities. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Written Guidelines by relevant employees was noted by the
Company.

In case the Company is aware of any restricted period for
dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company will notify its

directors and relevant employees in advance.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG
Code. The Board has reviewed and monitored the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, the training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and the Employees Written
Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 3 Board committees, namely, the

Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit

Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.

All Board committees have been established with defined written terms

of reference which are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and

the Company’s website. All the Board committees should report to the

Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to

discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek

independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company’s expenses.

B1.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises a total of 3
members, being one executive director, namely Mr. Yim Billy Pui
Kei, and two independent non-executive directors, namely Dr.
Wong Ping San John (chairman of the Committee) and Dr. Liu
Yuk Shing. Throughout the year ended 31 March 2019, the
Company has met the Listing Rules requirements of having the
majority of the Remuneration Committee members being
independent non-executive directors, as well as having the
Committee chaired by an independent non-executive director.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s remuneration policy and structure, and the
remuneration packages of directors and members of senior
management (i.e. the model described in the code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code is adopted). The Remuneration
Committee is also responsible for establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by the Board with reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as well as
market practice and conditions.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Remuneration
Committee has held 2 meetings (the attendance records of each
Committee member are set out in the above section AB), in
which the existing remuneration policy and structure of the
Company and the remuneration packages of directors and senior
management of the Company were reviewed and relevant
recommendations were made to the Board.
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Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by band
for the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out below:

RIBEDEE AT RISFANESCEB.A .5 -
HEC019F3A3IAILEESHRER
EXEBZR&EES S NFEEFHMET @0
T~

Number of
Remuneration band (HK$) individual(s)
#FEEE (8rx) AE
500,000-750,000 500,0002 750,000 1
750,001-1,000,000 750,001%1,000,000 2

Details of the remuneration of each director of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 9 to the
financial statements contained in this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises a total of 3 members,
being the Chairman of the Board, namely Mr. Yim Ting Kwok
(chairman of the Committee), and two independent non-
executive directors, namely Dr. Wong Ping San John and Dr. Liu
Yuk Shing. Throughout the year ended 31 March 2019, the
Company has met the code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code of
having a majority of the Committee members being independent
non-executive directors, and having the Committee chaired by
the Chairman of the Board.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity perspectives) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy; identify qualified and suitable individuals to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
directors and succession planning for directors, in particular the
Chairman and the Chief Executive of the Company.
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During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has
adopted the Director Nomination Policy. Such policy, devising
the criteria and process of selection and performance evaluation,
provides guidance to the Board on nomination and appointment
of Directors. The Board believes that the defined selection
process is good for corporate governance in ensuring the Board
continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level, and
enhancing better Board effectiveness and diversity as well as in
compliance with the applicable rules and regulations.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents. In
selecting candidates for directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to certain criteria
such as the Company’s needs, the diversity on the Board, the
integrity, experience, skills and professional knowledge of the
candidate and the amount of time and effort that the candidate
will devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities.

Each candidate shall be ranked by order of preference based on
the needs of the Company and his/her reference check. The
Nomination Committee shall report its findings and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship for decision.
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The Company also recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s
competitive advantage. The Company believes that greater
diversity of Directors is good for corporate governance and is
committed to attract and retain candidate(s) for Board with a
combination of competencies from the widest possible pool of
available talents; and to assess regularly the diversity profile of
the Board and, where applicable, the senior management
prepared for Board positions under the succession planning of
the Company and the progress on achieving diversity objectives,
if any. A Board diversity policy was adopted by the Company,
pursuant to which the Board and the Nomination Committee are
responsible for reviewing and assessing the Board composition
under diversified perspectives (including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience) and for ensuring that changes to the
Board’s composition can be managed without undue disruption.
The Nomination Committee shall report its findings and make
recommendation to the Board, if any. Such policy and objectives,
if any, will be reviewed from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. The Nomination Committee considered that an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is
maintained during the year ended 31 March 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Nomination
Committee has held 2 meetings (the attendance records of each
Committee member are set out in the above section AB), in
which the Committee members has (i) reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance
of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the
requirements for the business of the Group; (ii) assessed the
independence of all the independent non-executive directors;
and (i) recommended the re-election of the retiring directors at
the 2018 AGM.
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Audit Committee

The Company has met the Listing Rules requirements regarding
the composition of the Audit Committee throughout the year
ended 31 March 2019. The Audit Committee currently comprises
a total of 3 members, being the 3 independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Liu Kwong Sang (chairman of the
Committee), Dr. Wong Ping San John and Dr. Liu Yuk Shing. Mr.
Liu Kwong Sang possesses the appropriate professional
qualification, and accounting and financial management expertise
as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the
financial information and reports of the Group, and considering
any significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers of
the Group or external auditor before submission to the Board;
reviewing the relationship with and the terms of appointment of
the external auditor and making relevant recommendation to the
Board; and reviewing the Company’s financial reporting system,
internal control system and risk management system.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Audit Committee has
held 3 meetings (the attendance records of each Committee
member are set out in the above section A6) and performed the
following major works: (i) reviewed and approved the audit plan
of the Company’s external auditor, including the nature and
scope of audit, audit methodology, remuneration and terms of
engagement in respect of the audit on the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018; (ii) considered major audit
findings from the auditor; (iii) reviewed and considered the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2018 and related annual results announcement and
annual report; (iv) reviewed the financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems and internal audit
function of the Group; (v) reviewed the compliance of the Deed of
Non-Competition by the Company’s controlling shareholders; (vi)
considered the re-appointment of auditor; (vii) reviewed the
interim financial statements of the Group and related results
announcement and report of the Company for the six months
ended 30 September 2018; and (viii) made relevant
recommendations to the Board.
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The external auditor has attended the above meetings and
discussed with the Audit Committee members on the above
audit planning and financial reporting matters. Besides, there is
no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee
regarding the appointment of external auditor.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2019.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The management has
provided such explanation and information to the Board as necessary
to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial
information and position of the Group put forward to the Board for
approval.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems have been
designed to protect assets from misappropriation and unauthorised
transactions and to manage operational risks.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
to safeguard the interests of the Company’s shareholders and the
Group’s assets. The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems, and makes relevant
recommendations.

The management, in coordination with department heads and operation
teams, regularly assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, ranked
these risks according to the likelihood and the severity of the impact on
the Group, provided treatment plans, and monitored the risk
management progress, and reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board on any findings and measures to address the variances and
identified risks. Such internal audit function aims to examine key issues
in relation to the accounting practices and all material controls, identify
deficiencies and ineffectiveness in the design and implementation of
internal controls, and propose recommendations for improvement.

The Company has procedures and internal controls measures for the
Company'’s directors, officers, senior management and relevant
employees in handling confidential information, monitoring information
disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures have been
implemented to ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside
information are strictly prohibited.

The Company also established procedures to facilitate employees of
the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of
the Company.

An independent risk assessment and internal control review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems has been performed by an external consulting firm during the
year. Such risk assessment and internal control review aims to examine
key issues in relation to the accounting practices and all material
controls, identify deficiencies and ineffective parts in the design and
implementation of internal controls, and propose recommendations for
improvement.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board, in conjunction with
the Audit Committee, conducted an annual review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company
and its subsidiaries, including the adequacy of resources on internal
audit, operational and compliance controls; and financial reporting
function; as well as staff qualifications, experience, training programmes
and related resources. The Board considered that the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended 31 March
2019 was effective and adequate and no significant areas of concern
has been identified.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Chan Yip Keung (also
an executive director of the Company), who fulfils the qualification
requirements laid down in the Listing Rules. Biographical details of Mr.
Chan are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profiles” of this annual report. During the year ended 31
March 2019, Mr. Chan has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2019 is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, in
respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31
March 2019 are analyzed below:

NEME

RNARWARWEBRERLE(MARRE
WITES) BEFELMRARZEER
T oREEHNBREFBHRNEAER ESERE
BEBERE] —& - REZE201943 A 31
HIEFE  BRAEBRBESTOR15/)EME
RZ R

SIS A% BUEM K A2 B A BN <=

RANBINEZBAE HEH AR B ZE 2019
FIASNALFEVBRRNBFETEHR
BN AER (B EERE ] —6 -

PMEE20194 3 A 31 B IFFEHR RS &
BRI M AT FE 7R 2 B4 BN 22 oK
SETENEBAER DTN

Fees paid/
Type of services provided by the external auditor payable
SN BEM R ALY AR R R et BB
HK$
BT
Audit service — audit fee for the year ended B ARTE — EZ2019FE3A31HILFE

31 March 2019 ZZHER 1,410,000

Non-audit services — services provided in connection with JEIZ AR — i F L E 12 PR A AR TS
certain agreed-upon procedures 360,000
TOTAL: RET - 1,770,000
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Group also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which enables shareholders and investors to
make the best investment decision.

The Company maintains a website at www.pinecaregroup.com as a
communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s business developments
and operations and other information are available for public access.
Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests to
the Company as follows:

Address: G/F, 1 Koon Wah Lane, 68-72 Yuk Wah Street, Tsz Wan
Shan, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: investorrelations@pinecaregroup.com
Tel: (852) 2813 8102
Fax: (852) 3020 8779

Enquiries and requests will be dealt with by the Company in an
informative and timely manner.

Besides, shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. Board
members and senior staff will be available to answer questions raised
by the shareholders at general meetings of the Company. In addition,
the Company will invite representatives of the auditor to attend its
annual general meeting to answer shareholders’ questions about the
conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including but not limited to the election of individual directors, for
shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at
shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange after each shareholders’ meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions at
general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the
Articles. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must provide their full
names, contact details and identification, in the originally signed written
requisition, notice or statement (as the case may be), in order to give
effect thereto. Information of shareholder(s) may be disclosed as
required by law.

With respect to the shareholders’ right in proposing persons for election

as directors of the Company, please refer to the procedures available
on the website of the Company.
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I. CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS . EREXH
Pursuant to a special resolution of the shareholders passed on 23 BERENR2017E1 B23 H@iEHM —BER
January 2017, the amended and restated memorandum and articles of REBR - ARAREETRETEABEERE
association of the Company was adopted with effect from 15 February AR AN B 2017FE2 B15 HABAERL ©
2017. During the year ended 31 March 2019, there was no change in REBZE2019F3A31IHIEFE  AAFIZ4
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company. 18 272 KA 2 4R Bl gD o
The amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of RN BRIEET R E AT 48 45 = 52 A 40 N 48 Bl \f
the Company is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and REE P R AA BB UL BB o
the Company.
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OVERVIEW

This report is the third Environment, Social, Governance (“ESG”) Report (“ESG
Report”) published by the Company, which describes our relationship with key
stakeholders, and our approach in complying with applicable regulations and
guidelines regarding the provision of quality elderly home care services,
professional and business ethics and environmental protection. The reporting
year of this ESG Report is aligned with our financial year.

BASIS OF COMPILING THE REPORT

This ESG Report was compiled in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing
Rules. Through engaging key stakeholders, we have identified issues
substantially important to them and covered these issues in this report.

REPORTING SCOPE

The reporting scope covers our nine care and attention homes in Hong Kong.

SOURCES OF DATA AND ASSURANCE TO
RELIABILITY

The data reported in this ESG Report was prepared based on our internal
statistical reports, internal policies and other internal documents. The Board
hereby confirms that no false or misleading statements were made in this ESG
Report.

BOARD APPROVAL

Upon review of the management team, this ESG Report was approved by the
Board on 18 June 2019.

ESG AND PINE CARE GROUP

Pine Care Group is a leading operator of care and attention homes, having
served the elderly in Hong Kong since 1989. The Group established its first
care and attention home in Hong Kong in 1989, and now operates a network
of nine care and attention homes with over 1,100 residential care places,
across seven districts in Hong Kong. Our new upscale care and attention
home, Pine Care Place in Yoho Mall | (Extension), has commenced its
operation in June 2018.
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Since 1989, we have always emphasised on the quality and innovation of our
services, and have always operated based on our guiding principles, which
include: (i) competent people: attracting the best staff members possible and
having the right system in place to help them reach their full potentials; (i)
respect: respecting the elderly residents the way we would to our families; and
(iii) elderly first: putting the best interests of the elderly residents above all else.
In the past 30 years, through good and bad times, we have always held firmly
to these principles, and these are the principles that have guided us to where
we are today.

As the Group continues to define the standards of excellence in our elderly
care home services, we ensure that we act with integrity and comply with
applicable laws and regulations. Our employees uphold high standards of
ethical and best practice in the RCHE industry. The Group highly values its
employees and retains talents that stand as the backbone of our operations to
deliver consistent high quality of services to our customers.

We treasure our relationship with the other key stakeholders including bankers,
suppliers and the wider community, as well as minimise adverse environmental
impacts. We are able to maintain our sound relationship and obtain continuous
support from the key stakeholders. With the contribution from our employees,
we aim for continuous value creation within the community.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS

The Group’s business is subject to extensive laws and regulations relating to,
among others, the licensing of care and attention homes, treatment of
pharmaceutical wastes, labour practices as well as protection of confidentiality
and personal data privacy.

Compliance with the law is the cornerstone of the sustainability of our
business. The Group has internal policies and systems in place designed with
a view to ensuring compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

OUR MANAGEMENT OF ESG ASPECTS

The Group considers managing ESG risks as an important driver to the
sustainable growth of our business. The Board is responsible for evaluating
and determining our ESG-related risks, and ensuring that appropriate and
effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place. The
implementation of ESG strategies and programs is delegated to our home
managers and deputy home managers.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group has complied with the Code Provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Three board
committees have been established for overseeing different functions. Our
Directors serve different roles in the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. All existing policies and practices
in relation to management and corporate matters are reviewed by the Board
on a regular basis for compliance with new requirements. More information on
governance and the Board is available in the Corporate Governance section of
this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH OUR STAKEHOLDERS

Our relationship with customers

The Group’s principal customers are individual customers, a public hospital
and the SWD, with which we entered into contractual arrangements pursuant
to which the SWD purchased residential care places from the Group under the
EBPS. All of the Group’s end-users are individual customers.

The Group is committed to quality excellence to maintain end-user
satisfaction. We aim to ensure the delivery of consistent quality services to
enhance resident experience through standardised management and
operational procedures with international accreditations across our network of
care and attention homes. We also conduct regular evaluations to ensure
compliance of the standardised operational procedures in the delivery of
services to our residents.

For more information about our customers, please refer to “Our Customers”.

Our relationship with bankers

We have established long term relationships with our bankers who equip us
with financing flexibility. The accessibility of bank borrowings depends on our
creditworthiness as proven by timely repayment record, and our compliance
with the financial covenants of the banking facilities. With higher degree of
transparency of operational performance and financial results of the Group
after the Listing, we firmly believe that our bankers will continuously support us
with adequate banking facilities.

Our relationship with suppliers

We proactively communicate with our suppliers including traders of groceries,
intermediaries referring professional and qualified staff, and medical care
product companies to ensure that they are committed to delivering high-
quality food and beverages, medical products, consumables and professional
services. We effectively implement assessment processes on suppliers
through conducting regular evaluation on the performance of contracts and
other measures, to ensure the performance of our suppliers. The procurement
of equipment, products and services is undertaken through open and fair
competition.
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Our relationship with employees

Employees are regarded as important and valuable assets of the Group. The
objective of the Group’s human resource management is to reward and
recognise performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration package
and implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives, and to promote career development and progression by
appropriate training and providing opportunities within the Group for

employees’ career advancement.

For more information about our employees, please refer to “Our Employees”.

OUR CUSTOMERS
The Group is committed to quality excellence and recognises that continual
improvements are vital to enhancing competitiveness as well as customer

satisfaction. We aim to ensure the delivery of quality services.

The Group has implemented standardised management and operational
procedures across our network of care and attention homes to ensure
consistency of service quality and to enhance resident experience. These
management and operational procedures cover areas that are required under
the RCHE Code of Practice, Residential Care Home (Elderly Persons)
Ordinance (RCH(EP)O) and its subsidiary legislation, the Service Quality
Standards issued by the SWD, ISO 9001 quality management system and the
ISQua standards accredited by the Hong Kong Association of Gerontology.

Quality Assurance Monitoring Committee

The Group has established a Quality Assurance Monitoring Committee
(“QAMC”) to oversee the quality of the elderly care services provided to our
residents. The composition of the QAMC includes the management team,
employees, residents, families of residents and parties independent of the
Company.

The QAMC is responsible for conducting surprise audits on our care and
attention homes and subsequent to such audits, providing objective feedbacks
to improve our operational processes. The audit system includes review of the
bedrooms, facilities, meal provision service, medicine dispensation, nursing
service, provision of social activities and attitude of employees. On-site
inspections are also conducted from time to time by QAMC members.
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Residential Aged Care Accreditation Scheme

The Group is accredited under the Residential Aged Care Accreditation
Scheme of the Hong Kong Association of Gerontology. Such accreditation
programme promotes best practices in the RCHE industry, and is currently
the only scheme in Hong Kong recognised internationally, by The International
Society for Quality in Health Care. Accreditation under this scheme ensures
that our care and attention homes have, among others, established effective
governance; provided a safe, hygienic and comfortable environment, facilities
and services for our residents; established a set of planning, supervision and
service improvement processes to meet the needs of residents; and
established an effective information management system.

Periodic Surveys and Service Quality Team

We conduct periodic surveys with residents and their families. We then
conduct management review meetings to review the survey results and
identify key improvement areas and opportunities, and design and implement
measures to improve on identified deficiencies.

We have also participated in the “Residential Care Homes for the Elderly
Service Quality Team” plan of the SWD since 2013, pursuant to which
members of the service quality team will visit our care and attention homes on
a regular basis. After such visits, the service quality team will make
recommendations to the Group and the SWD will follow up on these with us.

Individual Care Plan

The Group understands that the specific needs of every elderly resident are
different. As a result, every one of our elderly residents has an individual care
plan that is designed specific to his/her own needs, which is periodically
reviewed and fine-tuned according to progress.

When a new resident is admitted, a three-pronged evaluation of his/her
conditions is conducted by a nurse, a social worker, and a physiotherapist.
Based on the results of the evaluation, an individual care plan is designed to
meet the specific needs of the resident. The plan is then carried out for a
period of 6 months, at which point the plan is re-evaluated and new objectives
for the next 6 months are set. This ensures that the elderly resident always
receives the best and most appropriate care possible.
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Safeguarding Customers’ Rights

We respect every customer without regard to individual differences. The
Group does not tolerate any discrimination and ensures that every customer is
treated equally while using our elderly home care services.

Customers are welcomed to provide feedback or file complaints directly to our
frontline staff or through complaint handling hotline which allows complainants
to submit their complaints on an anonymous basis to an operator,
independent of our care and attention homes. A customer service team takes
immediate action on receipt of any complaint, resolving or following up the
complaint until resolution. We treat complaints seriously and view them as a
means to consistently improve our service level and quality.

Protection of Customer Information

The Group considers that privacy and security of information are critical
operating principles. The Group has implemented comprehensive information
privacy and information security programmes to protect personal privacy. We
are committed to the compliance of relevant laws and regulations. We
recognise the importance of keeping personal information of our residents in
strict confidence.

The right of a resident to privacy is essential in the RCHE industry, and our
residents expect us to keep their information strictly confidential. We are
subject to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) which restricts the use of personal data of residents collected by
us for specific purposes, such as the provision of information on home events
and activities. We obtain consent from residents before we collect and use
such personal information.

The Group is committed to complying with relevant laws and regulations on
customer data protection and privacy. Any unauthorised copying,
dissemination or disclosure of confidential information, including identities and
transaction records of customers, are strictly prohibited.

During the reporting period, the Group did not discover any serious violation of
relevant laws and regulations which would have material effects on the Group.

OUR EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had a total of 425 employees which
comprises operation staff and corporate staff. The Group highly values its
employees, as the workforce is not only the most valuable asset of the Group
but is also the solid foundation for sustainable development. The Group strictly
complies with relevant laws and regulations regarding employment in Hong
Kong and ensures employees are reasonably remunerated.
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OUR WORKFORCE AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

Total workforce

Composition by gender
Female
Male

Composition by employee category
Operation staff
Corporate staff

Composition by age group
> 50
31-50
30 or below

WORKFORCE TURNOVER RATE FOR FY2019

Overall turnover rate

Turnover rate by gender
Female
Male

Turnover rate by employee category
Operation staff
Corporate staff

Turnover rate by age group
> 50
31-50
30 or below

The overall employee turnover rate of the Group during the FY2019 was 30%.
The turnover rate of operation staff was higher than corporate staff, with the
ratio being 29% and 1% respectively. In terms of the age profile, the
employees aged 50 or above had the highest turnover rate of 13% while the
group aged 30 or below had the lowest turnover rate of 6%.
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Employment

A Staff Handbook provides the necessary information and guidelines on codes
of conduct, equal opportunity, termination of service, rewards and penalties,
leave entitlement, and other relevant matters. Employees are recruited,
remunerated and promoted on the basis of merit, including qualifications,
competence, matching expertise to requirements of the post, and contribution
to the Group. No limits are imposed on age or gender, and there is no
discrimination in favour or against any group of employees.

In addition, the Group employs imported workers through the Supplementary
Labour Scheme (“SLS”) of the Labour Department. We confirm that, all
imported workers employed by the Group have valid visa/entry permit to work
in Hong Kong and there is no breach of any of the conditions imposed under
the SLS.

Employees enjoy rights as provided for by laws and the systems of the Group.
Employees of different backgrounds and qualifications enjoy equal promotion
opportunity, salary adjustment, training and development provision. The Group
respects and protects these rights, and will not tolerate any discriminatory
acts in the Group.

During the reporting period, there was no non-compliance or breach of
legislation related to applicable employment laws and regulations.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing and maintaining a safe and healthy
working environment for all employees. We endeavour to comply with all
relevant laws and regulations on health and safety by routine evaluation of the
hazards and safety of our care and attention homes. We have instituted
internal safety policies and systems to ensure strict compliance with such
requirements.

Due to the nature of our business, incidents at our care and attention homes
could have detrimental effects on the health and safety of our employees and
residents. Accordingly, we have established standardised workplace health
and safety procedures and all employees are required to comply with such in
the operation of our care and attention homes. These procedures are part of
our customised safety management system, with our Executive Director, Mr.
Yim Edwin Pui Hin, in charge. Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin oversees compliance
with all workplace health and safety measures.
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The Group has set up an Occupational Health and Safety Committee, to
conduct regular reviews of staff health and safety issues, assess latent crisis
possibility, identify risks and suggest solutions to ensure a safe working
environment and minimising the probability of accidents. We have developed
an effective mechanism to improve the procedures for reporting industrial
injury accidents so that injured employees could obtain support and follow-up
labour compensation. Contingency procedures and review mechanisms have
been set up to provide appropriate measures to prevent similar accidents.

The Group complies with the Buildings Ordinance (Chapter 123 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“BO”) and subsidiary legislation relating to the planning, design
and construction of buildings and associated works and regular inspection of
buildings and associated repairs to prevent buildings from becoming unsafe.

The Group complies with requirements and specifications for fire service
installations and equipment to be provided for Residential Care Homes for the
Elderly (RCHE), based on Codes of Practice for Minimum Fire Service
Installations and Equipment and Inspection, Testing and Maintenance of
Installations and Equipment issued by the Fire Services Department from time

to time.

All fire service installations and equipment installed in the Group’s care and
attention homes are maintained in efficient working order at all times and
inspected by a registered fire service installation contractor at least once every
12 months, in accordance with the Fire Service (Installations and Equipment)
Regulation (Chapter 95B of the Laws of Hong Kong).

In the reporting period, the Group has complied with relevant laws and
regulations on health and safety and there were no recorded work-related
injuries or fatalities.

Development and Training
The Group places great importance on continuing development of professional
knowledge and skills for employees.

The Group has established policies on staff development and training. The
Group provides both internal and external training opportunities for various
levels of employees, including management, operations and back office
supporting staff. The home managers and management team of each care
and attention home are expected to encourage and facilitate continuous
development of staff through internal or external training.
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Selected training sessions on occupational safety, stress management,
infection control, drug management, nursing care, mid-career study and job-
related seminars are conducted by professional training organisations or
consulting companies. These enable our staff to keep abreast of the latest
development in care for the elderly and safety and health at work. Skills
covered include proper manual handling technique, enhancing awareness of
drug safety management and effective infection control measures.

The Group aims to retain a skilled workforce through systematic training and
professional development and training, which is a recognised attribute of our
dedicated management and workforce.

We believe that our commitment to employee excellence will lead to the
continued growth of our business and enhancement of the quality of services
provided to our residents. Accordingly, we will continue to increase efforts in
human resources management and retention. We are confident that such
efforts will enhance our reputation and appeal as an employer of choice in the
RCHE industry.

The Group will continue to implement an internal rotation system for
management personnel to provide them with greater exposure to our
operations; to develop a career advancement programme with a clearly
identifiable long-term career path to motivate our employees; and to devise
rewards programmes which would encourage our staff to attend training
courses offered by external institutions.

Labour Standards

The Group attaches great importance to and strictly abides by all applicable
labour laws and regulations on employment such as Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and their respective
subsidiary legislations in Hong Kong.

The Group considers child and forced labour unacceptable and must be
strictly prohibited. The Group has instituted a comprehensive screening and
recruiting process to prohibit the use of child labour.

Employee work schedules are set up fairly to keep within standard working
hours. All employees are provided with appropriate leave entitlements,
including annual leave, sick leave, maternity leave, paternity leave and
compassionate leave.
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Anti-corruption and Business Ethics

The Group is well aware of the importance of honesty, integrity and fairess,
and has included anti-corruption policy such as giving and taking interests and
declaration of conflicts of interests in our staff manual. Through the
establishment of these policies, we encourage all employees to discharge their
duties with integrity and to comply with relevant laws and regulations.

The Group is committed to adhering to the highest ethical standards and
maintaining a corporate culture of integrity and justice for preventing, detecting
and reporting all types of fraud, including corruption. Employees at all levels
are expected to conduct themselves with integrity, impartiality and honesty.
We have established effective anti-corruption procedures, including declaration
of interests, whistleblowing, among others.

Our whistleblowing policy facilitates staff to discreetly report any misconduct
or dishonest activities, such as suspected corruption, fraud and other forms of
criminality by email to the Company’s Audit Committee or the Company
secretary.

The whistleblowing policy documents set out the whistleblowing handling
system for the establishment and maintenance of the highest possible
standards of openness, probity and accountability for employees to raise their
concerns in confidence without fear of harassment, reprisal, victimisation,
discrimination or disadvantage.

The Group has set up a working committee, comprising the Director, Chief
Financial Officer and Head of Human Resources, to take responsibility for
evaluating every report received and decide if a full investigation is necessary.
The working committee is responsible for reporting to the Audit Committee the
issue, the result of investigation and the corrective action taken to ensure the
Audit Committee is informed and the issue would hopefully not occur again in
the future.

During the reporting period, there was no legal case regarding corrupt
practices nor any case of corruption found or reported by the Group and the
Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that had significant impact on the Group relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

As the Group operates care and attention homes for the elderly in Hong Kong
offering a comprehensive range of residential care services, emissions such as
air pollutants arising from the fuel usage of company cars, are insignificant as
compared to companies in certain industries such as manufacturing.

The Group endeavours to comply with applicable environmental laws and
regulations and has adopted effective measures to reduce wastage, such as
using more energy-efficient equipment and adopting environment-friendly
disposal procedures. Our employees are fully aware that it is important to
minimise the impact on the environment and natural resources when

conducting Group operations.

Treatment of Waste

A total of approximately 497 kilograms of chemical and clinical wastes was
generated during the year. The Group handles the pharmaceutical products at
our care and attention homes on a day-to-day basis and disposes chemical
and clinical wastes with care. We deal with the disposal of pharmaceutical
products in accordance with the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General)
Regulation (Chapter 354C of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal
(Clinical Waste) (General) Regulation (Chapter 3450 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

We have implemented a set of internal policies and guidelines to ensure that
the disposal of chemical and clinical wastes and pharmaceutical substances
are carried out in a safe manner. We have engaged chemical and clinical
waste collection service providers to dispose of our chemical and clinical
wastes. In relation to hazardous waste such as expired and unwanted
pharmaceutical products, we have engaged qualified waste disposal and
recycling companies licensed by the Environmental Protection Department to
handle the disposals.

Non-hazardous waste disposed totalled approximately 6,894 kilograms during
the year. To maintain hygiene at our elderly care homes and protect our
residents from infection, we consider using disposable items necessary and
room for reducing non-hazardous waste is limited. It is our policy to educate
our staff to recycle resources and to avoid unnecessary consumption and
disposal of materials. During FY2019, a total of approximately 0.6 tonne of
waste paper was recycled.

In addition, to improve the air quality, the Group has installed high-
performance air purifier equipment such as germicidal air deodorisers for smell
control and purification.
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Resources Consumption
Resources used in the operation are mainly electricity, water, fuel gas for car
and printing paper.

Emissions generated by the Group were mainly indirect greenhouse gases
(“GHGs”) emissions generated from the use of electricity and gas. During the
year, there were a total of Scope 2 — energy indirect emissions of
approximately 3,586.4 in tonnes, carbon dioxide (“CO2”) equivalent,
representing 99.7% of the total GHGs emissions of the Group; whilst the
remaining 0.3% of the total GHGs emissions represented Scope 3 — other
indirect emissions of approximately 12 in tonnes, CO2 equivalent that were
incurred as a result of the electricity used for fresh water and sewage.

A total amount of electricity of approximately 4,483,000 kilowatt hours and a
total amount of water of approximately 39,684 tonnes were consumed during
the year.

The Group has implemented energy and water saving practices, resulting in
low consumption levels. To reduce energy consumption, the Group has
installed the CarbonCare LED, which combines LED lighting with un-validated
carbon offset programmes to offer a climate-friendly solution to the usage of
lighting. The workplace temperature has been maintained at a comfortable
level of 23-25°C to encourage energy conservation and to reduce emissions.
Staff are encouraged to minimise paper, water and electricity consumption.

OUR COMMUNITY

With the commitment to being a socially responsible corporation, the Group
has been named by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service as a “Caring
Company” since our establishment. The Group encourages our staff and our
residents to contribute their time and efforts in participating in local community
activities and events. Examples are as follows:

Pine Care Olympics

Pine Care Chun King Elderly Centre, Pine Care (Tak Fung) Elderly Centre and
Pine Care (Po Tak) Elderly Centre organised Pine Care Sports Day at Lei Muk
Shue Community Hall in April 2018. Five sporting events were held and
competed by 3 groups, allowing the residents to break through their limits.
The event was in partnership with Tak Wah District Council member, where 70
residents participated in the event.
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“Share and Care” Donation Drive

Since May 2018, residents of Pine Care (Manning) Elderly Centre, Pinecrest
Elderly Centre and Pine Care Hong Fai Elderly Centre have participated in the
production of a community focus video, where they encourage people in the
community to donate materials and supplies, so that these may be transferred
to those in need in the community. The staff and residents also made 1,000
decoupage presents which were distributed in the second half of 2018 at the
“Share and Care” Community Carnival.

Flag Day
In June 2018, Pine Care Chun King Elderly Centre held flag-selling event to
raise funds for Senior Citizen Home Safety Association.

Elderly Boccia Contest

Since September 2018, Pine Care (Manning) Elderly Centre has participated in
Elderly Boccia Contest organised by the Christian Family Service Centre. After
40 sessions of hard boocia training, our residents participated in open
competitions to meet with other community elders, to challenge themselves
and to advocate a healthy community.

Co-organised Volunteer Event

In December 2018, Pine Care Chun King Elderly Centre has co-organised a
volunteer event “FLER A A" with Po Leung Kuk to invite ex-mentally ill persons
to our centre to share their personal stories and experience with our residents
which advocate social communion among the participants.

Community Health Day

In January 2019, same as in the previous years, New Pine Care Centre
organised a free health check for elderly in the Shun Lei Estate community,
approximately 500 people had benefited from these free health checks.

Business-School Partnership Programme

In March 2019, New Pine Care Centre has cooperated with the School of
Nursing of Tung Wah College that the nursing students could experience the
work as the centre’s nurses, to gain a taste working in the elderly service
industry.

Donations

During the reporting period, the Company made an aggregate donations of
HK$70,000 to the Hong Kong Association of Gerontology as well as other
charitable organisations.
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Our Environment

HPIERS

Our major operation is to
operate elderly care
homes, providing elderly
home care services. Our
activities do not emit air
pollutants and discharge
into water in significant
quantities.

BPNERRBRARER
e BEZERSR
%o BMIMEBEB I E
REHFMZERIGTRY KA
IKHIHE)S ©

We are in compliance with
the relevant laws and
regulations on generation
of chemical wastes, clinical
wastes and the disposal of
pharmaceutical products.

BfETERELCERE
Y BEEDNENEE
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RR d8RER

Aspects, General

HE

Related chapters

Disclosures and KPIs Descriptions in this report Remarks

BH —REERER

BRER it AHEENEBEDS B

KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective Not material Our activities do not emit
AR EIEIZ AT A emissions data. WAEKXR air pollutants and

KPIA1.2
RARARIEIRAL.2

KPIA1.3
RS EIEIRALS

KPI A1.4
RRERIEIR A4

KPI A1.5
FABHEMIEIRALS

KPI A1.6
RRIEBUEIEALG

BER iR fR R AERA B IR -

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g., per
unit of production volume, per facility).

BERBAYNE (A E) R (EA) =
(MAEBESEN - BEREAE)

i BE

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g., per
unit of production volume, per facility).

FELAZTEEDEE (AME) k(13
R)ZE(MABEEEN - SEREAE) °

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.,
per unit of production volume, per facility).

FrEAEEEEYES (ANEFE) & (0E
B)ZE (A BESEM - BERMETE

Description of measures to mitigate emissions
and results achieved.

HRLBIRPE R E BB HE KPS AR -

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous waste is handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved.

R BRIR A E N EEERMNTE  BIRE
EENEHKEPTSKR

Our Environment

HAPIHIIRIR

Our Environment

HAIRIRE

Our Environment

HPIRERE

Our Environment

HPIRRE

Our Environment

HPIMRE

effluents in significant

quantities.

B EBEB AL ER
EERERSEMRS
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Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs
BE- - —REERER

BER

Descriptions

i

Related chapters
in this report

FHRENERED

Remarks

fEaE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : BIRER

General Disclosure

—ARIER

KPI A2.1
RAIE B IR A2

KPI A2.2
FARAERIEIRA2.2

KPIA2.3
BABHEIEIRA2.3

KPI A2.4
RRSRAERIEIRA2.4

KPI A2.5
RAREIEIRA2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials.

BRERER(BIERR - KEEAMERTE)
HERER °

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type (e.g., electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in
"000s) and intensity (e.g., per unit of
production volume, per facility).

REANESWEER,SEEER(WE - R
o) BREE (ATETRERE) REE (1
INEESEN - SIEREAE)

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g.,
per unit of production volume, per facility).

BRKEREE (MU SERBL - SERE
) -

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives
and results achieved.

st BE IR 56 FA Rz At &I K PR S BCR

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

st REUE KR LR BEMRERE - A RR
THRK R 2S8R AISAR o

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

SR m P A B R R 8 (AREEHE ) & (18
ER)BEEEMGE -
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Our Environment

HPIERE

Our Environment

HPIERS

Our Environment

HAFIHIRIR

Our Environment

HPIERE

Not material
WARER

Not material

YFEA

We consume municipal
water mainly for elderly
home care services but
not in significant
quantities. Our policy
therefore does not cover
consumption of water.

HMERNBHARKER
RARZERERS - B
REAR. Bt #M
F BRI R E K o

Our operation has no
issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose.

B AT ERNREUE A
KRR B FRE -

Our activities do not
create packaging material
in significant quantities.
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Aspects, General

Related chapters

Disclosures and KPIs Descriptions in this report Remarks
BH —REERER
BRER it AHEENEBEDS B
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
B A3 : IRIERRAER
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant  Not material Our operation does not
—RRHE impact on the environment and natural I REKX have a significant impact
resources. on the natural
environment and the
BERBITAHRERRAAERENEAFE availability of natural
HIBUER © resources.
ZMHEETSHAR
RBERRAE RS A B
BEBKERTE -
KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of  Not material Our operation does not
AR B IEIZE ASA activities on the environment and natural Y RE&EKX have a significant impact

resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

R EBEHEHRRERRABERNERTZE
REFRERBRTZEN 178 -

on the natural
environment and the
availability of natural
resources.

HAIHIETEE B ARIR
RRAEIRNAAEY
BBARE
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPlIs
BH —REERER
BRER

Related chapters

Descriptions in this report

i FHRENERED

Remarks

fEaE

Aspect B1: Employment
B Bl : &%

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Information on: Our Employees

BMES
(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.

BEH M RAEE  BERES  TERE
B FEHKE ik - RIERAREM
FERER

@ BX:R

b)) BITHETABEAZENHEBER
&8l

RYERS -
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We are in compliance
with the laws and
regulations related to
employment and labour
practices, including those
related to compensation
and dismissal,
recruitment and
promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity diversity, and
anti-discrimination.
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPls
BH —REERER
BRER

Descriptions

it

Related chapters
in this report Remarks

R ENERED B

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[ETHE B2 : EREZ S

General Disclosure

— R

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working

environment and protecting employees from

occupational hazards.

BIIRGR S TR RIRAHE AR SR %
tfE B -

@ BER:R

b) BEFTHETABEAXENHBER
K51

B R -

Our Employees

HMmES

We are in compliance
with the laws and
regulations related to
working environment and
occupational health and
safety.

BPETERRRAL

BERRENZZHED
KRB -
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Aspects, General Related chapters

Disclosures and KPIs Descriptions in this report Remarks
BH —REERER

BRER it AR EANHEBEEDS B

Aspect B3: Development and Training
B B3 : #R&E&IEI

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge = Our Employees We have established
—R %R and skills for discharging duties at work. HMHES policies on staff
Description of training activities. development and
training.

BRARAEE BT TIEBE & A KA
B - HEES - RMEHIETETRR
RIBFNEOBR
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
B B4 : 85T AR

General Disclosure Information on: Our Employees Our employment
—RHE KMHES practices are in
(a) the policies; and compliance with the
relevant labour laws and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations, and we do
regulations that have a significant not employ any child or
impact on the issuer forced labour.
relating to preventing child and forced labour. B8 1= (18 FIE AR
RAEY S5 TAERAAA - B
BB IEE T e blss TH BT EREEAEL

HIRHILT -
@ HE: R

b)) BTHETABEAZENHRER
K551

RO -
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPls
BH —REERER
BRER

Descriptions

it

Related chapters
in this report

R ENERED

Remarks

B

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EH B5 - HERETR

General Disclosure

— R

Policies on managing environmental and
social risks of the supply chain.

ERHEBNRE LTS RBREOR

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EWEB6: EmEME
General Disclosure

—ARIER

Information on:

() the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising,

labelling and privacy matters relating to

products and services provided and methods
of redress.

BRMREERMRENEZREERZ S - &
& BEELBEEARERIED

@ B R

b) BEBTHERTABEAZENHEBER
&Al

HEF -

Our relationship with
suppliers
R EEN R

ESG and Pine Care
Group

Compliance with
regulations

Our customers

ESG kil EEZERE

Br R

BMWER

We conduct regular
evaluation to assess the
quality of our supply
chain. The procurement
is undertaken through
open and fair
competition.

BAVE B (TR AT
B - SR
BARRATHBETE
GE

We are in compliance
with the laws and
regulations related to
RCHE Code of Practice
Residential Care Home
(Eldery Persons)
Ordinance (RCH(EP)O)
and its subsidiary
legislation.

BB TERLERE
7 Bl K H MY A B 69
EDI R FRB -
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPlIs
BH —REERER
BRER

Descriptions

i

Related chapters
in this report

FHRENERED

Remarks

fEaE

Aspect B7: Anticorruption
[E®E B7 : R&E)S
General Disclosure

—RIKE

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BRI IEERER - $1R - BREE LR -
@ BX:R

b)) BEBTHETABEAZENHEBER
K51

AR -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[ETH B8 : ft@KE
General Disclosure
— R

Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of

the communities where the issuer

operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

BRI RSERT @REERELRTRM
EREEBRSEE BiEMENBOR
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Our Employees

HMMEE

Our Community

BAIEL R

We have established and
complied with policies
regarding anti-corruption

HMERE R ETHEH
REISHIBUR

We encourage our staff
and our residents to
participate in community

activities and events

HMEmE I ki 2
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Report of the Directors

ESEHRE

The directors of Pine Care Group Limited present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019
(the “Consolidated Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding, whilst its major
operating subsidiaries are engaged in the provision of elderly home care

services.

The business review required under Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing by the Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
under review using financial key performance indicators and an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, is set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” (pages 6 to 10) and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” (pages 11 to 18) of this annual report, and a description of the
environmental policies and performance is set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 46 to 68 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this “Report of the Directors”.

An analysis of the revenue and operating segment information during the
financial year is set out in note 6 and note 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements respectively.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

A list of principal subsidiaries, together with their places of incorporation and
particulars of their issued ordinary share capital and principal activities, is set
out in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The profit of the Group for FY2019, and the consolidated statement of
financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019 are set out in the
Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 100 to 103 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors

ESEHRE

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company attaches great importance to returns to investors and maintain
the continuity and stability of its profit distribution policy. According to the
dividend policy adopted by the Company, the Board would consider the
profitability and capital requirements of the Company, as well as other factors
the Board may consider relevant, before declaring or recommending
dividends.

DIVIDENDS

On 22 November 2018, the Board resolved to declare an interim dividend of
HK0.84 cent per ordinary share to the Company’s shareholders, representing
a total of approximately HK$7,584,000 for FY2019.

The Board proposed the payment of a final dividend of HKO.78 cent per
ordinary share for FY2019 (FY2018: HK0.84 cent). The proposed final dividend
is subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company at the 2019 AGM
to be held on Friday, 30 August 2019 and is payable to shareholders of the
Company whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on Tuesday, 10 September 2019. It is expected that
the final dividend, if approved, will be paid on Monday, 30 September 2019.

Together with the interim dividend of HK0.84 cent per ordinary share declared
for FY2019, the total distribution of dividend by the Company for FY2019 wil
be HK1.62 cents per ordinary share.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 27 August
2019 to Friday, 30 August 2019, both dates inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the 2019 AGM, unregistered holders of shares of the Company should
ensure that all share transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, are lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 26 August 2019.

For determining the entitiement to the said proposed final dividend, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 9 September 2019
to Tuesday, 10 September 2019, both dates inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be qualified for the said
proposed final dividend, unregistered holders of shares of the Company
should ensure that all share transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, are lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at the above address for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6 September 2019.
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Report of the Directors

ESEHRE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results and the consolidated financial position
of the Group for the last five financial years ended 31 March 2019 is set out on
page 192 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year under review, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

We treasure our relationship with the key stakeholders which comprise
customers, employees, bankers and suppliers, and we are able to maintain
our sound relationship and obtain continuous support from the key
stakeholders. Description of our relationship with the key stakeholders is set
out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 46 to 68
of this annual report.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For FY2019, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers were approximately 47.2%, while the sales attributable to the
Group’s largest customer during the year under review were approximately
45.9%.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
during the year under review were approximately 43.8%, while the purchases
attributable to the Group’s largest supplier during the year under review were
approximately 14.0%.

Save for Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, the Company’s controlling shareholder, the
Chairman of the Board and an executive director, who was beneficially
interested in 6.8% of the issued shares in the Group’s largest supplier, none of
the directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
shares) had an interest in the Group’s major suppliers or customers.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Movements in the reserves of the Company during the year under review are
set out in note 41 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Movements in the
reserves of the Group are reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Changes
in Equity.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31
March 2019 amounted to approximately HK$148.8 million (2018: HK$148.8
million).
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ESEHRE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of
the Cayman Islands where the Company is incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares to existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year under review amounted to
HK$70,000.

BANK BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2019 are set out
in note 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year under review are set out in note 14 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year under
review are set out in note 28 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed below, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that
require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year
under review or subsisted at the end of the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 23 January 2017. The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options
to the eligible participants to recruit and retain high-caliber employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include, but are not limited
to, (i) any employee or director of any member of the Group or of any company
in which the Company holds, directly or indirectly, an equity interest (the
“Invested Entity”) (including any full-time or part-time employee, executive
director, non-executive director and independent non-executive director); (i)
any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (iii) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (iv) any
person or entity that provides research, development or other technological
support to the Group or any Invested Entity.
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ESEHRE

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, grant an option to eligible
participant(s) to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an exercise price
and subject to the other terms of the Share Option Scheme. The offer of a
grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of offer
upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee to
the Company. Unless otherwise determined by the directors and stated in the
offer to a grantee, a grantee is not required to hold an option for any minimum
period nor achieve any performance targets before the exercise of an option
granted to him/her.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified by the
directors of the Company to the grantee thereof, and in the absence of such
determination, from the date of acceptance of the offer of such option to the
earlier of (i) the date on which such option lapses under the relevant provisions
of the Share Option Scheme; and (ii) the date falling 10 years from the offer
date of that option.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options granted to each
eligible participant in accordance with the Share Option Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further grant is subject to the shareholders’ approval
in general meeting with the participant and the close associates of such
participant (or his/her/its associates if the participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting.

Each grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of the Company, or any of their respective associates, must be approved by
the independent non-executive directors of the Company (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is the grantee of the options). Where
any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director, or any of their respective associates, would result in the
Company’s shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in excess of 0.1% of the issued shares of the
Company in aggregate and with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of offer) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, is subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in
general meeting.

The exercise price of share options is determined by the Board, but shall be at
least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more board
lots of the shares of the Company on the date of offer of the option; (i) the
average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer of the option; and (i) the nominal value of a
Company’s share.
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The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years commencing on
the date on which the Share Option Scheme is adopted. The maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options granted
and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 86,400,000 shares,
representing 10% of the Company’s shares in issue on the date of listing of
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange and approximately 9.57% of
the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of this report. No option has
been granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 29 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS
The directors who held office during the year under review and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Yim Ting Kwok (Chairman)

Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei (Chief executive officer)

Mr. Chan Yip Keung (Chief financial officer)

Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin

Ms. Cho Wing Yin (resigned on 7 December 2018)

Non-executive directors

Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex

Mr. Lam Yat Hon

Mr. Ma Wing Wah (resigned on 7 December 2018)

Independent non-executive directors

Dr. Wong Ping San John

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang

Dr. Liu Yuk Shing

Mr. Liu Walter Joseph (resigned on 7 December 2018)

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui

Hin and Mr. Lam Yat Hon shall retire by rotation at the 2019 AGM. All of the
above three retiring directors are eligible for re-election at the 2019 AGM.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
PROFILES

Brief biographical details of directors and senior management of the Company
are set out on pages 19 to 26 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2019 AGM has
a service contract with the Company that is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the Board the
remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the directors. The
remuneration of all directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their remuneration and
compensation are appropriate. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in
note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” and
note 37 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
director or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from the Share Option Scheme operated by the Company as disclosed
in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, neither at the end of nor
at any time during the year there subsisted any arrangement to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and the objects of or one of
the objects of such arrangement are/is to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance (including those for provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholders) has been
entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the year under review.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group had the following continuing

connected transactions (the “CCT”), details of which are set out below in

compliance with the requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

A)

76

Zhejiang Tenancy Agreement
A tenancy agreement (the “Zhejiang Tenancy Agreement”) was entered
into between Zhejiang Pine Care Yada Elderly Services Limited
(“Zhejiang Pine Care Yada”, a subsidiary of the Company) as lessee and
Zhejiang Yada International Rehabilitation Hospital Co., Limited
(“Zhejiang Yada International”) as lessor.

Date: 29 November 2017

The term of the tenancy: 1 December 2017 to 31 December 2027

Upon expiration of the term of the tenancy, Zhejiang Pine Care Yada
has the first right to renew the lease.

Premises being leased: Pursuant to the Zhejiang Tenancy Agreement,
Zhejiang Yada International agreed to lease to Zhejiang Pine Care Yada
the whole of Third Floors in Buildings C1 & C2 of Zhejiang Yada
International Rehabilitation Hospital, Wuzhen Town, Tongxiang City,
Zhejiang Province, The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), with a
total floor area of approximately 7,190 square metres (equivalent to
approximately 77,400 square feet) (the “Zhejiang Premises”) for setting
up residential care home for elderly. The Zhejiang Premises is of great
convenience to the elderly residents to obtain medical support, which is
ideal for establishment of a quality elderly residential care home and
enables the Group to strengthen its branding in the Mainland China.

Basis of pricing: The rentals under the Zhejiang Tenancy Agreement
are determined with reference to and taking into account (i) the
prevailing market rental of similar properties with similar business nature
in nearby locations in Zhejiang, the PRC; (i) the location of the Zhejiang
Premises; and (iii) the expected inflation rate in future.
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Rental: The rental for the Zhejiang Premises on an annual basis from
years 2018 to 2021 is RMB3,019,800 (the “Annual Rental”). In order to
support the development of the business of Zhejiang Pine Care Yada,
Zhejiang Yada International and Zhejiang Pine Care Yada agree that:

U

(i)

(i)

)

(V)

For the period from 1 December 2017 to 31 December 2017:
rent-free period, but property management fees and utilities fees
shall be borne by Zhejiang Pine Care Yada;

For the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018: 20%
of the Annual Rental;

For the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019: 50%
of the Annual Rental;

For the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020: 80%
of the Annual Rental;

For the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021:
Annual Rental; and

For the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2027: the
rental (on annual basis) shall increase from the Annual Rental by
8% every 2 years.

The above rental does not include property management fees and
utilities fees (including water, electricity, heating, gas, telephone, data,
cable television charges, etc.).
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Annual Caps: The annual caps for the transactions contemplated
under the Zhejiang Tenancy Agreement, which are determined based
on the rental to be received by Zhejiang Yada International in respect of
the tenancy, are as follows:

For the year ended/ending 31 March

FELER:MNIBEEHHEBTRETHNRS
FE LR TyRBONT M2 B 5L A8 & 5 U EX
MBESERE - WEIIWT

BE3A31BILLEE

RMB’000

ARETTT
2018 (from 1 December 2017) 20185 (B 2017512 A1 Hi#E) 160
2019 20194F 880
2020 2020 4F 1,830
2021 2021 4F 2,700
2022 2022 F 3,240
2023 2023 4F 3,430
2024 2024 F 3,500
2025 2025 F 3,700
2026 2026 F 3,780
2027 2027 4 4,000
2028 (up to 31 December 2027) 2028 F (HZ= 2027 12A31H) 3,000

The total amount of rental payable for the year ended 31 March 2019
amounted to approximately RMB830,000, which was within the annual
cap of RMB880,000.

Yada International (HK) Limited (“Yada HK”) is a substantial shareholder
of Pine Care Yada Elderly Services Limited, which is a subsidiary of the
Company. Yada HK and Yada Healthcare Industry Development Co.,
Limited (“Yada Health”) are fellow subsidiaries of Yada International
Holdings Limited and Zhejiang Yada International is a subsidiary of Yada
Health. Accordingly, Zhejiang Yada International is an associate of Yada
HK and therefore a connected person of the Company at subsidiary
level. The entering into of the Zhejiang Tenancy Agreement constitutes
continuing connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Details of the transaction are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 29 November 2017.
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(B)

Patina Wellness Tenancy Agreement

A tenancy agreement (the “Patina Wellness Tenancy Agreement”) was
entered into between Patina Wellness Limited (“Patina Wellness”, a
subsidiary of the Company) as lessee and Everhost Limited (“Everhost”)
as lessor.

Date: 13 April 2018

The term of the tenancy: 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2028

Premises being leased: Pursuant to the Patina Wellness Tenancy
Agreement, Everhost agreed to lease to Patina Wellness the building
named “Patina” and situated at 18 Junction Road, Kowloon City, Hong
Kong, excluding 30th Floor and the flat roof together with 2 carparks,
with a total floor area of approximately 84,000 square feet (the “Patina
Premises”) for setting up and operating residential care home for the
elderly, clinic, service apartments, clubhouse and restaurant.

The Patina Premises will enable the Group to expand its business in
Hong Kong for the operation of an upscale community for the elderly
with the concept of an “Integrated Senior Wellness Hub” to expand its
business coverage to active seniors who require a lower level of care
compared to traditional RCHE residents, while at the same time, widen
the breadth of its service offerings for this emerging market segment.

Basis of pricing: The rentals payable under the Patina Wellness
Tenancy Agreement are determined with reference to and taking into
account (i) prevailing market rents for comparable premises in the area
where the Patina Premises are situated; (i) the location of the Patina
Premises; and (iii) the expected inflation rate in the future.
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Rental: Details of monthly rental for the Patina Premises (exclusive of
rates and management fees and all other outgoings) are set out as
follows:

(i) From 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2022, the monthly rental shall be
HK$2,000,000 or 38% of the gross revenue of Patina Wellness
for each month, whichever is higher;

(i) From 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2025, the monthly rental shall be
HK$2,320,000 or 38% of the gross revenue of Patina Wellness
for each month, whichever is higher; and

(iii) From 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2028, the monthly rental shall be
HK$2,691,200 or 38% of the gross revenue of Patina Wellness
for each month, whichever is higher.

Rent-free period: Everhost shall grant to Patina Wellness a rent-free
period of not more than 3 calendar months commencing from 1 April
2018 for carrying out renovation and decoration works within the Patina
Premises, provided that such rent-free period in respect of the 79
service apartments on 7/F to 29/F of the Patina Premises shall cease
on the date on which Patina Wellness commences business at that
portion of the Patina Premises.
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Annual Caps: The annual caps for the transactions contemplated
under the Patina Wellness Tenancy Agreement, which are determined
based on the rental to be received by Everhost in respect of the
tenancy, are as follows:

For the year ended/ending 31 March
BESASIALEE

FELR: WHEELEEREE NHETH
RH5FELERTDREXZHBEEKEINE
SEE - WEIIWT :

HK$

BT
2019 20194 23,208,600
2020 20204 24,000,000
2021 20214 24,000,000
2022 20224 24,000,000
2023 2023%F 27,840,000
2024 20244 27,840,000
2025 2025%F 27,840,000
2026 20264 32,294,400
2027 20274 32,294,400
2028 20284 32,294,400

The total amount of rental payable for the year ended 31 March 2019
amounted to approximately HK$19,736,200, which was within the
annual cap of HK$23,208,600.

Mr. Tang Yiu Sing is a substantial shareholder of Patina Wellness. Mr.
Tang Shing Bor, the father of Mr. Tang Yiu Sing, is beneficially
interested in the entire issued share capital of Everhost. Accordingly,
Everhost is an associate of Mr. Tang Yiu Sing and therefore a
connected person of the Company at subsidiary level. The entering into
of the Patina Wellness Tenancy Agreement constitutes continuing
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Details of the transaction are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 13 April 2018.
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The independent non-executive directors of the Company reviewed and
confirmed that the CCT had been entered into by the Group:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(i)  according to the agreements governing such transactions on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders and the Company as a whole.

The auditor of the Company were engaged to report on the continuing
connected transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transaction under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor of the Company has issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the CCT
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year under review, on 4 January 2019, Fully Trend Limited (an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Pine Active Care
Limited entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which
Pine Active Care Limited has conditionally agreed to sell, and Fully Trend
Limited has conditionally agreed to purchase, the entire issued share capital of
Giant Success International Holdings Limited (“Giant Success”). As Pine Active
Care Limited is the controlling shareholder of the Company, Pine Active Care
Limited is therefore a connected person of the Company and the acquisition
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

An indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company has been renting
properties situated in the Kwun Tong and Tsz Wan Shan districts in Hong
Kong from Giant Success for use as dormitories by the staff of the Group. The
acquisition can help to save rental expenses and eliminate (i) the risk in
securing future tenancy with Giant Success; and (i) the risk of incurring
possible future rental increase. Further details of the acquisition are set out in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements and the announcement of the
Company dated 4 January 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the directors of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), which were required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(A) Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

EENRETZTHRAERRKRS - HER
DRES 2 EERKXR

R2019F3 A31 8 * AREIEENAR AR REHL.

E(TERBFRBEEON(TESRBERN D E
XVER) P B B AMMB IR E F & H & 501 25 352 fik
REFEZELMABBIZETAANSEAQT R
BERZ AT 2 R~ MR D RESF R AR WOT ¢

Approximate
percentage* of
shareholding in
the Company

Name of director Capacity/nature of interest Number of shares HARD T RERN
Y B ERtE RBEE BHOBE D
Mr. Yim Ting Kwok Interest held by controlled corporations 604,800,000 66.99%
BRERI S R EER AN ER (Note 1) (Fi5E1)
Beneficial owner 4,568,000 0.50%
BEmEAA (Note 2) (M 2)
609,368,000 67.49%
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei Interest held by controlled corporations 604,800,000 66.99%
BOMESTAE R AER AR (Note 1) (FiFE1)
Beneficial owner 320,000 0.03%
EmfEaA
605,120,000 67.02%
Mr. Chan Yip Keung Beneficial owner 1,888,000 0.21%
PREE &R ST EREAA
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin Interest held by controlled corporations 604,800,000 66.99%
BSR4 R EER A S (Note 1) (Fi5E1)
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex Interest held by controlled corporations 604,800,000 66.99%
REEEE S EE A R (Note 1) (FiF&E1)
Member of a concert party group 4,568,000 0.50%
—BUTBALAERIKE (Note 2) (FiFzE2)
609,368,000 67.49%
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Notes: Bt EI .

1. These shares are held by Pine Active Care Limited (“Pine Active Care”), 1.
which is owned as to 90% by Silverage Pine Care Limited (“Silverage Pine
Care”) and 10% by Silverage Pillar Limited (“Silverage Pillar”). Silverage
Pine Care is in turn owned as to an aggregate of 74.25% by Mr. Yim Ting
Kwok, Ms. Cho Wing Yin (spouse of Mr. Yim Ting Kwok), Mr. Ng Kwok Fu
Alex, Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty (spouse of Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex), Mr. Yim Billy
Pui Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin and Ms. Chu Lai King (senior management
of the Company); whereas Silverage Pillar is in turn owned as to an
aggregate of 93.58% by Mr. Yim Ting Kwok and Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex.
Therefore, Silverage Pine Care, Silverage Pillar, Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Ms.
Cho Wing Yin, Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty, Mr. Yim Billy
Pui Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin and Ms. Chu Lai King are deemed to be
interested in the shares of the Company held by Pine Active Care pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

2. Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex and Ms. Cho Wing Yin entered 2.
into the Acting In Concert Confirmation And Undertaking on 7 September
2016, pursuant to which they would vote as a group (by themselves and/
or through companies controlled by them) at the shareholder and/or board
levels. Accordingly, Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex is deemed to be interested in
these shares of the Company held by Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, based on the
said acting-in-concert relationship pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

h The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares involved divided *
by the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 31 March 2019.

#% % B% {7 /@ Pine Active Care Limited ([Pine
Active Care|) #5 & + ifiPine Active Care i
Silverage Pine Care Limited ([ Silverage Pine
Care]) K Silverage Pillar Limited ([ Silverage
Pillar]) 3 51145 5 90% K& 10% & # © Silverage
Pine Care BB 7 Bl 58 4 + & skt 22 + (B E
BEEMRB) REELRE  BEBXL
(REESAEMRSE)  BRHELE - BE
EERKRBREZT(RARAARREERE)EH
A 74.25% I 4 © 1M Silverage Pillar F 8% 7&
B % 4 I R B S RS M 93.58% AR AE -
At REZEHRRBE KO EXVE:
Silverage Pine Care * Silverage Pillar + & €
Sk Bkt REEXE BEEX
T+ BOTELLE  BTEHEERKABERERLZL
W18 AR Pine Active Care#58 H:Z E AR A
&7 R A A o

BEELLE REEEERBERFL LR
2016 F9 A7 BET M —AITB) iR R A 76
Bt BEBERRER SESESEEL{E
B—HEATERE(EFESEAGRWEBRZHE
FEFOAR) - At - RIEBEEH RS KO
EXVED  BER Ll —STBMEGR - REEL
EWEARBTERALERBEZEARRRMR
MDA o

BEBEDIES R L BREE BRIAKARAF]
R 201943 A 31 HHEE/TIRHEE -

(B) Long position in the shares of associated (B) RALNTMEE EZERMONETR

corporations of the Company

Approximate
percentage* of
shareholding in
the associated

Name of associated Number of corporation
corporation Name of director Capacity/nature of interest shares {HiEEEERER
THEEE 8 BEEnE 54 BRtE RHBE BMABD >
Silverage Pine Care Mr. Yim Ting Kwok Beneficial owner 32,684,558 43.00%
BRE BT E EmfEA A
Interest of spouse 4,993,649 6.59%
[t
Interest held jointly with another person 18,685,316 24.66%
5 — AT HERHEER
56,263,523 74.25%
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Approximate
percentage* of
shareholding in
the associated

Name of associated Number of corporation
corporation Name of director Capacity/nature of interest shares {HiEEEERER
M EE S B EEpR B RRnE RO E BMOBD >
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei Beneficial owner 4,826,657 6.37%

BOmE S E EnEEA
Interest held jointly with another person 51,436,866 67.88%

BE— AT HRBENRER

56,263,523 74.25%
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin  Beneficial owner 139,300 0.19%
BOBE KA BER#EBA
Interest held jointly with another person 56,124,223 74.06%
5 — AT HEFANER
56,263,523 74.25%
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex  Beneficial owner 7,491,591 9.89%
REELE EnEAA
Interest of spouse 550,306 0.73%
[ingiists 2oy
Interest held jointly with another person 48,221,626 63.63%
BB — ATHRABENERE
56,263,523 74.25%
Mr. Lam Yat Hon Beneficial owner 3,502,826 4.62%

MiRERE E=nEAA
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Approximate
percentage* of
shareholding in
the associated

Name of associated Number of corporation
corporation Name of director Capacity/nature of interest shares {HiEEEERER
B EE £ B BEEMR B3 EmtE BRHEE BABEA
Pine Active Care Mr. Yim Ting Kwok Interest held by controlled corporations 100 100%
BRE R A X EE R AR R
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei Interest held by controlled corporation 90 90%
S oiE=S RIEER AR
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin  Interest held by controlled corporation 90 90%
BOhE S R EE R AN
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex Interest held by controlled corporations 100 100%
REELE R EER AR

Note: Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Ms. Cho Wing Yin (spouse of Mr. Yim Ting Kwok), Mr.
Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty (spouse of Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex),
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin and Ms. Chu Lai King (senior
management of the Company) held an aggregate of 74.25% of the issued
share capital of Silverage Pine Care, which in tumn held 90% of the issued
share capital of Pine Active Care. The remaining 10% of the issued share
capital of Pine Active Care is held by Silverage Pillar, which in turn owned
as to an aggregate of 93.58% by Mr. Yim Ting Kwok and Mr. Ng Kwok Fu
Alex.

As Pine Active Care holds more than 50% of the issued share capital of
the Company and Silverage Pine Care holds more than 50% of the issued
share capital of Pine Active Care, Pine Active Care and Silverage Pine
Care are the associated corporations of the Company within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO.

X The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares involved divided
by the number of issued shares of the associated corporation as at 31
March 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the directors or chief
executive of the Company had registered an interest or a short position in the
shares or underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register maintained by the Company referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, the following parties (other than the directors or chief

executive of the Company) have interests or short positions in the shares or

underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of interests

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

FERRARORBERGD 2ERER

S B
IR=F

R2019F3A31H U TEA(RRRIESEHEE
TERA BEBRIN) RAR BB s BRI D R A AR
B IRIEE S R EIEHISE 336 IR 2 MEFE 2
S AMERSIAR

RARBDEBRNOFR

Approximate
percentage* of
shareholding in
the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest Number of shares HARDFREN

RREE 513 EmitE RHEE BABE D

Pine Active Care Beneficial owner 604,800,000 66.99%
EmlaA (Note 1) (Mi5E1)

Silverage Pine Care Interest held by controlled corporation 604,800,000 66.99%
R AR AR (Note 1) (Fi5E1)

Silverage Pillar Interest held by controlled corporation 604,800,000 66.99%
R AR A S (Note 1) (Fi5E1)

Ms. Cho Wing Yin Interest held by controlled corporations 604,800,000 66.99%
Bkt R AR A S (Note1) (Ff5E1)

Member of a concert party group 4,568,000 0.50%
—BITEALAERINE (Note 2) (Ff5E2)

609,368,000 67.49%

Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty Interest held by controlled corporation 604,800,000 66.99%
FEBZT R EEE A S (Note 1) (FiF&E1)

Ms. Chu Lai King Interest held by controlled corporation 604,800,000 66.99%
KERKL R EERE A S (Note 1) (Fi5E1)

Ms. Cheung Sui Wa Scarlett Interest of spouse 605,120,000 67.02%
SRINE L L fe (B (Note 3) (Fif5E3)

Ms. Lock Hiu Yan Crystal Interest of spouse 604,800,000 66.99%
SREEE Lt fid B (Note 4) (FizE4)

Yada International (HK) Limited Beneficial owner 85,536,000 9.47%

BEmEAA
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Notes:

These shares are held by Pine Active Care, which is owned as to 90% by
Silverage Pine Care and 10% by Silverage Pillar. Silverage Pine Care is in turn
owned as to an aggregate of 74.25% by Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Ms. Cho Wing Yin
(spouse of Mr. Yim Ting Kwok), Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty
(spouse of Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex), Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin and
Ms. Chu Lai King (senior management of the Company); whereas Silverage Pillar
is in turn owned as to an aggregate of 93.58% by Mr. Yim Ting Kwok and Mr. Ng
Kwok Fu Alex. Accordingly, Silverage Pine Care, Silverage Pillar, Ms. Suen Mi Lai
Betty and Ms. Chu Lai King are deemed to be interested in these shares pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex and Ms. Cho Wing Yin entered into the
Acting In Concert Confirmation And Undertaking on 7 September 2016, pursuant
to which they would vote as a group (by themselves and/or through companies
controlled by them) at the shareholder and/or board levels. Accordingly, Ms. Cho
Wing Yin is deemed to be interested in these shares held by Mr. Yim Ting Kwok,
based on the said acting-in-concert relationship pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Ms. Cheung Sui Wa Scarlett is deemed to be interested in these shares of the
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei. The relevant
interest of Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei was disclosed in the above section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures”.

Ms. Lock Hiu Yan Crystal is deemed to be interested in these shares of the
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin. The relevant
interest of Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin was disclosed in the above section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures”.

The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares involved divided by the
number of the Company’s issued shares as at 31 March 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, no person, other than the

directors whose interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and

Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares

and Debentures” above, had registered an interest or a short position in the

shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of

interests required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the usual

course of business are set out in note 37 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements. These related party transactions constitute de minimis continuing

connected transactions of the Company that are exempt from the reporting,

annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval

requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

World Pine Elderly Care Services Limited (“World Pine”), a limited liability
company established in the PRC, is owned as to 50% by each of Pine Care
China Limited (a company incorporated in Hong Kong and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of Pine Active Care Limited, one of the controlling
shareholders of the Company) and an independent third party (the “JV
Partner”).

The board of directors of World Pine comprises four directors. Each of Pine
Care China Limited and the JV Partner has the right to nominate two directors.
The chairman of the board of directors of World Pine shall be jointly nominated
by Pine Care China Limited and the JV Partner. Currently, the directors of
World Pine include Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei and Mr. Chan Yip Keung (being
directors of the Company).

The scope of business of World Pine as allowed under its business licence
covers investment consulting service, elderly care consulting service,
organisation of cultural programmes and activities for the elderly, health
consulting service (excluding medical practice), leasing, wholesaling, import
and export of household appliances, computers, electrical appliances,
household sundries and related business (excluding financial leasing,
commodities subject to quota and licensing regulated by the relevant national
regulations), and computer software development. World Pine was established
for the purposes of exploration of opportunities in the elderly care business in
Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Shanghai in the PRC.

Since the date of establishment of World Pine and up to the date of this
report, World Pine had not commenced any business operations. As disclosed
in the 2018 annual report of the Company, to streamline the Group’s
development of elderly care home business in the PRC, Pine Active Care
Limited, the Company’s controlling shareholder, has resolved the
deregistration of World Pine in the PRC. As at 31 March 2019, the
deregistration process of World Pine has yet been completed.

Save as disclosed above, during the year under review, no director was
interested in any business apart from the Group’s business, which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

EENHFRB 2ES

FINMER L ZRIEAR AT (A TR RYIHAR])
ARPBRERYMBEREEAR  ARKRTEEES
RAE (RBEBFEMK LA AR RAREERRE 2
—Pine Active Care Limited® @i 2 &G MME R F))
R—2BIE=F([&EBH])EBHE50%HE

RYMEMNEESHUREFTHK - NikTEEE

ERATRABBHOEERE EMAETE R
HRHEFEEFARLRTEEZERATRA

BREHARRS BE  RIERNESBREED
%%i&ﬁ%%%ﬁ?ﬁi(i@ﬁﬂiA ANES) -

Y RAERZFAETETHERRERER
éu AR - EAEEFARE  AEXCES R
RETY  REZARG (TRESRER)  HE
HE EHORE B B REARLEH
B (T EEeRiE  REFRRSNHRLEHE
FARENFTAI ) REEEFE - RYERRAT
RAPBERY - BN R EBRRZERBOEE MK
SLHY e

RV BB REEARE B Rt
AN R P R I ZE S & 58 o AR A F 2018 F ¥R
TEZF?E ’ EEJHEZKEI)‘SAEP BN ZEREEBERE
AN A B2 R A% 3R Pine Active Care Limited 2 &R 7

aﬁﬁ%aﬂmﬂ\lﬁm - BZE2019F3 A31 8 &Y
AR S B R F A M R TR

B EXFTIREESN  ROEFRA F?KE@%?T%?\\ ;
BEESENEARBEEGEZIEEBREF X

BERE KB FE M XS %ﬁﬁéﬁi@%imﬁﬁwﬁ
3 R R AR

2019%% NBEEEEERAT 89



Report of the Directors

ESEHRE

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Pursuant to the deed of non-competition undertakings (the “Non-competition
Undertakings”) dated 26 January 2017 (the “Deed”), each of the Company’s
controlling shareholders (i.e. Pine Active Care Limited, Silverage Pine Care
Limited, Silverage Pillar Limited, Mr. Yim Ting Kwok, Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex,
Ms. Cho Wing Yin, Ms. Suen Mi Lai Betty, Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin
Pui Hin and Ms. Chu Lai King) and their respective associates have undertaken
to and covenanted with the Company that, each of them would not, and
would procure none of their associates to engage in any business that is or is
likely to be in competition with that of the Group. For details of the Deed,
please refer to the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders”
in the Prospectus. If the controlling shareholders become aware of any
business opportunities, they will notify the Company of such opportunities and
will procure that such business opportunities are first offered to the Group
upon terms which are fair and reasonable.

Each of the above-mentioned controlling shareholders, and their respective
associates have confirmed to the Company of their compliance with the Non-
competition Undertakings provided to the Company.

During the FY2019, the controlling shareholders did not take up and did not
offer or make available to the Company any opportunity to invest, participate,
be engaged in and/or operate with a third party any Restricted Business (as
defined in the Deed) and declared that they had complied with the
requirements on the Non-competition Undertakings as set out in the Deed.

At a meeting of the Audit Committee held on 18 June 2019, all the
independent non-executive directors reviewed the confirmations from the
controlling shareholders in respect of the Non-competition Undertakings which
were submitted to the Company on 18 June 2019 and confirmed compliance
with the Non-competition Undertakings by the controlling shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or in
existence during the year under review.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
March 2019.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

[t was announced by the Company on 18 September 2017 that Pine Care
Elderly Home Development Limited (“Pine Care Elderly”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Yada International (HK) Limited (“Yada
HK?”) established Pine Care Yada Elderly Services Limited (the “JV Company”).
The JV Company is held as to 51% by Pine Care Elderly and 49% by Yada HK
and the JV Company is therefore a subsidiary of the Company. Yada HK
became a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of a
subsidiary of the Company upon the formation of the JV Company.

As Yada HK became a substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the
Company, under the Listing Rules, it becomes a core connected person of the
Company which holds approximately 9.47% of the entire issued share capital
of the Company. The aggregate interest of the Company held by Yada HK,
which is a core connected person of the Company, Pine Active Care and
other connected persons in the Company is approximately 77.21% whereas
the public float of the Company is approximately 22.79%.

According to Rule 13.32(4) of the Listing Rules, where the public float has
fallen below 25%, the Stock Exchange may refrain from suspension of trading
in the shares of the Company if the Stock Exchange is satisfied that there
remains an open market in the Shares and the shortfall in the public float arose
purely from an increased or newly acquired holding of the Shares by a person
who is core connected person only because it is a substantial shareholder of
the Company or its subsidiaries.
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To the best knowledge of the Directors, the conditions set out in Rule 13.32(4)
are satisfied because:

o an open market remains; and

o when the directors of the Company (“Directors”) became aware of the
shortfall in the public float, they had immediately made an enquiry and
understood that Yada HK is independent of the Company, the Directors
and the other substantial shareholders. Yada HK has no representative
on the Board. Yada HK becomes a core connected person only
because it became a substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the
Company.

The Company and its controlling shareholder, Pine Active Care Limited, will
take various appropriate steps to ensure the restoration of the minimum
prescribed percentage of public float to public hands as soon as possible.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) for the benefit of the directors of the Company and its associated
companies is currently in force and was in force throughout the year under
review.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee (consisting of the three independent non-executive
directors) has reviewed with management the principal accounting policies
adopted by the Group and discussed risk management, internal controls and
financial reporting matters including a review of the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young, the auditor of the Company, will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the 2019 AGM. A resolution will be
submitted to the 2019 AGM to seek shareholders’ approval on the re-
appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s auditor until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Pine Care Group Limited

Yim Ting Kwok

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 18 June 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
MR R E S

e
EY::

To the shareholders of Pine Care Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pine Care Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on
pages 100 to 191, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“‘HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B AR (3

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

HREZER

BREZEIE @)

AEBHE BT ARE ERAR B A D HHE
FAENEF—SRRGEL  AERREEEEH
BB o UL AREETRER TR EHT AR
W RS B SRR B A R AR TS
B - BRRFNEREERENT EEHHT
W BRENRA M RENERE RIREER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REBMNBERNIEEFARERSEE

Goodwill impairment testing

RIE Bl B AL

As at 31 March 2019, the Group carried goodwill of HK$33,833,000 in the
consolidated statement of financial position, which arose from the acquisition
of controlling interests in companies principally engaged in the provision of
elderly home care services.

R2019F 3 A31H - BEEENRE MR R A58 33,833,000 %
T BeHARPEFENEREEZ ARERBERBH A R A ERER M E
)

Management is required to perform a goodwill impairment test at least on an
annual basis. The impairment test involves complex and subjective
management judgements, a high degree of management estimation and the
use of assumptions to determine the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated, including estimates about the future
cash flows. Management is also required to determine suitable discount
rates in order to calculate the present value of the cash flows.
ERENAELFFETHERENRN R  RERAEY KRN 8N
EREHE  SENEREEMAANEARRAEEESLEHENRSED
BUWEE BEIRKREERENGT - RTAERERENRE &
BEEFERTSEMNIE -

Related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 20 to the consolidated

financial statements.

HRAREI AR S M MARMEE4 I 20 °
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Our audit procedures included evaluating the key
assumptions used to forecast future cash flows and
the discount rates applied. We evaluated the
sensitivity of a reasonably possible change in the
growth rates and the discount rates to the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units. We
involved our internal specialists in the evaluation of
the methodology and key assumptions adopted. We
also assessed the disclosures on the impairment test,
specifically the key assumptions that had the most
significant effect on the determination of the
recoverable amount of the goodwill, such as the
discount rates and the growth rates.
RZEEMETEZIZ T - BFERTE AR AR KR
ReMEMABEENMRE - NZEETETREE
H B8 {7 &9 A U [e] & BB $T 38 R R ANRL IR R 0y & R AT %
BB - ARBMTHBRMOATEEAL
FHEFTER AR A R SRR - AR BIETE BRIE
BB BRITSEITRI - 5l 2 BT 8 AT i al
SHTERANTERDR MR EFERE -



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B AR E (4

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BREXEE

B EIZ S IE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FREMNFLNAEEREERER

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment

W¥ - BB RREXRETE

Included in the property, plant and equipment of the Group as at 31 March
2019 are certain assets with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$41,891,000 relating to an elderly home care service cash-generating unit
which has been operating at a loss. As there is an indication that these
assets may be impaired, management is required to perform an impairment
assessment on these assets. The impairment assessment involves complex
and subjective management judgements, a high degree of management
estimation and the use of assumptions to determine the value in use of the
cash-generating unit, including estimates about the future cash flows.
Management is also required to determine a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of the cash flows.
R2019F3A31H ESENYE BEARXBEESETEREER
41,891,000 7T - M ER &R (BEEELER) ERNRSENLEM -
HRNZEEERIRE  BRBAHZSEEETRENE  RENEY
MERMEBNEREHE SENEREMTNERARRIKBREHELED
BUMNEREE SREYRRRESRENMEET - BTHERSRENIE

EREER BT ABOMTE -

Related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

HEARBEIAGRA P IERERMEEL R 14 -

Our audit procedures included evaluating the Group’s
policies and procedures in identifying impairment
indicators and the key assumptions used to forecast
future cash flows and the discount rate applied. We
evaluated the sensitivity of a reasonably possible
change in the growth rate and the discount rate to
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.
We also assessed the disclosures on the impairment
assessment, specifically the key assumptions that
had the most significant effect on the determination
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit, such as the discount rate and the growth rate.
AZBAVETOEZER - BFETH ESERT
BEEENEREREF UEARBARRRE R
ENMPRREROMR - AR HTHREELEM
BRI Bl & FEEE R BB RS IR Al se B
BRI o NEZBANREDRE BRI B ISR E TR -
HhleHEEReEL B A KB BT ERAN
FERF - MR EFIEREK o

201958 MNiEEEEERAR 95



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B ZRBAHRE (&)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B AR E (4

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B ZRBAHRE (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied

with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B AR E (4

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine that
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and is therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Chow Chi Chung.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

18 June 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Year ended 31 March 2019 # 22019 3H31HIFF/E

REVENUE

Other income and gains
Amortisation

Depreciation

Staff costs

Property rental and related expenses
Food and beverage costs
Utility expenses

Supplies and consumables
Repair and maintenance
Other operating expenses
Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax expenses

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY

Basic and diluted

¢

H AU A R s
e

&

8 TR
VxRS REBFRX
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Notes
(i

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FAET
186,782 170,688
489 6,323
(3,093) (3,093)
(11,964) (8,193)
(89,783) (83,102)
(20,321) (16,523)
(8,530) (8,352)
(6,945) (6,603)
(5,709) (5,067)
(1,852) (2,323)
(21,527) (21,939)
(2,397) (2,901)
15,150 18,915
(1,690) (2,509)
13,460 16,406
13,435 16,418
25 12)
13,460 16,406

HK1.5 cents &1l

HK1.8 cents &1l




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEEEWNER

Year ended 31 March 2019 #Z2019F3H31HIFF/E

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME

Other comprehensive (loss)/income that will
not be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:
Actuarial (losses)/gains on retirement benefit
obligation

Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may be

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

FEEF
Hit2H (BE), WA

HKE‘EK‘ Lig i EF D R IB R
b2 (E1E), WA

ERBANEEZBE (BB,
Weas

BRER R ER 2R EEEN
H ﬁlé@(%ﬁ@)/l&i\
MEBINEBELNE L Z8

FEHEM2E (BE), KA
FEZHABALE

BATF 4 7 R ¢
BATHAEA
SRR 2

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHAT
13,460 16,406
(604) 861
(686) 496
(1,290) 1,357
12,170 17,763
12,145 17,775
25 (12)
12,170 17,763
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R R

31 March 2019 201943H31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Prepaid land lease payments

Intangible assets

Investment in a joint venture

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Goodwill

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from a joint venture

Trade receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

* Less than HK$1,000

Notes

BiFE
ERBEE
W - BB NERE 14
AR LA ER R 15
W AE 16
R—EAEEDEMNRE 17
TERRIE - EfEERIE R

HtEE 19
(&S 20
BAREFABRNEREE

21
FEREFRIBE E 27
EREEEREE
REBEE
N —MEERERE 17
B 5 W RIE 18
FERFE - Bt EUERTE &

HtEE 19
BEMRESEEY 22
MENEERTE
=R
B SN F0E 23
Hib A REREERA 24
FHERITIE R 25
FERHETE
mEEERTE
RE(BE) BEFHE
BEERTRBAE

¢ AN
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*

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FHAT
331,420 252,650
376,747 389,592
9,278 12,371
21,726 =
6,554 3,041
33,833 33,833
3,083 2,983
5,265 3,084
787,906 697,554
103 435
2,251 867
3,607 9,161
50,879 71,778
56,840 82,241
1,992 1,545
13,892 16,186
56,396 18,319
3,781 1,061
76,061 38,011
(19,221) 44,230
768,685 741,784

1,000 7T



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(Continued)

e MR R ()

31 March 2019 201943H31H

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Provision for long service payments
Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company

Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Yim Billy Pui Kei
BOmE
Director

BF

HoAth FE A 00R S FEF T B

RHRTS 15 SR
EEHBEAE

FERB BB

ARFEEFEA

Notes
Bt 5

24
25
26
27

28
30

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT THTT
5,059 2,306
537,120 513,285
4,441 3,621
14,984 14,453
561,604 533,665
207,081 208,119
9,029 9,029
191,179 194,202
200,208 203,231
6,873 4,888
207,081 208,119

Chan Yip Keung
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mEEESER

Year ended 31 March 2019 # 22019 3H31HIFF/E

Attributable to owners of the parent

SYNGEZ 2N L
Share-
Share based Exchange Non-
Issued  premium Merger  payment Other  fluctuation ~ Retained controlling Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
AR
BE{T ) RERFH EXRE) FiEik
A BEBE  AtHEE NG EMEE #E  REER fazt En Eafg
Note HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
(i3 TiEx TiEx TiEx TiET TiEx FHL FHL FHL FHT FHT
(Note 28) (Note 30)
(Mizx28) (MizE30)
At 1 April 2017 20176418 9,029 148,770 33,798 1,691 (357) - 15,278 208,209 - 208209
Profit/(loss) for the year FERR/ (FR) - - - - = - 16418 16418 (12) 16,406
Other comprehensive income  FEEMZERA
for the year:
Actuarial gains on RABHERZ
retirement benefit obligation BEWE - - - - 861 - - 861 - 861
Exchange differences on BEBINEBELEN
translation of foreign EHZES
operations - - - - - 496 - 496 - 496
Total comprehensive income/  E£E2EWA,/

(loss) for the year (BB ez - - - - 861 496 16,418 17,775 (12 17,763
Interim dividends RERS 12 = S = = = - 2783 (2789) - (22789
Capital injection from —ZIERRFEE

a non-controlling shareholder - - - - - - - - 4,900 4,900
At 31 March 2018 #2018 3 A 31 B 9,029 148,770 33,798" 1,691* 504* 496" 8,943 203,231 4,888 208,119
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
(Continued)

REER2EBHR(E)

Year ended 31 March 2019 #22019F3H31H IFF/E

Note
ik
At 1 April 2018 R2018E4A18H
Profit for the year FERT
Other comprehensive loss FEAMZERE
for the year:
Actuarial losses on retirement  RINEFIEFEY
benefit obligation REBE
Exchange differences on REBNEBEE
translation of foreign NESER
operations
Total comprehensive income/  FE2EKN/
(loss) for the year (B8 a8
Interim dividend RERS 12
Final dividend RERE 12
Capital injection from —EHERRR A

anon-controlling shareholder

At 31 March 2019 2019534318

2 These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$191,179,000  * ZEHBREIEN 20194 3 A 31 BELA MR
(2018: HK$194,202,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position as at % 191,179,000 7T (2018 £F : 194,202,000 7T.)
31 March 2019. ZEREER -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERER

Year ended 31 March 2019 # 22019 3H31HIFF/E

Notes
Bt s
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES &R ZHEBRERE
Profit before tax R 7 Al g )
Adjustments for: BT SEEL A
Finance costs R %N 8
Interest income B YA 7
Depreciation e 7
Amortisation b %] 7
Fair value gain on financial assets at BRAREFABENEREE
fair value through profit or loss KA ERE 7
Provision for long service payments, net REARB S 558 26
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMB A R W 7
Increase in trade receivables B 5 ENGRIEE N
Decrease in prepayments, other receivables TERRIE - EMEKEIE
and other assets REAMEERD
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables Z 5 EMFEE I, Ol )
Increase/(decrease) in other payables HEf e RIE R ERE R
and accruals #m,/ Crd)
Cash generated from operations KERSR S
Hong Kong profits tax paid BRI EENIFH
Interest received B UF S
Interest paid EAFIE
Net cash flows from operating activities LEFBMBHRSREFE
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEHEBRERE
Purchases of items of property, BEYE  WEKEKBEE
plant and equipment
Increase in prepaid land lease payments TEAT b & FRIE N
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHBAR 32
Acquisition of subsidiaries WS H A A 31
Decrease/(increase) in an amount due N —MEESERIE
from a joint venture A, ()
Investment in a joint venture R—HEEECENEE
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEEBARS
mEIFRE
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2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FHAT
15,150 18,915
2,397 2,901
) ©)
11,964 8,193
3,003 3,093
(100) (129)
216 66

= (5,867)
32,711 27,163
(1,384) (413)
2,041 3,497
447 (139)
419 (989)
34,234 29,119
(1,520) (3,384)
9 9
(14,178) (4,492)
18,545 21,252
(53,317) (48,510)
= (24,293)

= 6,640
(13,305) (394,052)
332 (435)
(21,726) -
(88,016) (460,650)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

GERERER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2019 #Z2019F3H31HIFF/E

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Dividends paid

Capital injection from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary

Net cash flows from financing activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

BMEFHRERSRE
HIRTTER

EERITER

EffAE

— M A B By — A SRR AR R
EE
MERBMSRESRBFE
RERRESENRL FHE

EYIEARELZEY
EX2HHLE

FERASRASEEY

RERRESEWERDN

Re RIRITHEER

2019 2018

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BiEE FHET FHAT
80,620 416,533

(18,708) (62,696)

(15,168) (22,753)

1,960 4,900

48,704 335,984

(20,767) (103,414)

71,778 175,182

(132) 10

50,879 71,778

50,879 71,778
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Pine Care Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of
the Company is G/F, 1 Koon Wah Lane, 68-72 Yuk Wah Street, Tsz
Wan Shan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of elderly home care services.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 15 February
2017.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), Mr. Yim
Ting Kwok, Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex, Ms. Cho Wing Yin, Mr. Yim Billy Pui
Kei, Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin, Ms. Chu Lai King and Ms. Suen Mi Lai
Betty are considered as the controlling shareholders of the Company
(the “Controlling Shareholder(s)”), and the immediate holding company
and the ultimate holding company are Pine Active Care Limited (“Pine
Active Care”) and Silverage Pine Care Limited, respectively, which are
companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

NAREEEHR
MEREEZEEBRAT(AAF]) A —EAR
HE2RSTMHRIINBRARF - RRAHT
it #t = B #b 4t A& Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands ° A2 & A £ B & F i
HRBEENERE LRELE8-T25RBEE 1
SRR ©

ARAR/REZERRAF < FA > ARFRE
MEBAR(GE [ AEE]) TERERHLE
B & IR

KRGO 2017FE2 A1I5BEFTEHAR
SEER AR ([BAT]) EMR T -

ARAER(EFDRA BEBHELEE R
BlEhE Bekta L BWELLE B
BAAE  KRBRATREZBAXTHRANR
NAEIWIERRAR R (MR AR ) - mE B ER
R A R LT A B9 Bl & Pine Active Care
Limited ([ Pine Active Care]) X Silverage Pine
Care Limited * AR EBER A S ([ BB &
BE DAz an -

BEAM B RIMER
ARFEEMBLAGEENT ;

Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary attributable to
Company hame business share capital the Company Principal activities
AL,
NCIEZE = 34 ERTEBREA FOAEGERZEISLE FEXK
Direct Indirect
HiE S
Pine Care Health Initiative Limited* BVI US$1 100 — Investment holding
Pine Care Health Initiative Limited* HEBRELZEE E REER
Prime Health Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$98,418,468 = 100 Investment holding
BRARIZEIR G R A A BB 98,418,468/8 7T, REER
Pine Care Elderly Home Hong Kong HK$40,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Development Limited and provision of
management services
iREERERER AR B 40,000,000/ 7T REERR MR B IR IR
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. QRREEEFR#)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEMBARNER (&)
Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary attributable to
Company nhame business share capital the Company Principal activities
MR
NCIECE ] e ERTEBERET FXORELEREILE FEXK
Direct Indirect
HiZ SiEE3
Pacific First Limited Hong Kong HK$1,070 - 100 Provision of elderly home
care services
REFERDA B 1,070% 7T Rt = RS
Besting Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$120,000 = 100 Provision of elderly home
care services
AEEEBRAR B 120,000/ 7T Rt 2= R
Hinta Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of elderly home
(“Hinta Enterprises”) care services
BACEERAR(BARE]) BF 10,0007 7T Rt & RS
Fitbest Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$500,000 - 100 Provision of elderly home
care services
BEHRBRAF B 500,000 7T fefit b = AR 1S
Masswell Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 100 Provision of elderly home
care services
BEEBRRARAA B 10,000/ 7T Rt Rl = RS
Gericare Centre Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Provision of elderly home
(“Gericare Centre”) care services
RiEEZPLERAA BB 10078 7T Rt R & RS

(IMR{EEEH L)

Fitgarden Limited Hong Kong HK$2,500,000 - 100 Property investment
B EGRRA] B 2,500,000/ 7T MERE
Mainfield Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Property investment
BERRAF BB 2% 7T MERE
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. QRAREEEFR#)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEMBARNER (&)
Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary attributable to
Company nhame business share capital the Company Principal activities
A,
NCIECE ! e 3 ERTEBERET FXOAELEREISLE FEXK
Direct Indirect
HiZ i3
Chun Fai Development Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100 Property investment
ZEZERBRAA BB 100,000/ 7T MERE
Grant Smart Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Property investment
ERERABRAA BB 10,0007 7T MERE
Wellfield Properties Development Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Property investment
Limited
MR EZEREBR A A BB 10,0007 7T MERE
Ruby International Investment Hong Kong HK$5 - 100 Property investment
Limited (“Ruby International”)
ABEABFRERRAR BB 5% 7T MERE
(TaIERBEER])
Manchester Rehabilitation Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100 Provision of rehabilitation
Services Limited and physiotherapy
services
SRETERRBER A BB 187 RIS R R IR e AR 7S
Witmart Design & Construction Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Provision of repair and
Co. Limited maintenance services
B RETRIETIZERA A BB 28T R RIRE RS
Fully Trend Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Property investment
mRBRAE BB 10,0007 7T MERE
Pine Care Elite Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of elderly home
care services
MR EERR AR B 10,0007 7T Rt L2 & RS
Pine Care Elegance Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100 Investment holding
B HEE B R A A B 10,0007 7T REZER
Grand Prosper Holdings (BVI) BVI US$3 = 100 Investment holding
Limited*
Grand Prosper Holdings ES)geeids 3ETT WEER
(BVI) Limited*
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. QRREEEFR#)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEMBARNER (&)
Place of Issued Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary attributable to
Company nhame business share capital the Company Principal activities
MR
NCIECE ] e ERTEBERET FXORELEREILE FEXK
Direct Indirect
HiZ SiEE3
One Affinity Limited* BVI US$1 - 100 Investment holding
One Affinity Limited* EBEREHS 12£7T REER
Lorient Holdings Ltd. (“Lorient”)* BVI US$1 - 100 Property investment
Lorient Holdings Ltd. ([Lorient ])* HEBELEE E MEIE
Tsuen Wan Elderly Care Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Provision of elderly home
Services Limited care services
(“Tsuen Wan Elderly Care”)*
ZEEERBAERDA BB 10,000 7T R L ER SRS
(MEgE=])"
Pine Care Yada Elderly Hong Kong HK$14,000,000 - 51 Investment holding
Services Limited
AR Z RS AR A A B 14,000,000/ 7T Et el
Zhejiang Pine Care Yada Elderly the People’s HK$12,000,000 - 51 Dormant
Services Limited* Republic
of China
(the “PRC”)/
Mainland
China
IR HESZRFERAT HEARKME 12,000,000 7T TES
(r+E,/
R B K e
Giant Success International Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 Property investment
Holdings Limited (note)
(“Giant Success”)*
~EBREBERAR(TAED: &% 1,000 7T 100 #MERE
(Bt )
* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the 4 RIEE B L K 51 AH B 75 B sk 22 ok B BE 48 4%
Ernst & Young global network HibK B AREX
Note: B3t -
During the year, the Group acquired 100% equity interests in Giant Success. FR - AEBIKEEREEZHRAREZ - B EK
Further details of this acquisition are included in note 31 to the financial R — S E NI G MR FES ©
statements.
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2.1

2.2

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by HK$19,221,000. In May 2019, a 3-year term bank loan with a
principal amount of HK$44 million was drawn down by the Group for
working capital purpose, and the bank loan is repayable within one year
as to HK$1,980,000, in the second year as to HK$2,640,000 and in the
third year as to HK$39,380,000. Based on the Group’s operating
history and financial resources available to the Group to meet working
capital requirements, the Directors believe that there are sufficient
financial resources available to the Group to meet its liabilities as and
when they fall due. Accordingly, the Directors consider that it is
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern
basis.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“‘HKFRSs”) (which include all
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2019.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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2.2

NAIREEEN @)

EEMBATINER (&)

R RESRAUFRNLEELEATE
o B N 5 B4 2R B B AR B 5 KB
AE -EERA BEHAH4HBLREE
TR ERIBR TR -

25| E%E

R2019F3A31 B AEEM RS AERA
HEmE&EE19,221,0005 7T - 12019F5A -
NEBRRACHEAIBEBITHIFTHR
TEREEEESZRH  RITEREAR—F
A {8 81,980,000 ;o £ = FAE B
2,640,000 7t + i1 5% = & 78 {8 & 39,380,000
BT RBEASEATARNRREEESH K
MAEELEERLNVBEER EFRAL
SEARHIYBERANEPRERERE -
At EFRAERBELEELRRIBR
=BRE -

mAE%E
WEMBBRRIRETEEAMAR(EFE
SEEI RS DAEG 2 BEMBREEN(F
B BHREER]) (B BEREEEMBER
SHA - FEEA LR EESF LD R
2E) BEARERAURBBRRGRIZ
WEREMRE - ILFHBEREDIRBEESE
RAERE - IR AR EF B 2R AR ER
ABHRHNEREERI - BREAERIN - Ut
EPBRRDABT(ET) 2 MAE
SRR EREKAZTT -

mEE%E
RAEVHBREMARNARREWBRBRE
F2019F3 A AL FEMNMHHRE - KB
ARFEAAREEXHERHNER (BIEE
BHERE) ZAEERBDEEIRE T HH
EEN AR EERMRA R EREEE ] #
15k - I B ARE N BRI E S HiEN (B
REAEBEB R BRENEZEWREHFNIEHE
VE BN IR R A ) 522 5% 5 B TR - BNER{SHE
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2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continuec) 2.2 REEE g

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an

investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the

investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and
(iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

mERE®)
AANREENRNEREE O REREFAS
HHRARSFELER  ETEEERTREEY
WA F RN AEESE B AR
HEMER - B

(@ HEEREFHMKREZFEENEGHL
B

b HtEORELENEN Rk
© AEEMRREEERRE -

B8~ R) 2 B B Rk TY 3t B R X R AR R Y 3R
SHERA BN BREE - MEBAF
ZEHETEAREISESE 2 BREEA
FRASNERMENERLLBMMESRSS
BR o

BELEMEERANSART S 2HBER
AEBEGAREE ARIERER - BIELN
Bo| PO EEHIRBAM AR - AEES
KERBAZERZEBHAEEEARRME
BERARE #xm kA AXEBEERE
AMga AR 2 8RS -

HEERERBR LR H 2 =HITEF —
R ZHREE  AAEESEHNFIHEES
MAEHRIEE T - B AR T EEEL
EHRNAEERGEBIELRRRHRE -

HAEBAREHHE AR MEE BRI
R (\MBAREE(BE/E)MERE : (i)
EREEREROEBESRE &) 5T At
MBFFHE=E  WER : (| KEREHNAR
& () TREBEMIZEERNASLE AR (i) R
BEEENAEEERN BB o LR
H 2 RO A T RR B 2N 5 [ FE A SR 10 HR
AEBEZELEHBEERAERRTENE
RIEESHHBEE B RE = (@A)
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial

Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property
HK(FRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
2014-2016 Cycle HKAS 28

The Group applies HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 that require restatement of
previous financial statements. Other than as explained below regarding
the impact of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15, the adoption of the above
revised standards and interpretation has had no significant financial
effect on these financial statements:

(@) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.

With the exception of hedge accounting, which the Group has
applied prospectively, the Group has recognised the transition
adjustments against the applicable opening balances in equity at
1 April 2018. Therefore, the comparative information was not
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 39.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group’s loans and
receivables are reclassified as financial assets at amortised cost
and there was no significant impact on the measurement of
financial instruments on the financial position, including the effect
of replacing HKAS 39’s incurred credit loss calculations with
HKFRS 9’s expected credit losses (“ECL”).
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

()

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 18 Revenue and
related interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions, to
all revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods or services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15
provide a more structured approach for measuring and
recognising revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance
obligations, changes in contract asset and liability account
balances between periods and key judgements and estimates.
The disclosures are included in notes 3 and 6 to the financial
statements. As a result of the application of HKFRS 15, the
Group has changed the accounting policy with respect to
revenue recognition in note 3 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method, the
standard can be applied either to all contracts at the date of initial
application or only to contracts that are not completed at this
date. The Group has elected to apply the standard to contracts
that are not completed as at 1 April 2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS 15 was
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits as at 1 April 2018. Therefore, the comparative information
was not restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 18
and related interpretations.

No financial statement line item was affected as at 1 April 2018
and 31 March 2019 as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 provides guidance on how to determine the
date of the transaction when applying HKAS 21 to the situation
where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a
foreign currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability.
The interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it)
is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-
monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability
(such as deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt of
the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance of recognising the related item, the entity
must determine the transaction date for each payment or receipt
of the advance consideration. The interpretation has had no
impact on the Group’s financial statements as the Group’s
accounting policy for the determination of the exchange rate
applied for initial recognition of non-monetary assets or non-
monetary liabilities is consistent with the guidance provided in the
interpretation.
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2.4 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.4 CE#E M x4 H BB KR
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that

have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(FRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements to
2015-2017 Cycle

Definition of a Business?

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation'

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Leases'

Insurance Contracts®

Definition of Material?

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23!
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t Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
“ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance on
the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an
integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a business, it
must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A
business can exist without including all of the inputs and processes
needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of
whether market participants are capable of acquiring the business and
continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments have also
narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods or services
provided to customers, investment income or other income from
ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to
assess whether an acquired process is substantive and introduce an
optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
April 2020.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28
(2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be
determined after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two elective recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term
leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a
liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term
(i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of property, plant and
equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability
is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and
reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation
expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to
remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events,
such as change in the lease term and change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use
asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all
leases using the same classification principle as in HKAS 17 and
distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16
requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than
under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either
a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group will
adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019. The Group plans to adopt the
transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to recognise the cumulative effect
of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits at 1 April 2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In addition,
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

the Group plans to apply the new requirements to contracts that were
previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure the lease
liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial
application. The right-of-use asset will be measured at the amount of
the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued
lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the statement of
financial position immediately before the date of initial application. The
Group plans to use the exemption allowed by the standard on lease
contracts whose lease terms end within 12 months as of the date of
initial application. During the current year, the Group has performed a
detailed assessment on the impact of adoption of HKFRS 16. As at 31
March 2019, the Group had non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of HK$89,898,000 as disclosed in note 35(b). A
preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the
definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group will
recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of
all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

Amendment to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material of
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statement. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information. A misstatement of information is material if it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 April 2020. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion of HKFRS 9
only includes interests in an associate or joint venture to which the
equity method is applied and does not include long-term interests that
in substance form part of the net investment in the associate or joint
venture, to which the equity method has not been applied. Therefore an
entity applies HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including the impairment
requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting for such long-term
interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to the net investment, which includes
the long-term interests, only in the context of recognising losses of an
associate or joint venture and impairment of the net investment in the
associate or joint venture. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
on 1 April 2019 and will assess its business model for such long-term
interests based on the facts and circumstances that exist on 1 April
2019 using the transitional requirements in the amendments. The Group
also intends to apply the relief from restating comparative information
for prior periods upon adoption of the amendments.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes (current
and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”).
The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to
interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (i) the assumptions an entity makes
about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (jii) how
an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity
considers changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to
be applied retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use of
hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application as
an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application,
without the restatement of comparative information. The Group expects
to adopt the interpretation from 1 April 2019. The interpretation is not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of
the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of joint ventures is included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s

investments in joint ventures.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is
classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than deferred tax assets and
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B B AR B R (4R

31 March 2019 201943A31H

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity

(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(i) the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(ivy  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B 3% AR B T (4R

31 March 2019 201943A31H

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(v  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

ltems of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2019 201943A31H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost

of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over

its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose

are as follows:

Leasehold land under Over the lease terms
finance leases

Buildings Over the shorter of 50 years and the
remaining lease term of the underlying
leasehold land

Over the shorter of the lease term and
10%-20%

14%-30%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
other equipment

Motor vehicles 20%-33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings and renovation under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is
not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Licences

Purchased licenses are stated at cost less any impairment losses and
are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
of five years.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are accounted for as
finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments
and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under
capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to the
statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of
charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature
are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement of
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the statement of
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated
at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2019 201943A31H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial assets at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition
(applicable from 1 April 2018)” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The
business model determines whether cash flows will result from

collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the

following conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collet contractual
cash flows.

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments
to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if
doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 March 2019 201943A31H

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-
sale financial investments as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale

in the near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with positive net changes in
fair value presented as other income and gains and negative net
changes in fair value presented as other expenses in profit or loss.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends or interest
earned on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable before 1
April 2018)” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. After
initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in other income and gains in profit
or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in profit or loss
in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)

when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates fif,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 April 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKFRS
9 applicable from 1 April 2018) (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
whether impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be,
recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash
flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is
accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has
been realised or has been transferred to the Group.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 April 2018) (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss
increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case
of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include interest-bearing bank borrowings,
trade payables, accruals and other monetary liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 April 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018) (Continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as
defined by HKFRS 9. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s
own credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive income
with no subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (policies under
HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
HKAS 39. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in
profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 April 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from
1 April 2018)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of
financial assets (policies under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)”;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the

cumulative amount of income recognised.

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKAS 39 applicable
before 1 April 2018)

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair
value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability
is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new
liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018 and policies
under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 April 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are
not restricted as to use.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of each reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@  Sale of elderly home related goods
Revenue from the sale of elderly home related goods is
recognised at the point in time when the control of the goods
was transferred to the customers.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 April 2018)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)  Rendering of elderly home care services and provision of health
care services
Revenue from the rendering of elderly home care services and
provision of health care services is recognised when the services
are rendered over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis
because the customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from another source
Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1 April 2018)
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured reliably,
on the following bases:

(@) from the sale of elderly home related goods, when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor
effective control over the goods sold;

(b) from the rendering of services, when the services have been
rendered;

() rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Provision for long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of amounts payable on cessation
of employment in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.
Long service payments are assessed using the projected unit credit
method. Long service payments are discounted to determine the
present value of obligation and reduced by entitlement accrued under
the Group’s defined contribution plans that are attributable to
contributions made by the Group. Actuarial gains and losses arising
from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the
period in which they arise. Past service costs are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. Al
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by
the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

146 Pine Care Group Limited Annual Report 2019

3.

FESBEREE »)

EBEEF @)

R IR R
AEMBEESREBENEETFBERTRHE
FERERSE EEEE  AEENARA
T2 38 2 HA RS 3R 424 AR 76 B B 2 (B 3R 2 ok 3 )25
S48 - RERBMXFBE B0 S E
B RHRBEANRE T UBBEUREELH
BE - TIRAEER AT HKH B AE
B BT Ve 2R RS D - IRIBE R AE
T 5 (R B 8 B 1 7 A M) 6 e MBS 9
TS AR O A 2 T IR A B0 BE 5 R 1R
REFA o B IRTS AR AN BN RIB RS FERR o

BB

WiE  2EREEREREE(AIFERER
MERATEREREIHENEE) BEEE
ERERKAERZFEERAN—HD T
NERE - ERFEEECEATEBZE K
BERBRHER  ERRAENMEEEL -
BRANGEREENTERNBERREEL
R E WS IR E M EFRRR © A H
AR AN E £ B - ERRAE
ENERERREEESEENEMER -

IRE
RABERBRRERRAE EHERERR
Aff e

PHIR S RSREARTIR - BAARR R AL
ERAENRANCRTESTIRTHRSMN
R o Fut - HHRENEEREIKE R
ERAAE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B B AR B R (4R

31 March 2019 201943A31H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose suitable
growth rates and discount rates in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 March
2019 was HK$33,833,000 (2018: HK$33,833,000). Further details are
given in note 20 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If such an indication
exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Included in the property, plant and equipment of the Group as at 31
March 2019 are certain assets with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$41,891,000 (2018: Nil) relating to an elderly home care service
cash-generating unit which has been operating at a loss. As there is an
indication that these assets may be impaired, the Group has performed
an impairment assessment and further details are given in note 14 to
the financial statements.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for accelerated depreciation on
property, plant and equipment, and unused tax losses to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The carrying amount of deferred tax
assets at 31 March 2019 was HK$5,265,000 (2018: HK$3,084,000).

Provision for long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of amounts payable on cessation
of employment in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is discounted to determine the present value of
obligation using a projected credit method. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the expected rate of future salary
increases and discount rate adopted in the projected credit method.
The carrying amount of provision for long service payments as at 31
March 2019 was HK$4,441,000 (2018: HK$3,621,000). Further details
are given in note 26 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group has only one reportable
operating segment, which is the provision of elderly home care services.
Since this is the only operating segment of the Group, no further
operating segment analysis thereof is presented.

The Group’s revenue was derived solely from its operations in Hong
Kong during the year and the non-current assets of the Group were
mainly located in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Information about a major customer

Revenue of HK$85,770,000 (2018: HK$84,152,000) was derived from
the Hong Kong Government under the Enhanced Bought Place
Scheme, which amounted to more than 10% of the Group’s revenue.
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6.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. Uz HR ARz
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: AEBIREDTMT ¢
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHT
Revenue from contracts with customers BPE e
Rendering of elderly home care services RIEZER SRS 154,574 142,126
Sale of elderly home related goods HE L E AR E M R M 20,145 18,056
Provision of health care services R EERIERE 12,063 10,506
186,782 170,688
Revenue from contracts with customers EEAKLSE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information 0] SIFREE R
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE2019E3H31 HILERE
HK$’000
FExT
Timing of revenue recognition: PN FREN =]
Goods transferred at a point in time EmRE—REER 20,145
Services transferred over time AR5 BER R 166,637
Total revenue from contracts with customers BEE B R 186,782
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS continued) 6. Uiz ~ il A R W& (#)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) Z2EEHWE &)
(i)  Performance obligations i) EHREE

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is

summarised below:

Rendering of elderly home care services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered in which the customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits provided by the Group.

Sale of elderly home related goods
The performance obligation is satisfied when the Group delivers

FRAEERAOEETNEHEURIT

e EL ERE
RAOBRERRERGRERRET - &
fi 5 P (R B M B B 150 PR 7 S [ e (L ) )

S o

E\

HELETIAE m L E
BHAREEAEEREF XN EMmE R

the goods to the customers and the control of the goods is EEYIEHEERE TR ERETT -
transferred to the customers.
Provision of health care services BB IREIRT

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered in which the customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits provided by the Group.

BHEER R RISESRER METT - B
Ry 22 P [0 ey W B f5 PR A R [ B2 (1 O )

N

S o

Other income and gains HA U A R Uk &
2019 2018
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt EE TR FHET
Other income HAe A
Interest income N ON 9 9
Rental income GEEALON 380 318
389 327
Gains Wz
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — M B A Al 32 = 5,867
Fair value gain on financial assets BRARBEFABRNEREERN
at fair value through profit or loss AR AR 100 129
100 5,996
489 6,323

150 Pine Care Group Limited Annual Report 2019




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B B AR B R (4R

31 March 2019 201943A31H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRBADGER
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBBRBEAHEMNBEING (AU TE
TRIBES
2019 2018
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k= FExT FAT
Cost of inventories sold BEETFEKA 14,239 13,419
Depreciation and amortisation e N 27,902 11,858
Less: Amount capitalised B BEENMEERE (12,845) (6572)
15,057 11,286
Auditor’s remuneration % SR 5 B 1,450 1,350
Staff costs (excluding directors’ and BINA (TEEEER
chief executive’s remuneration): TR AEE N )
Wages and salaries TENES 93,628 89,236
Pension scheme contributions RIRBEEIHER 3,724 3,642
Provision for long service payments = EARR TS A R s 26 216 66
97,568 92,944
Minimum lease payments under operating ~ + i 12 F & L TH &
leases of land and buildings HEAERR 16,184 12,156
Fair value gain on financial assets BRAREFABRNEREERN
at fair value through profit or loss* AR B (100) (129)
Bank interest income* RITH B HA () ©)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary* & — R A Al e 32 - (5,867)
Government grants*** IR B (9,634) (11,532)
* Included in “Other income and gains” on the face of the consolidated i MAFEEER [ EMaBA R
statement of profit or loss
e Included in “Staff costs” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit ** MANErEBEE [ETKA
or loss
# Various government grants have been received for the welfare of the # B RLAN R B £ & R & A8 AW % TR BUT
elderly in the Group’s elderly home care centres. There are no unfulfiled B o B B %5 BY AR 2 1614 sk sk
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. BEIE -
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8. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Interest on bank loans
Interest on bank overdrafts

Total interest expense on financial liabilities

Less: Interest capitalised

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION

RITERHL

fETT BIHE

SRAENSFAXEHE
o EEAMERE

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as

follows:

Fees

Other emoluments:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

Pension scheme contributions

akn

Hib 2
M R R EYET]
RIKE ETEIER

(@) Independent non-executive directors
The fees and pension scheme contribution paid to independent
non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

Mr. Liu Kwong Sang

Dr. Wong Ping Shan John
Dr. Liu Yuk Shing

Mr. Liu Walter Joseph*

BEESE
=P ILELE
BEREL
SR B L

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2018: Nil).
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KB FEEEEEOFISRADITIT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET
14,151 4,466
27 26
14,178 4,492
(11,781) (1,591)
2,307 2,901
EERESTHRASHMH
REETHHRA - FEDQARE 383(1 )@) *

0 O R OBEER Wﬁ%é%ﬁ SERD 8
PE2BRE L FREERBETEA RS
T

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&xT FET
607 656
1,218 1,008

24 26

1,242 1,034
1,849 1,690

(@) BUFITES
FRXNTEULIFRTES RS LR
R ST RIGRIT :

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT THT
80 80

80 80

80 80

55 80

295 320
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERBRSITHRAEFM =
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and b) BITESE FHTEERES
the chief executive THAE

2019 20194

Executive directors: HITESE
Mr. Yim Ting Kwok BRERISE A
Ms. Cho Wing Yin* k2t
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei* BROM A ST A
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin BOmEF e
Mr. Chan Yip Keung FREERITAE

Non-executive directors: IEITES
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex REESEA
Mr. Lam Yat Hon WRE S &=
Mr. Ma Wing Wah? P oKEE S A
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EENBSITHAEHM @
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and (b) HITEE  FHATESERES
the chief executive (Continued) THAE (&)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind  contributions Total
e R B
e BEMmEH HEGEA 1RET
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHT FAT FAT FAT
2018 20184
Executive directors: WITES :
Mr. Yim Ting Kwok JBRE B 5t A 48 - - 48
Ms. Cho Wing Yin* Bkt 48 - - 48
Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei* BOME ST A 48 - 2 50
Mr. Yim Edwin Pui Hin Sl 48 - 2 50
Mr. Chan Yip Keung PREESR A& - 720 18 738
192 720 22 934
Non-executive directors: IEITES
Mr. Ng Kwok Fu Alex REIE %A 48 144 - 192
Mr. Lam Yat Hon WREST &+ 48 - 2 50
Mr. Ma Wing Wah* Sk EE S 48 144 2 194
144 288 4 436
336 1,008 26 1,370
% Mr. Yim Billy Pui Kei is also the chief executive office of the ’ BN RS ENMABRNARITRBE,
Company.
W Mr. Liu Walter Joseph, Ms. Cho Wing Yin and Mr. Ma Wing Wah # BB ES g - ok L+ K& EKESL
resigned as directors of the Company with effect from 7 December EEBEES B2018F12A7H R
2018. R e
There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive FAN WEEFAHESTHRAEREXRE
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. WEERFMEHE -

154 Pine Care Group Limited Annual Report 2019



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B B AR B R (4R

31 March 2019 201943A31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year include one director
(2018: one director), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the non-director,
highest paid employees are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & R REYER
Pension scheme contributions RIS EFEIHER

The number of the non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,000/7T

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
or any of the non-director, highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office nor
has any director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

10. AEG&EHMES

FARLEEeFTHEERFE -—BESF(2018
F:—REF)  HFMFBHN X -
FR - FEFENREFHBIEES N H B
T

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTET TR
2,942 3,104

54 72

2,996 3,176

HHEXTHRE EEESSHIEEAR
mT

2019 2018

FA-AEERERNESREMNFESTERS
R B NS E ARSI MAREE LR
AR ERHAERRERAE - TERE[E
ERELREREEMME -
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11. INCOME TAX 1. FrBH
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2018: EMERNEEBESEO G ERE S IR
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during 16.5% (2018 4F : 16.5%) 2 Fi E 5t & & Fl
the year. 1SR -
Commencing from the year ended 31 March 2019, the assessable MEE2019F3 A31 A LEFERK - —MR
profits of a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary (as elected by the EETMAIAKBRAR (HESEL)WE
directors) are subject to the two-tiered profits tax rates regime which SRR AT ESHR AR FIFEE (2019F 3 A
was effective on 28 March 2019 that the first HK$2 million of assessable 28 AR - BlE 2B BATTERBR A iR
profits will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2 8.25% HFi - M2 EBEB LA FRERTEF
million will be taxed at 16.5%. 15 1% 16.5% B F -
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Current — Hong Kong BNER — &
Charge for the year FARZ 3,430 2,386
(Overprovision)/underprovision in prior years BEFE GRERE) BETR (90) 53
Deferred JRIE (1,650) 70
Total tax charge for the year FABIEFA BT 1,690 2,509
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and the majority
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax
rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rate (i.e. the statutory tax

rate) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

Profit before tax

Tax at the statutory tax rate

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax losses not recognised

Tax loss utilised from previous
periods

Adjustments in respect of
current tax of previous periods

Adjustments in respect of
deferred tax of previous periods

Tax effect of two-tiered profits
tax regime

Tax reduction

Others

Tax charge at the Group’s
effective rate

BRI AT A

BOREN RS HOBIA
BERTUA

AAIHIT RS
ARG ER

FEF BB 2 B s 18

FIBE AR 2 BIEATIA

Gt
BB A2 EEBUR
fEiBE

MST RS 2 B2

R
HAt

N QeI g
WA S

1. FifSHi @)

BARBIRERBOMERRIMENEEE
R Y5 E B R A B R R B AT B A
MBERAY  HERERFHERFTENRBRAID
IR REAME(ALEEMRR) BEEH X

HEBREFIT -

2019 2018
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %
FHT % FHET %
15,150 18,915

2,500 16.5 3,121 16.5
(19) (0.1) (1,010) (5.3)
871 5.7 841 4.4
- - 177 0.9
(209) (1.4) 272) (1.4)
(90) (0.6) 53 0.3
(869) (5.7) @) >
(165) (1.1) = =
(320) (2.1) (398) @.1)
(9) = (1) =
1,690 11.2 2,509 13.3
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12.

13.

DIVIDENDS

Interim dividends — HKO0.84 cent
(2018: HK2.52 cents) per ordinary share

Proposed final dividend — HKO.78 cent
(2018: HK0.84 cent) per ordinary share

The proposed final dividend of HKO.78 cent per ordinary share for the
year ended 31 March 2019 is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based on
the profit for the year attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the
Company of HK$13,435,000 (2018: HK$16,418,000), and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 902,880,000 (2018: 902,880,000)
in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share amounts
presented for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 as the Group
had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during these years.
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12.

13.

FREARR B — BRI AAR0.84 L
(20184F : 2.5271)

EHEAHERE — SREERR.78/8(L
(20184 : 0.84781l)

RS
2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET THTT
7,584 22,753
7,042 7,584

BEMNEZE2019F3 A31 BIFFEREERE
B EBAR0.78BIIAFAR A RERER
R ERAF RS EHE o

ARAERESFEARGER
B 7|

AEEBRERBFSREIEAQ B EEE
A AR FE 7 13,435,000 % 70(2018
F 16,418,000 70) R FANE BT L @AM
# ¥ 15 £0902,880,000 8% (2018 £ :
902,880,000 %) 5+ & °

A7 = B R E 220194 % 201843 A 31
BIEFEYEDETEEESLER &R
EHAT2YNEREREFSEIEHARE -
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% - BMEKRXE

31 March 2019 20193 A31 A

At 31 March 2018 and R2018E3A31HK
1 April 2018: 201854 F1R :
Cost 22N
Accumulated depreciation RE
Net carrying amount REFE

At 1 April 2018, net of R2018F4A1H
accumulated depreciation MR REHTE

Additions NE

Acquisition of subsidiaries YR B A )
(note 31) (MzE31)

Depreciation provided during ~ FRITERE
the year

Transfer 3

Exchange realignment B 5 %

At 31 March 2019, net of

accumulated depreciation MR EGHTE

At 31 March 2019: R2019F3A 318 :
Cost A
Accumulated depreciation ZETE

201934318
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

14. Y% - BENKRE #)

Furniture,
fixtures
Land and Leasehold and other Motor Construction
buildings  improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total
i REBR
THREF HEEE HthRfE RE frRIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr THT T T THL FET
31 March 2018 2018F3A31H
At 31 March 2017 and R2017E3A318 K
1 April 2017 2017F4R10 :
Cost AR 228,725 45,145 38,042 - 10,378 322,290
Accumulated depreciation 2EE (47,314) (43,704) (35,539) = = (126,557)
Net carrying amount EEFE 181,411 1,44 2,503 - 10,378 195,733
At 1 April 2017, net of W201764 /18
accumulated depreciation MR REHTE 181411 1,441 2,503 = 10,378 195,733
Additions RE 1,242 5,293 1,434 667 41,465 50,101
Acquisition of subsidiaries WK B AR
(note 31) (MzES1) - = 416 - 14,651 15,067
Depreciation provided during ~ ERTE &
the year (5,355) (501) (2,282 (55) - (8,193
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHBAR
(note 32) (MizE32) = (340) (204) - . (044)
Transfer g - 2,370 - - (2,370) -
Exchange realignment B3 A - - - - 486 486
At 31 March 2018, net of R2018%€3A318 -
accumulated depreciation MR Z:tE 177,298 8,263 1,867 612 64,610 252,650
At 31 March 2018: R2018%€3A 318
Cost (D% 229,967 49,330 36,730 667 64,610 381,304
Accumulated depreciation 2EHE (52,669) (41,067) (34,863 (55) = (128,654)
Net carrying amount FEFE 177,298 8,263 1,867 612 64,610 252,650
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14.

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
At 31 March 2019, the Group’s land and buildings and construction in
progress with a total carrying amount of HK$179,748,000 (2018:
HK$176,056,000) and HK$28,595,000 (2018: HK$14,651,000),
respectively, were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 25(b)).

Included in the property, plant and equipment of the Group as at 31
March 2019 are certain assets with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$41,891,000 relating to an elderly home care service cash-
generating unit which has been operating at a loss. As there is an
indication that these assets may be impaired, management is required
to perform an impairment assessment on these assets by considering
the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating unit. The
recoverable amount of the elderly home care service cash-generating
unit is determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections covering a period of the remaining lease term approved by
senior management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projection was 16.7%. The recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit estimated from the cash flow forecast exceeded its carrying
amount.

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Carrying amount at beginning of year FYIRREIE
Additions NE

Acquisition of a subsidiary I B — M B AR
Recognised during the year FNHER

Carrying amount at end of year FREEME

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s prepaid land lease payments with a
total carrying amount of HK$376,747,000 (2018: HK$372,494,000)
was pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 25(c)).

14.

15.

Y - MERSRE @)
M2019563A31 B AKRBEREEED A
179,748,0007% 7T(20184F : 176,056,0007% 7T
28,595,000 7T (20184F : 14,651,000 7T)
2 REFRERTRZC FEM - UERE
FAREBH—AERITEE (HiFE250))

AEBR2019FE3 831 BZYE BERR
#H ETHZEZRERSELEMECE TR
B EAR R R & E R (E 4 58 5 41,891,000 7
Lo ABEERTRZEENERE  BEE
BERBERECESBUZAIMERE 5
ZEAEETRETE ZERBRSELS
Tz kel ¢8E  TRREANEES B i
MBTHENRESREEAFTENFERE
BENTEET - REREFAEBFHATER
ER16.7% - AR REWAGTORSESE
BAIH AT E S REREAEREE -

BN L EEARK

2019 2018
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BiEE FHET FHAT
389,592 =

= 24,865

31 = 365,299
(12,845) (572)

376,747 389,592

MR20196F3A31IE: A& B K MAEL A
376,747,000/ JT(20184F : 372,494,00075
T0) TN TR EM KB E R UAEFR T A
FEN—MRIRTEE (MHFE25() °
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 March 2019

At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

Cost at 1 April 2018, net of accumulated amortisation
Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 March 2019

At 31 March 2019:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount
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16. BLEE

201943 H31H

MR201843 431 HKE2018F4 A1H :
BN
RETHE Y
BREFE

R20184F 4 A1 BRI - Mk 25T N
F R E R

#K201953A31H
K201953A31H ¢
PRA
REtHE

FREHE

Licenses

]
HK$’000
FET

15,464
(3,093)

12,371

12,371
(3,093)

9,278

15,464
(6,186)

9,278
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16.

17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

31 March 2018
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017:

Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

Cost at 1 April 2017, net of accumulated amortisation
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31)
Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 March 2018

At 31 March 2018:

16. BEEE ®)

20183 A31H

R2017E3A31BR2017E4 /18 :

PR
Rt

FREDSE

R2017F 4 A1 BHURKZ » 0Bk 25H#H

e B — PRI Bl 58
FREHERE

~al (fFEEST)

201843 431 H

20183 A31H :

Cost BN
Accumulated amortisation ZETEH
Net carrying amount AREDFHE
INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE
Share of net assets DIHEEFE

Less than HK$1,000

17. R—EEELERE

2019
HK$’000
FExT

Licenses
hER AR
HK$ 000
FHET

15,464
(3,093)

12,371

15,464
(3,093)

12,371

2018
HK$°000
TR

21,726

581,000 7T
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17. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 17. A—REeELERE®)

Particulars of the Group’s joint venture are as follows: REESLPEFBOT :

Particulars Place of Percentage of

of issued registration Ownership Voting Profit  Principal
Company name shares held and business interest power sharing activities
REAEH BECRTROME oMREEnY HEEEEz REEAIH RN EEHEK
Patina Wellness Limited HK$42,600,000 Hong Kong 51% 50% 51%  Investment

holding

MEEAERR AT 42,600,000/ 7T B8 REER

The above investment in a joint venture is indirectly held by the
Company.

The amount due from a joint venture included in the Group’s current
assets is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The
financial impact of expected credit losses for the amount due from a
joint venture under HKFRS 9 is insignificant for the year ended 31
March 2019.

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally one month. Each customer has
a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing. They are stated net of provision.
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18.

IR —RA 0 SR E A A AR o

AAREERBEENER —HEAEEEER
BAEER B RAKREREERE - BZE
20193 A3 HIEFE  REABMBRE
HAFIR - AL RARFENEHEEE
BOVBTEYIERX -

g 5 EWKIR

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET THIT
2,251 867

AEBEARFZESGRERRLEK I
MEP—RARENR - GEH KR —E
A -BREFPRAFELR -AEEHEK
Yoz FE YR TR IR M Hs BR AR B - AR B
SREEEERRN - EN Lt ERAEE
BHREFBESRAETRES,  RIEEE
BIIFEBAREF - EHRUGIRE BTEHE
WHFNERBE R IR -
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B 5 BWCGRIA ()

R|EHR - BHRKBIRRERE A H R

&%Eﬂé%ﬁﬂ’\]ﬁﬁ@@ﬁﬁﬁﬂ"l? :

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$°000
FExT TR
1,325 408
888 357

35 102

3 -

2,251 867

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 18.
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance,
is as follows:

Within one month —EAA

One to two months —ZmfEHA

Two to three months MZE=1EH

Over three months HBiE=1EA

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31

March 2019

The financial impact of expected credit losses for trade receivables
under HKFRS 9 is insignificant for the year ended 31 March 2019.
Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31

March 2018

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31 March 2018 that

were not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired under
HKAS 39 is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired R HATNARRE
Less than one month past due BN —@EA
One to three months past due BH—==@A

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a number
of customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired had a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the
Company were of the opinion that no provision for impairment under
HKAS 39 was necessary in respect of these balances as there had not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.

HZ201953A31BLEFERER
BRI EERISE 9 ZHE
BZE2019F3A31BILEE - BEEHBHRE
R F R E 5 BN ANTEREEEEN
IS B REX -

Eﬁizo18¢3ﬁ BMNALEFERESE
BEFTERIZE 3958 2R E

B(‘2018¢3H31 B RIS S2ERIZE 39

S A M Bl =X 2k B4R (B B ) B S e WK IE
IRERDITZAE ¢

2018
HK$'000
TAT

408
357
102

867

REHBITARBENREFRESZ AT
B REOHWEELRDE o

ERHERRENERFIREREEE R
FHERE BREBELER ARAEERA
RIBEE G AR 395k A % S AT
RRERE RAEEARTESAZES:
ISR RS G e
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19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19.
OTHER ASSETS

Prepayments SN

Deposits R&

Other receivables o th fE U 5K IE

Current portion included in prepayments, BNERER o (5 AT FE -
other receivables and other assets HAb W RIE R B E)

Non-current portion FEENEREL 7>

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended

31 March 2019

The financial impact of expected credit losses for financial assets
included in the above balances is insignificant for the year ended 31
March 2019.

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. Financial
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which
there was no recent history of default.

TR RRIE ~ HEUGRIE R E A
gE

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT TR
1,462 2,874
7,967 6,324
732 3,004
10,161 12,202
(3,607) (9,161)
6,554 3,041

MR2019F3 AN BHLEFERBERSB
B HS 3RS 2 QIS5 958 2R (E
BZE2019F3A31BILEE - HAtt*%
HeMEENTEHEEBRNITBYEY
Ko

EBEEGSEARLRE - LAERAES
7 B AR A R SR FRUGRIE R A ©

20. GOODWILL GES
HK$’000
FH&T
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018, 1 April 2018 and R2017F4H1H - 201843 H31 H

31 March 2019: 2018 4 A1 H KX 201943 8318 :
Cost DN 33,833
Accumulated impairment 2ERE =
Net carrying amount IREFE 33,833
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20.

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired through
business combinations is allocated to the cash-generating unit of elderly
care services operated by Gericare Centre and Ruby International with
a carrying amount of goodwill of HK$31,300,000 and to the cash-
generating unit of elderly care services operated by Hinta Enterprises
with a carrying amount of goodwill of HK$2,533,000 as at 31 March
2019 and 31 March 2018.

The recoverable amount of each of the elderly home care service cash-
generating units has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The pre-tax discount rates applied to
the cash flow projections of the two cash-generating units are 12.0%
(2018: 12.6%) and 13.2% (2018: 12.3%) for Gericare Centre and Ruby
International, and Hinta Enterprises, respectively. The cash flows of the
cash-generating units of Gericare Centre and Ruby International, and
Hinta Enterprises are projected using an annual growth rate of earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation of 9% (2018: 9%)
and 3% (2018: 3%), respectively, during the five-year period. The cash
flows of the two cash-generating units beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 3% (2018: 3%), which was below
the long term average growth rate of the industry. The recoverable
amount of each of the cash-generating units estimated from the cash
flow forecast exceeded their respective carrying amounts.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the cash-
generating units for 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has based its
cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the gross margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements, and expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

20.

2 e)

EERERR

BURERRM S © K 201943 A 31 B %2018
F3A3E  BREBEHMEBSZEES
REREEEZPOLRABLBEEMELELTE
PR 75 5 2 BRI {E /5 31,300,000 8 T HY 38 & &
B URBRACEMEELTERBEE
BRE{E A 2,533,000 B LIRS ELE B - LA
HITRERR -

BRERBRBERSELEMHAIKRE ST
ERNEAEE RASREEASMILER
FHHRESREBABETE - REEZF LR
MEABEBARE A EMERSEEEN
WIRESREBEAFEAOBAERES B A
12.0% (2018 4F : 12.6%) &% 13.2% (20184 :
12.3%) - REEEZF L - ABAEBREBEX
CENRESELBEMNARATHRAZRERE
DRNEINERF S - BiE - EREHA KRS
FIREI% (20184 : 9%) K& 3% (20184 :
3%)#ETTER c AFHMBEARERSELE
7B 2R 8 A 3% (2018 4F : 3%) HiE & &=
HE - BERTENRBFHERER - HRSE
mEBAGT ZSHeEEEMAIKESE
BHSEREE -

£ 5t E20196 3 H31H k201843 H31H
ReELENEREERRARRK U TE
EEEREER SN E LR EETRE
AR BREEMER

HEEMX — AREEREEFNEEBEHE

ERNERBEF LA —FAMERNEMNE
TR B ST K TR AT TSR B iR

BRI — PR ERBTAIERE - &
=t va: ok S hal 2 e
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20. GOODWILL (continueq) 20. BE %)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued) BERBERR @)

If the annual growth rate of earnings before interest, tax, depreciation MREEZRFOLMABEABEENIRESELSE
and amortisation of the cash-generating unit of Gericare Centre and URAFHRNZINERRE BB ek
Ruby International during the five-year period had decreased to 6.7% $H AT W IS R RO D £6.7% (20184 ¢
(2018: 3.5%) with all other variables held constant, the recoverable 3.5%) MATBEMEBHEFTE  RIREE
amount of the cash-generating unit would have been approximately HBEMNNATKESESNBSERERMEE - 4
equal to the carrying amount. If the annual growth rate of earnings REEEZDAODRABABRBENIRESEL SN
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation of the cash- RAEHRZINGBHS - FE - 78 R
generating unit of Gericare Centre and Ruby International during the A EFERERF LV E6.0%(2018%F : 3%) °
five-year period had decreased to 6.0% (2018: 3%) with all other MEABEEM SRS BIRSEAEMN
variables held constant, the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit 7 BR T B 5 #8348 n] Ui [B] & 58 49 3,537,000 78 7T
would have exceeded the recoverable amount by approximately (20184 : 2,404,000/ 7T) °

HK$3,537,000 (2018: HK$2,404,000).

If the pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections of the WMREZEEDLDRASALAEENIRSELSS
cash-generating unit of Gericare Centre and Ruby International had MHIE S RE=TE AT AT AT B IR RIEmE
increased to 12.9% (2018: 15.0%) with all other variables held constant, 12.9% (2018 4F : 15.0%) ' M FT A H b & £k
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit would have been WS AIRSELSMNMAIKESEEE
approximately equal to the carrying amount. If the pre-tax discount rate WHEERIREE - MREEERLRAEA
applied to the cash flow projections of the cash-generating unit of BRI SESLASEMNNIRESREEAMASN
Gericare Centre and Ruby International had increased to 13.5% (2018: oAl Bh IR X 1 4 E13.5% (20184 -
16.0%) with all other variables held constant, the carrying amount of the 16.0%) * MAAHMEHERTE - RIIRS
cash-generating unit would have exceeded the recoverable amount by EXBEMMEEAESBRUIE S ELD
approximately HK$6,067,000 (2018: HK$8,706,000). 6,067,000 7T (2018 4F : 8,706,000} 7T)

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. A RETAEZNERERE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT

Insurance asset (note (a)) R E E (K5 () 3,083 2,983

Notes: BT

(@) The Group entered into a life insurance policy with an insurance company (a) AEEHE BRI ARG ERRE - LR
to insure an executive director. Under the policy, the Group is the BE—RHITESE - BREZRE  ~EEAX
beneficiary and the policy holder. The above insurance asset was, upon HARREFRBA - LllRBEERY T
initial recognition, designated by the Group as a financial asset at fair value REHAEERTRIEZAABFABRNE
through profit or loss. The fair value of the insurance asset is determined BEE - RREEZAABEDNRSRERR
based on the cash surrender value less the surrender charge at the end of RAOSRRRERERE -
each reporting period.

(o) The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with a (o) 7K £ B Bk ™ {8 4 3,083,000/%8 7T (2018 :
carrying amount of HK$3,083,000 (2018: HK$2,983,000) were pledged as 2,983,000/ L) 2 AR BT ABEZNE R
security for the Group’s bank loans as at 31 March 2019, as further BEER2019F3 A31 AiEAAEEETE
detailed in note 25(d) to the financial statements. RZEHR FELZFBIERTBEER M

25(d) ©
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy

banks with no recent history of default.

23. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within one month

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and generally have

payment terms of 30 days.

PR MIRTTHES

—fEAR

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Other payables
Accruals

Portion classified as current liabilities

Non-current portion

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have average payment

terms of one to three months.

At e 5RR
et &R

22, BERBLEEY

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHET TAET
50,879 71,778

FRARRITOHRSRE B RITERN X
BRI R GRS o RITEBRTF RN EERLT

BT BB KRR 8RO ERTT o

23. EFENRE

RBEHR BFRNFBRERERAHRFE

BB AT -
2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fhx T

1,992 1,645

B HENFRBANFAE - AR —RA30

H o

24. HiWEARIERETE N

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAT
10,240 10,362
8,711 8,130
18,951 18,492
(13,892) (16,186)
5,059 2,306

Hip N FENFHAE  FHANRBR—=

=@A -
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25.

Current

Non-current

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 25. ;T BERITER
2019 2018
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BEIFIE(%) g TEL  ERAIE%) 5|58 T
HE
Bank loans — secured BITEH — BEA 2.13-3.66 2019 56,396 1.49-2.35 2018 18,319
1]
Bank loans — secured BITEH — FEA 2.13-3.66 2020-2035 537,120 1.49-2.35 2019-2035 513,285
593,516 531,604
i -

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group’s bank borrowings are secured by a mortgage over certain of
the Group’s land and buildings and construction in progress, which had
an aggregate carrying amount as at 31 March 2019 of approximately
HK$179,748,000 (2018: HK$176,056,000) and HK$28,595,000 (2018:
HK$14,651,000), respectively (note 14).

The Group’s bank borrowings are secured by a mortgage over the
Group’s prepaid land lease payments, which had an aggregate carrying
amount as at 31 March 2019 of approximately HK$376,747,000 (2018:
HK$372,494,000) (note 15).

Certain of the Group’s bank borrowings are secured by a pledge over the
Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with a carrying
amount as at 31 March 2019 of HK$3,083,000 (2018: HK$2,983,000)
(note 21).

Certain of the Group’s bank borrowings are jointly guaranteed by certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

The amounts payable based on the maturity terms of the bank borrowings
are analysed as follows:

Bank loans: BITER
Within one year or on demand —FRFIRERER
In the second year o

In the third to fifth years, inclusive

Beyond five years iR E
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@

)

FERF (BEERMSF)

REERRITEFRABTAHE ©

AEERITERARTABER2019F3 A
318 % Bl 4 A179,748,0007% JT (2018 4F :
176,056,000 7T ) & 28,595,000 7t (2018
£ : 14,651,000 7T) Z N E + iy R EF
LA R AR TR (R IR (Ffi5E14) ©

A& B YR 17 18 XU BR T 48 B 1R 2019 4
38318 # A&376,747,00078 Jt (20184 :
372,494,000 %70 ) 2 AN B FEAT T &1
RAEEAR (152 15) ©

AEEMETROTERAEDTARAER
20194 3 A 31 H 43,083,000 7T (2018 4 :
2,983,000/87T) 2 A& B A B AR
A& B A EE (AR (R 21) ©

REBMIE TRITERBARBNE THIES
RAEFKFER o

RIFRITE KW RN RIBDITLAT

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT TR
56,396 18,319
41,661 23,865
134,213 109,154
361,246 380,266
593,516 531,604
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26. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS
The Group provides for future long service payments expected to be
made to employees under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
movements of provision for long service payments during the year are

26.

RERB AN REE

R B RIEE SR (B 15015 T 0 B R AR
BN R S B - FARBIR
BNRBBRHT :

as follows:
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT F&T
At beginning of year REH 3,621 4,416
Retirement benefit costs charged to PIBEFIBR AR AR AR FIAK AN
profit or loss (current service cost) (CREFARIEAA) 216 66
Retirement benefit costs charged/(credited) REME2EBR ARG, (GEA)
to other comprehensive income RRERI KA
— actuarial loss/(gain) — financial assumptions  — fFEER (W) — BEHRER 206 (518)
— actuarial loss/(gain) — demographic — BEEE/ (W) — AOZETEE
assumptions 398 (343)
At end of year RER 4,441 3,621

The principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

Discount rate ALIH &
Expected rate of future salary increases RIRF M < TEAPIE R

PRz E2EERRMT ¢

2019 2018
% %
15 1.9
4.3 4.3
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26. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS

27.

(Continued)

The sensitivity of the long service payments to changes in the weighted

principal assumptions is as follows:

Assumption

CE

2019

Discount rate

Expected rate of future salary increases

2018
Discount rate

Expected rate of future salary increases

DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax assets recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

mF -

26. REIFRFE SR E @

RERBNFE T ERRINEZSHOHEE

Effect on
Change to defined benefit
adopted rate plan obligation
HEEBEFE
Rt =228 Az E
20194 +0.1% -1.6%
BLIA -0.1% +1.6%
ARG 2 TE BRI R R -0.1% +0.8%
+0.1% -0.8%
2018%F
BRI = +0.1% -1.8%
-0.1% +1.8%
R IRHEN 2 T R 2 +0.1% +1.0%
-0.1% -1.0%
27. EELEBIIE

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

REFE B R ERAEERIAEE
5,265 3,084

Wi & B R ERAEERIEE &
(14,984) (14,453)
(9,719) (11,369)
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27. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are

as follows:

At 1 April 2017

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the
consolidated statement of profit or
loss during the year

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 32)

At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the

consolidated statement of profit or
loss during the year

At 31 March 2019

Certain subsidiaries of the Group had tax losses arising in Hong Kong in
total of HK$151,000 (2018: HK$1,418,000) as at 31 March 2019 that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against their future taxable profits
of those companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses as it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax

losses can be utilised.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of

M2017%F4H81H
FNEHZEBER
A (k) B
EIERIIE
HeE—fKEAR (FHFES2)

20183 A31H Rk
20184 A1H

FNEFABER
ATA (d0BR) &Y
EALTRIA

20193 H31H

dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

27. EERIE ()
WER - BEREEERABNEHNT -

Depreciation
in excess
of related

depreciation

Tax losses allowance Total
EHERTE

HEE BENTE st

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FAT FAT

785 (12,026) (11,241)

(409) 339 (70)

- (58) (58)

376 (11,745) (11,369)

2,393 (743) 1,650

2,769 (12,488) 9,719)

MR20196F3A31 B ' AEBETHEBARE
EREERAERPANKEEEZSER
MARARKERR OGRS &
151,000 7T (2018 4F : 1,418,000 75) » M
AR A AR RS K ] B8 78 FE AR B s A =] AR A

HH AT BRANBREER -

ERRERIAEE °

B B % B R

AR A (A BB BRI A A B 3 4 Y s A ] P AS

-2
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. B
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Authorised: ETE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,000 &
HK$0.01 each FRREEO0.01 B mh L @Ak 50,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: EBITRER :
902,880,000 ordinary shares of 902,880,000 fx
HK$0.01 each BIREEO0.01 BT A TR 9,029 9,029

20.

There were no movements in the Company’s share capital during the
current and prior years.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of motivating eligible participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group and to attract and retain or
otherwise maintain an on-going business relationship with such eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-
term growth of the Group. Eligible participants of the Scheme include
the directors, including independent non-executive directors, executives
or officers of the Group, full-time or part-time employees of the Group,
and advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers, distributors and such
other persons who in the sole opinion of the directors will contribute or
have contributed to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 23
January 2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of shares in issue of the Company immediately following
completion of the Company’s initial public offering, i.e. 86,400,000
shares. The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the Company’s issued
shares from time to time. The maximum number of shares issuable
under the share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess of
this 1% limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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20.

RRRRARANFEE B EFEWEEE -

BT a8l
ARRRABRETE(HE D sEED
RERZEE/AEEMNS R EARRER
ME - BARSIRBERS GG R ANEE
RERRIFHEBNZERER2HE LI
Hiph N WERFIHBENEBRBER - 513
MEER2EEBRES(BEBYIFNTE
=) AEETBRARXSARE - AEE2
BokBESRER BHRA HE® &
P DHAREZEERALBEXAEHAK
EEHEMAEBEMAL - 58182017 F
1A RBAER  FRIERTTHBEHIER &
A8 E BREEIFERTF -

R IR T8I AT 8 35 0 BB IR FT 8 IR B9 AR A9 8
BLEREATBBEABREARNAE XA
EXNEBENARAFEBITRDBEN10% -
186,400,000 % f% 13 o 1T AR R 5T &I 5 H
BERITE 2 FTARITEREIREM AT 88 T LA
BITHRMNEE LRTEBBEARARTRE
BTN EI30% « WM+ —EBHR - 1R
B BINBRETRSMNEEKRSEEET
WRMHE R ERANIREE BARRR B BT
ARAD 1% o (R (Al L 1t 1% LR A REARFE Y
E—HRE - BRRERSEREE -
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29.

30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within
any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance

in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Directors, and commences after a
certain vesting period and ends on a date which is not later than 10
years from the date of offer of the share options.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Directors, but
must be at least of the highest of () the Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; (i) the
average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (i) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, no options
have been granted since the adoption of the Scheme.

RESERVES

(@) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.

(b) Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the reserve arising from the
reorganisation of the Group in the prior years.

30.

AR ESTE (@)

MEE ARAFATETRABRTERE
HAT M A B - A BT I
BMTEERE - 1o BEAAAATEE
AR BB ST B S AT (B AR
HEERRAE - REA+ (88 BABEEA T
$%E%ﬁ%@mm%ﬁﬁwyﬁﬁmé
BAARRGERHE)SREEST A
%%%ﬁ@%%ﬁhimﬁo

RAEARAZNE 1 BT ZRBARER K
HERENZOARERZE FEF21BR
BAy - REMBRETERRERET I
RETHEBHERL  BRENKLBRE
B HER T EZ AER -

EEAETERETER  EETBERT

IRRENARARONEEZBREARZ
B PTIRTE © () A ARRMREEREZR

B AT AEAR 5 B 2B R AW mE - i)
AARRMGBHIEE ©

FERREY B R T 1A AR B B R
RE LIRRAER -

BEZSMBHREL DY - BIES RN
B AR (T BB AR

it

(@ *=%£H
REERBRIBEEENHESER
HEHNUBERERNGEERE TR
I

(b) EHHEE
AGHREREAEERBEFEBARNE
Cd 10
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
() Year ended 31 March 2019

On 4 January 2019, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Pine Active Care, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to acquire, and Pine Active Care agreed to dispose of the
entire equity interest of Giant Success, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong, which holds two properties situated in Tsz Wan
Shan and Ngau Tau Kok, respectively, in Hong Kong, for the
purpose of using as staff dormitory of the Group. The purchase
consideration of HK$13,305,000 for the acquisition was in the
form of cash. The transaction was completed on 9 January
2019. As at the date of completion of the acquisition, the sole
asset of Giant Success is its interest in the two properties without
any business operation and the acquisition was therefore
accounted for as an acquisition of assets. The majority of the
consideration was paid for the acquisition of the two properties.

The cost of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of

acquisition were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Other payables

Total identifiable net assets

Satisfied by:
Cash

(ii) Year ended 31 March 2018

On 3 April 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with independent third parties to acquire the entire
equity interest of Tsuen Wan Elderly Care, a private company
operating an existing care and attention home situated in Hong
Kong. The purchase consideration of HK$15,880,000 for the
acquisition was in the form of cash. The purpose of the
acquisition is to provide new location for an existing care and
attention home operated by a subsidiary with an existing lease
agreement being discontinued by the landlord. The acquisition
was completed on 5 April 2017. As at the date of completion of
the acquisition, the acquiree only held certain property, plant and
equipment and a license and the acquisition was therefore
accounted for as an acquisition of assets. The majority of the
consideration was paid for the acquisition of a license.
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AT B AT

s B B /B8 2 =)

i)

B

BRI EEFERR

(ii)

BZE2019F3A31BLEEE
R2019F1A4H &KX & £ Pine
Active Care 7] —IHEBE Bz - #ut -
7N & [ [F] Z W & K& Pine Active Care [F
BEHERB(—HEREETMAINA
Al FAEMES R EBEZIL R
SRANYE) ZERE - MERERE
BIBE& 2 - YhE M {E13,305,000
BILIULBReENIEL - ZX5ER
2019F1 AR FERK  MUKIETER B B -
RIERIME— & E R HE MBI & AR
EENYENER B WEERK
BEEAR A/ RERARIZNWIE
e ol

PUE B B T B RIS B I B B AN AN
T

HK$’000
FET

13,345
(40)

13,305

13,305

BZE2018F3ANHLEFE
R2017F4A38  AEBEBIE=
BRI —BEEHEARBEEEE
(—REENRBEENEEEE T ER
WAARE) ZIRE KEBRE
15,880,000 7 7T Ty AR U1 © IR
BHENRA RHEERGERELERR
BRI B A RIIREFTEISAT - ZHT B AR
WEEHAOWEETRIE KEER
2017F4 A5 BN - HEKRETK A
B WKESEREREDE  BEK
B R —RER - AR UE R RS
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31. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(i)

Year ended 31 March 2018 (Continued)

On 13 October 2017, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party to acquire
the entire equity interest of Lorient, a private company
incorporated in the BVI which holds a property situated in Shek
Kip Mei, Hong Kong. The property will be used as a new
residential care centre for elderly operated by the Group. The
purchase consideration amounting to HK$378 million for the
acquisition was in the form of cash. The transaction was
completed on 31 January 2018. As at the date of completion of
the acquisition, the acquiree only held certain property, plant and
equipment leased for rental income, of which the lease was early
terminated by the Group, and the acquisition was therefore
accounted for as an acquisition of assets. The majority of the
consideration was paid for the acquisition of the property.

The cost of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of
acquisition were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB KRERE

Prepaid land lease payment Taft T E K

Intangible assets mEE

Prepayments, other receivables TARFIE - EfhfEWEIE
and other assets REMEE

Other payables and accruals E b e IE R IEETE A

Tax payable FERTFRIR

RlBREE AR

Total identifiable net assets

Satisfied by:
Cash

PN LVESZhE
Re

31. REEMMEBRT @)

(i) HZE2018F3A31BILFE (&)
R2017F10 R 180 » AR FH—2F
Y E=FFI7 B E W AU Lorient
(—HRRBELESTMRZA
NA REBAREBRE-EDE)N
2EIRHE - ZMERERAEELEN
MxEhE WENBEREIISES
BITARE T - X 5201851 A
B1EEK - BEWETA B E - ik
BB A ED A RE S WA B
DY - BB RHRE - mMAKEDREA
RIEARRAMEL) - Bt ZWEIERKEE
EAR  RBIREARINWEK
i -

RS BRI BRI & E R B ERA

U

Tsuen Wan

Elderly Care Lorient Total
THEEE Lorient st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
416 14,651 15,067
- 365,299 365,299
15,464 - 15,464
— 2,173 2,173
- (2,881) (2,881)
- (1,070) (1,070)
15,880 378,172 394,052
15,880 378,172 394,052
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32. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Net assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Satisfied by:
Cash

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of

the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

Cash consideration and net inflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary

32. HEMBAT

Note
k=3
R EEEFE -
M - BE KRE
IRAERTE & B
TERRRIE « Hfh FEUCGRIE & Hoth & B
& — R A B e 7

ATBIT AT
ik

W -

HEMBARMNRERERRE R
ReEBEWFRA
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2018
HK$'000
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544
58
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773

5,867

6,640

6,640

HEMBARMNRERRSFEBWERAD

2018
HK$'000
FTAET

6,640
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33. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

33. MERETREBRMWE

Change in liabilities arising from financing activities MEETHELEEEEH
Bank Dividend
borrowings payable
BITER ERBRE
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET FHT
At 1 April 2017 201754 1R 177,767 =
Changes from financing cash flows MERERES 353,837 (22,753)
Interim dividends R HERRR S = 22,753
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 M2018F3 31 H &2018F4H1H 531,604 =
Changes from financing cash flows RIERSRESE 61,912 (15,168)
Final dividend REARR S = 7,584
Interim dividend HRERAR S = 7,584
At 31 March 2019 M20194%3A31H 593,516 -

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group had no significant contingent liabilities at the end of the
reporting period.

35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(@) Aslessor
At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants falling due as follows:

Within one year —FR

34. HAREE
AEERBEHRLEEALREE -

35. REMHELH
(@ EAREHBEA
MR201946E3 A31 8 » REBRE A
B AR ER AT EIH A B A AR

RIEHEEEBNOT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET THET
324 23
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35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (Continved) 35, REHEZH (@)
(b) Aslessee (b) 1EREEA
The Group leases certain of its elderly centres under operating AEFHRBELEHETHEABEZENR
lease arrangements. Leases for these properties are negotiated BRI ZEYELEENESENT =
for terms ranging from two to ten years. At 31 March 2019, the ZE+F 0 R2019F3A31H ' A&
Group had total future minimum lease payments under non- BB RESCEEENATIEBER
cancellable operating leases falling due as follows: RAREERERRBREAT ¢
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Within one year —FR 20,408 14,398
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FEEZEATF (BEEERT) 66,031 17,278
After five years hERE 3,459 -
89,898 31,676
In addition, the operating lease rentals for certain elderly centres AN - ARIBFEETR S BTSRRI
are based on the higher of a fixed rental and a contingent rent B ZERESRONKERER S THIZ
depending on the revenue of these elderly centres pursuant to EEE & EmEUARZE L ER & H O
the terms and conditions as set out in the respective rental MRS RS EET - HR%E
agreements. As the future revenue of these elderly centres could L ZBT & DR R R UK ZS R RE E e
not be reliably determined, the relevant contingent rent has not T HES AR YERSFEELR -
been included above and only the minimum lease commitments REFAKEHAEHLE -
have been included in the above table.
36. COMMITMENTS 36. AIE

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 35(b)
above, the Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for: EETAVE MR -
Land and buildings T REF
Investment in a joint venture R—HEEERERE
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B | ST BT X 85(0) AT it A 48 & A0 B RSN -
NEERR - ANEREEE THE AR

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$°000
FExT THT

- 1,230

4,590 11,730
4,590 12,960
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. L RS

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions
with related parties:

Rental expenses paid to a company  [Al3EA& AR B izl 2 A 7

controlled by the Controlling Ttz EERX
Shareholders

Rental income from a company REERERATIES 2 AR 2
controlled by the Controlling eI A
Shareholders

Visiting medical service fees paid to S FARRRETFHBRAG]
a director of certain subsidiaries of —REEFZHDEEREE
the Company

Purchases of medicines from AR AT 2 A A
a company controlled by the BB &Y

Controlling Shareholders

Notes:

(i) The rentals were determined at rates mutually agreed by the
relevant parties.

(ii) The service fees were determined at rates in accordance with the
terms and conditions set out in the contracts entered into between
the relevant parties.

(iii) The purchases were conducted at prices mutually agreed between
the relevant parties.

(b) Other transaction with a related party
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group acquired the
entire interests in Giant Success from Pine Care Active for a
consideration of HK$13,305,000. Further details of this
acquisition are included in note 31 to the financial statements.

(C) The compensation of key management personnel of the Group
for the year represented the directors’ emoluments as disclosed
in note 9 to the financial statements.

(@)

BB SR AL B D PARF LR S5 -
REM R ETATRS ¢

2019 2018

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B=E FE T FAT

(i)

(b)

()

252 336

320 258

441 756

120 283

() LA BERBENBRERE

(i MRS B RIBARR 5 RISL 2 B KIPTH
RN RT A Z LR E -

(i)  FEEIRIERET EARIGE M ERELT o

EHEAEE A MV EH MR 5
HE2019F3A31BLEE  A&H
16 Pine Care Active Y8 B& 7= 18 H) 2 2B #
%= R{E/513,305,0008 7T ° A B IE
WA SR 1E 2 — S IF AN B 5 R Mt
31

REE T 2EIA BN AR B s 8
BHREMZIOMBRBE 2 EFTMS -
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 March 2019

Financial assets

Trade receivables
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Financial assets included in
other receivables and other assets
Due from a joint venture
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

38.

BoBEEoNERTA

RBEHR - ST ASBENREENT

201943 A 31H

TREE

Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

RAARBEFA
BRNEREE
Designated Financial
as such assets at
upon initial amortised
recognition cost Total
RESEAR RBHRANTE
BE NWEemEE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET THET
B H W IR - 2,251 2,251
BAREHAERNEREE
3,083 - 3,083
T AR M EMRIA
MEMEENEREE - 8,699 8,699
B —E&EhEHIE - 103 103
Re MR eEEY - 50,879 50,879
3,083 61,932 65,015
SRR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBHRATTE
Hemas
HK$’000
FET
Z 5 RN FIE 1,992
STAEMENFIERETERANeRAE 18,951
FTEBRITER 593,516
614,459
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)
31 March 2018
Financial assets

Trade receivables
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Financial assets included in
other receivables and other assets
Due from a joint venture
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

38. o HEED

20183 A 31H

EREE

Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

TSR T A )

BRAAMBERA
BENEmEE
Designated
as such upon Loans and
initial recognition receivables Total
YRR
HE ERRERIE HEt
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
B 5 WA - 867 867
RAREFABENEREE
2,983 - 2,983
T AR ENFRIA
MEMEENTRIEE = 12,202 12,202
B —fEa g hENRER - 435 435
ReRRLEEY - 71,778 71,778
2,983 85,282 88,265
Ea =
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
IR HR NG 2
WER AR
HK$'000
FHET
E) SE e 1,545
FTAEMENTIERETERANERAE 18,492
FTEMRITIER 531,604
551,641
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39.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments, other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, are reasonably
approximate to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in other
receivables and other assets, an amount due from a joint venture,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals and the
current portion of interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer. The finance department
analyses the measurements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation, which is reviewed
and approved by the chief financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the
amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31 March
2019 and 2018 was assessed to be insignificant. The fair values of the
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank borrowings approximated
to their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

The fair value of the insurance asset measured at fair value through
profit or loss is based on the cash surrender value less the surrender
charge calculated and provided by the insurance company at the end
of each reporting period. The Group paid an upfront premium for the
policy and may surrender the policy at any time by making a request in
written form to the insurance company and receive cash based on the
then surrender value less the surrender charge of the policy. In the
opinion of the Directors, the surrender value less the surrender charge
of the policy provided by the insurance company is the best
approximation of the fair value, which is categorised as level 3.
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TRTENAIABERAAESER

AEENEMTAZKAE  BEARES
BRE  ERAREFABRSNEREER
B o

ERECHARENREEEY BHRK

HE - AR R EMERBGRIENSREE -

il —f A & hERE - FEAEMEN KR
RESAEANERA AR ERITERNA
HEn e ANEEAKEERES  TEAR

ZETANEHREIE -

FEERPBEBIENYBHEERES
MTAAABEFENBRIERF - LR
HEREAMBEERS - MBAEOMEBRTA
MEEFELRELETMEANZIZEGA

B ZAERTBRESERRIE -
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RHEREAR -

.ﬁ@%Ewﬁ?ﬂ#ﬁﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁE’J/Aﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬂ%
FERRBEM TFEHESEN T ARKR]
%‘Jﬂﬁﬁﬁfﬁmﬁﬂéiﬁéﬁés CN

1?5 ' FA2019F K 201843 A31H » AEEB
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20196 K 201843 A 31 B » s BRITHEFE

RS D A EEEREERR o
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 March 2019:

39.

ERTENRIABRAIAESR
(%)
TRIFAEES BT ANAL B BEH

B ufﬁ‘fzﬁﬁﬁ?
201943731 H

Fair value measurement using

RARBEFEZBH
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BEXRTHE EATABRE
TERTISRE [OPN ¢ LIPN ¢
(B—%&) (B=#) (B=4) st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET FTET
Financial assets at fair value BARESAEED
through profit or loss SRYVEE - - 3,083 3,083
As at 31 March 2018: M2018F3H31H :
Fair value measurement using
BARAREFTEZ2H
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active Observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BAAEE BANAHE
JEERTI5 R E B ABUR I AR
(B—4) (E=#R) (B=#) #E5t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Financial assets at fair value WA SREET ABEE
through profit or loss S REE = = 2,083 2,083

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair values
as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.

During the year, there was no transfer of fair value measurements
between level 1 and level 2 and no transfer into or out of level 3 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities (2018: Nil).

20194 2018 63 A 31 B » AREEI &
MRAAEFEZERAE -

RAFERN REeMEEREREENS -
FMEF_HANEHFELEERE IR
ABEEAEZ=HHBEFE=REL - (20184 :
=)
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40. XK REBEEBERBE
AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise trade and other AEBNTESCHTERTEE S REMAEI
receivables and other assets, cash and bank balances, an amount due ,ﬂlé&ﬁﬁﬂ ﬁ? IR NIRRT EUR—
from a joint venture, trade and other payables and interest-bearing bank AR PETIE B NEMENITIEIANL
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments s to raise .ﬁ BARITIERK © Ei ST ATERARNAA
finance for the Group’s operations. EFMNKEEEES -
Management meets periodically to analyse and formulate measures to EEEe TSN & EE TR ANEET
manage the Group’s exposure to financial risks, including principally ;¥<}J§ZEM%J—L|%% I EREEERR - MX
credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group has no EngEe R o AN&EEIEEKINE
significant exposure to foreign currency risk. Generally, the Group Fui,ug o ExEE | AEEERBREIE S EFEER
employs a conservative strategy regarding its risk management. {REFERBE o
Credit risk FERE
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It Z.K%@Eﬁﬁé@ﬁj&%%ﬁ%ﬂ@%iﬁi% °
is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit are AREENBRAMARIZEEGRIETR
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances NEPHEESEEEZER ° thih - EEHSZ
are monitored on an ongoing basis. HIBEBREO TR EEE -
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at EA201 9F 3831 HWE B &
31 March 2019 PR
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to T i‘% [N ﬁBA$ EBRNEERENEZEEEE
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on SEER FEEP AR (BRIEH
past due information unless other information is available without undue ﬁﬁ é el Eﬂ;ﬁﬁ HAMBEBERASE B
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2019. HTRER) RR2019F3 A 31 B M F 4
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. o - 25 S EIESHEEARTEE -
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
FEEE 2HEREEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach
2 B2REER SE3ME ER L 7%
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FTERT TERT TERT FTERT FTERT
Trade receivables B 5 FENGIE = = = 2,251 2,251
Financial assets included in ST AE b FEU R TE
other receivables and other assets EMEENSREE 8,699 - - - 8,699
Due from a joint venture FEW A & A RIFRIE 103 - = = 103
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkREEEY 50,879 - - - 50,879
59,681 - - 2,251 61,932
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40.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
March 2019 (Continued)

The credit risk of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables, financial assets included in other receivables and other
assets and an amount due from a joint venture, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for
the financial guarantee contracts.

Except for trade receivables which apply simplified approach in
calculating ECLs, the credit quality of other financial assets measured at
amortised cost is considered to be “normal” as they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and hence, they
are all classified under stage 1 for measurement of ECLs. The loss
allowance provision for all financial assets measured at amortised cost
was not significant as at 31 March 2019.

Maximum exposure as at 31 March 2018

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which mainly
comprised cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial
assets included in prepayment, other receivables and other assets, an
amount due from a joint venture, arises from default of the counterparty,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk principally relates to the
Group’s bank loans which are based on the Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate or the best lending rate. The Group mitigates the risk by
monitoring closely the movements in interest rates and reviewing its
banking facilities regularly. The Group has not used any interest rate
swap to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2019, if the interest rates on borrowings had been 25
basis points higher/lower, which was considered reasonably possible
by management, with all other variables held constant, the profit after
tax for the year then ended would have been decreased/increased by
approximately HK$508,000 (2018: HK$1,110,000) as a result of higher/
lower interest expenses on bank borrowings.

40.

SRS ERBER @)

MR2019F3 A3 ENESAERKF
RPEER ()

AEEZRSRASZEY  EHEKER -
HARMERRER L EENSREE
MR — A ERENEERBR A
REUFHBOMEL  MZEIAZRS
EREEEEERS  2ISEESRE
EFTSERMBERANOEERR -

BRERMIEH ZTEERNEESENESE
WRTESN - AESE AT EMEM e EE
MEREEWEAIER] RERGBHAEY
BEANBETNEVERRESREENEER
SEAERN A2 BBEEBEnS
2HSBAE IR - R2019F3A318 -
REBHEKATENMESREENEBRE
W REK °

A2018F 3 A31 BN &S AR
AEBEMSBEE(TERERSRBESE
BY - BHEWSE  SFAEKRERGS
BEE HitEWREAREMEE  LARIE
—FA %L ERIE) MEERBRIER S Y
FHENTES  TZESIAZSSRAKRE
HEREEMRE -

R E R
AEBEARZFZRREERAREEIZE
B IRTT RN B R EE R RGBS ART
EXEM - AEEEBR T E IIBEN R
FPREHERTRERERR  AEEY
A0 PR AT SR g B A SR A R [ g

201963 A31 H ' MERFERIEREEER
BRI EME, R o5 EES  MAEH
MEHEFTE  ABEZBIEFERBIE
i M R 88 1T 15 3% A B B S 1 A, 3R 4 1 R
4 /149 508,000 7% 7. (2018 4F : 1,110,000
BIT) ©
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans. In addition, banking

facilities have been put in place for contingency purposes.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments,

was as follows:

As at 31 March 2019:

Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings

As at 31 March 2018:

Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings

188 Pine Care Group Limited Annual Report 2019

B HRENTE
HtEFUE R IEE R
TRBITER

4\4\

B SENFE
HitE5E R E R
FTRRTER

4\4\

RSB ERBE @)
REELEME
AEENEEAERERRTEREELE

SEMREE M 2 B
Iaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂéuﬁ%%2%°

57

R201953A31 H

IF@J © ﬁt9|\ i

RE

REE A - AR BRI AR R R
BEEHMEBMEDT -

On demand or In the 3to Over
within 1 year  second year 5 years 5 years Total
REREE
H—FR $-F =ZHF BARE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET TER THET TER
1,992 - - - 1,992
13,892 435 1,330 3,294 18,951
71,880 195,144 84,034 340,904 691,962
87,764 195,579 85,364 344,198 712,905
20183 H31H :
On demand or Inthe 3to0 Over
within 1 year second year 5 years 5 years Total
BENEE
H—ER F-F =ZhE HAREF @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET T TET FET
1,545 - - - 1,545
16,186 134 1,174 998 18,492
28,548 170,083 61,891 335,786 596,308
46,279 170,217 63,065 336,784 616,345
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  40. BIEREEEERKE @)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group mainly relies on bank borrowings for financing its operations. The
Group manages a gearing ratio being the total amount of interest-
bearing bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalents divided by
total assets. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods

were as follows:

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTESRITIER

Less: Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt FAEE
Total assets BEME
Gearing ratio BEAGBHLX

o ReRREEEY

BAREHE
FEBEFERNEEARARBAEER
BIEEOENREFREDEARLE - AX
BEEGREBRARRMEE -

AEBARCESAZEDERIAELER
BE-BTHEFIHBEARERE  A5EHT
SRR FREROKE  MEREEEARNL
BOTHR - ARBEEEXRBRITERREE
BrEe AKEMNEEAGLENUGER
TEFRRE RS EEYRINEERRET
B RBEMRNEEAB/LENT

2019 2018
HK$°000 HK$'000
FH&xT FET
593,516 531,604
(50,879) (71,778)
542,637 459,826
844,746 782,265
64.2% 58.8%
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSET FREBEE

Investment in a subsidiary R—REBRARMNEE
Total non-current asset IERBNEELRTE
CURRENT ASSET REEE

Cash and cash equivalents Re MRSEEY
Due from a subsidiary FEY — M B A BIFIE
Total current assets BNV EERTE

Net assets BEFE

EQUITY s

Issued capital BEITARAR

Reserves (note) 4 (fRE)

Total equity AT

Less than HK$1,000
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41.

RN BRI 3R

AREPRHRERROPBEARRREHNAT

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
T TAET
15 12
157,784 167,787
157,799 157,799
157,799 157,799
9,029 9,029
148,770 148,770
157,799 157,799

A 1,0007 7T
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41.

42.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)
Note:
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
At 1 April 2017 20174 81H
Profit and total comprehensive income FERN R AL
for the year
Interim dividends AR S
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 M2018F3A31H K2018F471H
Profit and total comprehensive income FERMNEEZEBA LSS
for the year
Interim dividend HFERAR 2
Final dividend REARR S
At 31 March 2019 201943 HA31H
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 18 June 2019.

4. RPQTBHBEMRRE @)

s :
RARFERZAT ¢
Share
premium Retained
account profits Total
R RER RE BT st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET
148,770 - 148,770
- 22,753 22,753
- (22,753) (22,753)
148,770 - 148,770
- 15,168 15,168
- (7,584) (7,584)
- (7,584) (7,584)
148,770 - 148,770

42, FEBEIEHRE

KIEHARN2019F6 A 1SHEEES BB

RT3
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Financial Summary

MBEE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Revenue

Profit before tax from
continuing operations

Income tax expense

Profit for the year from
continuing operations

Profit for the year

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Yz
REFECLELT
B A A
PSR
REFERL 2 EBH
FREE M
FERF

PELL
ARATEREZEA
FEFERR S

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities

Total assets less
current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Net debt
Gearing ratio

Note: Gearing ratio is measured by the net debt (representing interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents) over total assets (representing

FEREEE
mEVEE
mEaE

REERADEE
FERBEE
RAFREERITEA

FEf s
ESEl g

AR

FETS
BEABLR

current assets and non-current assets).
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il

N

HZE3HAMALEE
Year ended 31 March

\

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET FAT FHET FAET
186,782 170,688 177,286 172,749 163,785
15,150 18,915 17,387 31,105 48,645
(1,690) (2,509) (4,956) (5,285) (5,893)
13,460 16,406 12,431 25,820 42,752
13,460 16,406 12,409 27,255 44,543
13,435 16,418 12,409 27,255 43,291
25 (12) - - 1,252
ire R AROR
HA3H31H
As at 31 March

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT FAT FHT FAT
787,906 697,554 240,988 23/alls 3087213
56,840 82,241 184,308 76,412 101,874
76,061 38,011 52,128 71,789 295,044
768,685 741,784 373,168 242,338 110,043
561,604 533,665 164,959 178,419 19,500
200,208 203,231 208,209 63,919 87,618
6,873 4,888 - - 2,925
207,081 208,119 208,209 63,919 90,543
542,637 459,826 2,585 181,328 250,130
64% 59% 1% 58% 62%

MizE © BESELERDRFER (G558 RIT R EMERH
RESRASEEBM BRAREEERBDEERFE

MBEE)FE -
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